

# Variations spatio-temporelles de la structure taxonomique et la compétition alimentaire des poissons du lac Tonlé Sap, Cambodge

Heng Kong

# ► To cite this version:

Heng Kong. Variations spatio-temporelles de la structure taxonomique et la compétition alimentaire des poissons du lac Tonlé Sap, Cambodge. Ecologie, Environnement. Université Paul Sabatier - Toulouse III, 2018. Français. NNT: 2018TOU30122. tel-02277574

# HAL Id: tel-02277574 https://theses.hal.science/tel-02277574

Submitted on 3 Sep 2019

**HAL** is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.



# THÈSE

# En vue de l'obtention du

# DOCTORAT DE L'UNIVERSITE DE TOULOUSE

Délivré par :

Université Toulouse 3 Paul Sabatier (UT3 Paul Sabatier)

Présentée et soutenue par :

Heng KONG

Le 03 Juilet 2018

Titre :

Variations spatio-temporelles de la structure taxonomique et la compétition alimentaire des poissons du lac Tonlé Sap, Cambodge

Ecole doctorale et discipline ou spécialité : ED SDU2E : Ecologie fonctionnelle

### Unité de recherche :

Laboratoire Ecologie Fonctionnelle et Environnement (EcoLab) UMR 5245, CNRS – INPT – UPS Laboratoire Evolution et Diversité Biologique (EDB) UMR 5174, CNRS – IRD – UPS

## Directeur(s) de Thèse :

LAFFAILLE Pascal	Professeur, EcoLab, INP-ENSAT, Toulouse
LEK Sovan	Professeur, EDB, Université Paul Sabatier, Toulouse

# **Rapporteurs :**

MARTA MunozProfessor (University of Girona, Spain)ARGILLIER ChristineDirectrice de Recherche (IRSTEA Aix en Provence)

# Autre(s) membre (s) du jury :

VILA-GISPERT Anna	Asistant Professor (University of Girona, Spain)
CHEA Ratha	Lecturer/Researcher (University of Battambang, Cambodia)
TACKX Micky	Professor (Université Toulouse 3)

## Remerciements

First, I would like to express my infinite gratitude to my two supervisors Professor **Pascal LAFFAILLE** and Professor **Sovan LEK** for their advice, support and supervision during my three years PhD project at Toulouse III University, France. During the three years period of their supervision, I have learnt a lot in academic writing, research methodology, advance statistic analysis, encouragement and patience. My greatest and deepest gratitude goes also to **Dr. Mathieu CHEVALIER** for his kind support and Cambodian PhD students and EDB and Ecolab's people who always providing encouragement and administrative support for my PhD. Without their kind supports and guidance from my both supervisors, my PhD project will never come true.

Special thanks to Erasmus Mondus, Techno-II, Inland Fisheries Research and Development Institute (IFReDI), Fisheries Administration (FiA), Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries (MAFF) and Maintaining Productivity and Incomes in the Tonle Sap Fishery in the Face of Climate Change (TLSCC)- Belmont forum, funded by ANR Belmont Project who financed me to pursue PhD at Toulouse III University, France. I would also thanks to **Mr. Thack PHANARA**, **Miss Kim SOPHEAP**, **Miss Chin DEIT** and **Mr. Tim THAVARIN** who always accompany me to field and assist me to work in the lab during the one year of fish specimen collection for stomach content study.

I am greatly indebted to express my gratification to my father **Bien HOM**, my mother **Heng KIM**, my oldest brother **Bien HOURT** and brother **Heng KOURN** who passed away, my two elder sisters **Bien KHIM** and **Bien KHORN** who took too much responsible for my childhood and provided financial support for my education from primary school until university. Without their kind supports and encouragement, I will never having a change to pursue my study. At the same time, I also would like to express my gratification to my parent inlaw **Mr. Mout SITHA** and **Mrs. Tep PHEAKDEY**, my brothers and sisters inlaw, my wife **Mout VATEY** and my two funny sons (**Kong PHEARAKYUTH** and **Kong PHEARAK**- **REACH**) who always providing an encouragement and support, particularly my wife and my two funny sons who accompanied me and spent our beautiful life in Toulouse, France. Finally, I was concerned that I might forget to mention lots of you who were involved in this short acknowledgement, but please accept my faithfully wishes to all of you.

Faithfully yours,

# Kong HENG

Toulouse, France

03 July, 2018

# **List of Publications**

- [1]. Kong H., Chevalier M., Laffaille P., Lek S., 2017. Spatio-temporal variation of fish taxonomic composition in a South-East Asian flood-pulse system. *PLOS One*, 12(3): e0174582.
- [2]. Kong H., Chevalier M., Lek S., Laffaille P. Temporal distribution and species cooccurrence patterns of fish species in the Tonle Sap Lake Flood Pulse System. In preparation.
- [3]. McMeans B.C., Kadoya T., Pool T.K., Holtgrieve G., Lek S., Kong H., Winemiller K., Elliot V., Rooney N., Laffaille P., McCann K.S. Seasonal omnivory: the response of consumer trophic position to fluctuating environments. *In revision, Ecology*.
- [4]. Kong H., Chevalier M., Lek S., Laffaille P., 2018. Seasonal variations in diet composition, diet breadth and dietary overlap between three commercially important fish species within a flood-pulse system: the Tonle Sap Lake Cambodia. *PLOS One*, 13(6):e0198848.

# Table des matières

Résumé long6
Abstract26
1. General Introduction
1.1. The context of flood pulse systems in the tropical system
1.2. Spatio-temporal fish community variations in tropical flood pulse systems
1.3. The relationship between the annual hydrological regime and fish
1.3.1. Seasonal noou regime in temperate, tropical rivers and fish distribution
1.3.2. Relationship between the annual hydrological regime and fish yield
1.4. Interactions or factors influence species pair co-occurrence
1.5. Seasonal variations in diet composition, diet breadth and dietary overlap in tropical
1.6 Specific Objectives 41
2. Materials and Methods 43
2.1. Study sites
2.2. Data collection
2.3. Data analysis
2.3.1.1 Spatio-temporal variation of fish communities: contribution of sites and species 46
2.2.2. Tomporal distribution and spacios on oncurrance patterns of fish spacios in the
Z.3.2. Temporal distribution and species co-occurrence patients of fish species in the     Tonle Sap Lake Flood Pulse System
2.3.3. Seasonal omnivory: the response of consumer trophic position to fluctuating environments
2.3.4. Seasonal variations in diet composition, diet breadth and dietary overlap between three commercially important fish species within a flood-pulse system: the Tonle Sap
Lake
3. Main Results
3.1. Spatio-temporal variation of fish taxonomic structure
3.1.1. Spatial and temporal variation of beta diversity
3.1.2. Determinants of variation in LCBD and SCBD values
3.2. Temporal distribution and species co-occurrence patterns of fish species in the Tonle Sap Lake flood pulse system
3.2.1. Temporal distribution of fishes according to hydrological cycles
3.2.2. Co-occurrence of fish species
3.3. Seasona omnivory: the response of consumer tropic position to fluctuation
environment
3.3.1. Tonle Sap fishes

3.3.2. Result of literature review	68
3.4. Seasonal variations in diet composition, diet breadth and dietary overlap between three commercially important fish species within a flood-pulse system	71
4. Discussion	76
4.1. Spatio-temporal variation of fish taxonomic structure in Tonle Sap Flood Pulse	70
4.1.1. Spatio-temporal variations of beta diversity	76 76
4.1.2. Determinants of temporal variation in LCBD and SCBD	78
4.2. Temporal distribution and species co-occurrence patterns of fish species	80 80
4.2.2. Pattern of pairwise species co-occurrence	81
<ul><li>4.3. Seasonal omnivory: the response of consumer trophic position to fluctuating environments</li><li>4.4. Seasonal variations in diet composition, diet breadth and dietary overlap between</li></ul>	82
three commercially important fish species	85
5. General Conclusion and Perspective	.85
References	.87
Publications	11
Annexes1	96

# Résumé long

#### 1. Contexte du système pulsé en milieu tropical

Les zones inondables sont définies comme des « zones périodiquement inondées par le débordement latéral des rivières ou des lacs et/ou par des précipitations directes ou des eaux souterraines » (Junk, 1997). Plusieurs études (par exemple Junk et al., 1989 ; Ward et al., 1999 ; Tockener & Stanford, 2002) ont observé que l'hétérogénéité spatiale et la dynamique hydrologique des rivières et des plaines inondables favorisent une biodiversité élevée et affectent les processus fonctionnels. Le système pulsé tropical influe sur la qualité de l'eau (Thomaz et al., 2007), la dynamique des nutriments (Melack & Forsberg, 2001) et les cycles de vie de nombreux organismes dans les habitats aquatiques des plaines inondables (par exemple Junk, 1985 ; Junk & Piedade 1997 ; Arrington et al., 2006 ; Neves dos Santos et al., 2008). Bien que le concept d'écosystème pulsé n'ait pas encore été validé dans les grandes rivières tempérées, Welcomme (1995) qui a mené une étude en Europe et Hesse et al. (1993) en Amérique du Nord, ont observé que le système fluvial tempéré et tropical avaient des processus similaires. Les connectivités des plaines inondables et l'hétérogénéité de l'habitat sont maintenues par des régimes hydrologiques naturels et des gradients environnementaux (Ward, 1998 ; Sparks et al., 1990).

En outre, il a été montré dans les rivières tropicales des plaines inondables que les impulsions périodiques d'inondation constituent la principale force structurante pour la communauté de poissons, la reproduction et influent fortement sur la distribution et l'abondance des poissons (Junk et al., 1989 ; Goulding, 1980). Des études dans le bassin de l'Amazone révèle qu'un grand nombre de poissons penettrent dans la plaine inondable de façon saisonnière pour se nourrir de fruits et de ressources terrestres (Goulding, 1980 ; Hamilton et Lewis, 1987 ; Goulding et al., 1988). Dans les fleuves des plaines inondables, les crues pulsées sont si prévisibles et durables que les plantes, les animaux et même les sociétés humaines se sont adaptés pour en tirer parti (Sparks, 1995). On pense que les crues pulsées sont le moteur de la grande biodiversité des plaines inondables en créant une

hétérogénéité des habitats (Junk & Piedade, 1993 ; Gopal & Junk, 2000). La plupart des grandes plaines inondables du monde sont grandement altérées par l'activité humaine. Par conséquent, les cours d'eau qui n'ont pas été impactés sont rares et risquent fort d'être modifiés dans un proche avenir (Gore & Sheilds, 1995 ; Sparks, 1995). Les plaines inondables tropicales sont les plus diversifiées de tous les écosystèmes (Gopal Junk, 2000), et seront donc les plus touchées par le développement, principalement parce que les plaines inondables tropicales sont situées dans les pays en développement dont le développement durable n'est pas toujours pris en compte (Roggeri, 1995).

Les écosystèmes d'eau douce soutiennent une riche biodiversité et fournissent de grands services écosystémiques aux besoins humains (Strayer & Dudgeon, 2010). Les plaines inondées comptent parmi les écosystèmes d'eau douce les plus diversifiés et les plus productifs de la planète (Kingsford 2000 ; Rosenberg et al., 2000). En dépit de leurs fonctions inestimables dans l'écosystème, on observe un déclin de la biodiversité aquatique des plaines inondables, principalement attribuable aux changements dans l'utilisation du sol et au climat (Verhoeven et al., 2006 ; Palmer et al., 2008). En outre, les écosystèmes des plaines inondables sont également menacés par l'altération des régimes d'écoulement induite par la construction de barrages (Dynesius & Nilsson 1994 ; Tockner et al., 2010) qui modifie la structure spatiale et temporelle de la communauté de poissons dans la plaine inondable.

# 2. Variation spatio-temporelle des communautés de poissons dans l'écosystème pulsé tropical

Les communautés biologiques varient beaucoup dans l'espace et le temps (Southwood, 1988). Les approches actuelles pour étudier l'écologie de communauté consistent à expliquer les modèles de distribution et d'abondance des espèces, en reliant les processus qui se produisent à différentes échelles spatiales et temporelles (Ricklefs &

Schluter 1993 ; Leibold et al., 2004). Dans les grandes plaines inondées, l'ajustement des communautés à chaque type de modèle de distribution peut varier en fonction de la fluctuation saisonnière du niveau d'eau (Winemiller, 1996 ; Arrington et al., 2005 ; Arrington & Winemiller, 2006). Les plaines inondées ont des fonctions écosystémiques uniques et importantes dans les paysages fluviaux où elles jouent souvent le rôle de « hot-spot » de la biodiversité en raison des variations complexes de l'habitat sur une vaste gamme d'échelles temporelles et spatiales (Swales et al., 1999 ; Tockner et al., 2010). La forte interconnexion entre les habitats pendant la période des hautes eaux offre une possibilité de mouvement aléatoire des poissons et peut favoriser des processus stochastiques sur la structure et la composition de la communauté. Pendant la saison sèche, les lacs et les canaux de la plaine inondée s'isolent et la densité des poissons augmente. La dynamique saisonnière des crues influe sur les processus écologiques et environnementaux en provoquant une connectivité latérale des plaines inondables aux habitats adjacents en influencant la qualité de l'eau et la dynamique des nutriments, ainsi que le cycle de vie de nombreux organismes (Tockner et al., 2000). Gopal & Junk (2000) et Lasne et al. (2007) ont révélé que la connectivité latérale est un élément clé pour de nombreux poissons et autres espèces aquatiques, car elle fournit des ressources et des habitats hétérogènes pour le frai, le développement des jeunes, la productivité et la biodiversité. Les modèles spatiaux et temporels de répartition et de diversité des poissons d'eau douce sont utiles pour comprendre les facteurs influençant la structure des communautés de poissons et la façon dont les communautés réagissent aux changements saisonniers des cycles hydrologiques (Belliard et al., 1997). Des études ont révélé que la structure temporelle de la communauté de poissons était liée à la dynamique des inondations (Smith & Petrere, 2008 ; Sousa & Freitas, 2008 ; González et al., 2009) et que les communautés de poissons dans les systèmes lentiques semblaient plus stables temporellement que ceux des systèmes lotiques (Merona, 1987). De plus, la dynamique synchrone des populations animales sur de grandes échelles spatiales apparaît comme un phénomène courant (Ratta et al., 1995; Cattadori et al., 2000; Post & Forchhammer, 2002; Cattanéo et al., 2003). L'identification des mécanismes à l'origine de la synchronisation

spatiale s'est avérée à la fois difficile mais centrale pour comprendre la régulation de la population.

# Relations entre les poissons et le régime hydrologique Distribution des poissons et régime de crue saisonnier

La distribution des poissons est étroitement liée au mode de migration d'un habitat à l'autre pour la reproduction, l'alimentation et la croissance en relation avec la fluctuation des changements saisonniers de l'environnement. Pereira (2003) a noté une large gamme d'adaptations chez les poissons, qu'elles soient morphologiques, écologiques, liées à la reproduction ou la physiologique. Le plus grand nombre d'espèces se trouve dans les régions tropicales surtout dans les bassins fluviaux d'Asie du Sud-Est, d'Afrique et d'Amérique du Sud (Malcolm, 1995).

Dans les régions tempérées, la température varie selon un schéma saisonnier, avec des variations de magnitude plus importantes à des altitudes élevées avec des précipitations plus imprévisibles, des écoulements d'eau de neige fondue et des crues saisonnières. L'ampleur des inondations dans la plupart des cours d'eau tempérés est très variable d'une année à l'autre et dans certains systèmes, par ex. Ogeechee River, au sud-est des États-Unis, les inondations peuvent ne pas se produire du tout pendant quelques années. Dans la plupart des cas, les inondations saisonnières dans la zone tempérée coïncident avec le réchauffement printanier, que certaines espèces de poissons sélectionnent pour la reproduction durant cette période (Benke et al., 2000).

Par contre, dans les régions tropicales, les crues des plaines sont presque toujours générées par les précipitations saisonnières importantes pendant la saison des pluies. Mais dans certains cas, les inondations locales coïncident avec les précipitations locales (e.g., haut d'Orinoco, haut de Parana, haut de Zambezi et rivière Fly), tandis que dans d'autres, telles que le Niger inférieur, le Congo et le fleuve Solomoes-Amazonie, les crues

saisonnières sont le plus fortement influencées par les précipitations dans les eaux en amont (Winemiller, 2004). En outre, en raison de la faible variation de la température dans les régions tropicales de faible altitude, l'hydrologie est le principal facteur de forçage environnemental de la dynamique écologique et la sélection naturelle. Le modèle saisonnier tropical a dominé la réflexion sur l'écologie du système fluvial des plaines inondables, mais la généralité de ce modèle et ses conséquences ont à peine été discutées.

Winemiller (2004) a identifié au moins trois types de rivières selon leur hydrologie : (1) tempérée à crue pulsée saisonnière, (2) tempéré à crue pulsée stochastique et (3) tropicale à crue pulsée saisonnière. La richesse globale en poissons est fortement liée à la taille du bassin (Oberdorff et al., 1995). Cependant, les poissons présentent une diversité taxonomique plus forte dans les cours d'eaux tropicaux par rapport aux cours d'eaux de tailles comparables de la région tempérée (Winemiller, 1991). Les poissons ont développé une adaptation physiologique, des stratégies d'histoire de vie et un comportement de frai et d'alimentation pour faire face à ces différents types de conditions d'écoulement fluctuantes des cours d'eau. Quoi qu'il en soit, le cycle hydrologique annuel influe sur les migrations et la distribution des espèces de poissons entre la plaine inondée et le lit principal des cours d'eau. L'abondance et la biomasse des espèces de poissons qui en dépendent varient d'une année à l'autre en fonction de l'importance de la crue pulsée (Welcomme, 2003).

La variation saisonnière du niveau et du régime de l'eau affecte sévèrement la répartition des poissons des rivières, le comportement de migration des poissons ainsi que les prises annuelles. De nombreuses espèces de poissons se sont adaptées pour profiter des inondations saisonnières en se reproduisant au début de la saison des pluies, ce qui permet aux stades précoces de se nourrir et de croître dans les habitats inondés (Lowe-McConnell, 1987). Les baissent de niveaux d'eau réduisent la disponibilité de l'habitat aquatique et augmentent les densités de poissons et les interactions biotiques (Zaret & Rand, 1971). L'ichthyomasse et la capture de poissons dépendent de l'étendue du régime

d'inondation pendant la crue et de la quantité d'eau qui reste dans le système pendant la saison sèche. Le rapport entre la capture et l'inondation peut constituer la base d'un indice général pour l'évaluation des variations d'une année à l'autre dans une plaine inondable et de la différence entre les plaines inondables (Welcomme, 1976).

Le changement saisonnier du régime hydrique dans le système fluvial du Mékong entraîne deux schémas de migration chaque année (Kong et al., 2001). Le premier pic, de mai à juillet, coïncide avec la montée des eaux où de nombreuses espèces de poissons migrent vers les plaines inondées et ses affluents autour des grands lacs afin d'utiliser ces zones pour le frai et l'alimentation. Le deuxième pic de migration se produit entre la mioctobre et le mois de février, lorsque le niveau d'eau du grand lac commence à se déverser dans la rivière Tonle Sap vers le bas Mékong. De nombreuses espèces migratrices saisonnières quittent la plaine inondable après avoir passé du temps pour la reproduction et la croissance dans le Mékong, les grands lacs et certaines zones du delta du Mékong (Warren et al., 1998 ; Baird, 2004). En outre, les poissons riverains migrent beaucoup en raison de la fluctuation annuelle importante du volume d'eau du système (Pantulu, 1986).

# 3.2. Relation entre le régime hydrologique annuel et le rendement de pêche

Les assemblages biotiques des systèmes de plaines inondables aquatiques ont un grand potentiel de remaniement aléatoire pendant la période d'inondation annuelle (Hoeighaus et al., 2003). Les poissons riverains sont très mobiles, se déplaçant sur de longues ou courtes distances le long de la rivière. Ils réagissent à l'inondation saisonnière et à l'augmentation du flux d'eau annuel avec des mouvements latéraux ou longitudinaux sur la plaine d'inondation et dans le lac. La plupart des poissons riverains se reproduisent au début de la saison de crue, la biomasse des poissons augmente rapidement pendant la saison des hautes eaux en raison de la croissance rapide des jeunes de l'année (Lowe-McConnell,

1987). Les mouvements saisonniers fortement prévisibles comprennent des phénomènes comme la migration à longue distance des poissons tropicaux en réponse à des crues saisonnières (Mathew, 1998). Les fluctuations saisonnières du niveau d'eau, ou crue pulsée, influent sur la dynamique des populations de poissons et sont positivement associées aux rendements de la pêche (Junk et al., 1989).

La hausse des niveaux d'eau déclenche les processus de production de poissons, car de nombreuses espèces de poissons fraient et migrent latéralement hors des chenaux vers les plaines inondables nouvellement inondées lorsque les niveaux d'eau augmentent (Gomes et al., 1997; Castello, 2008). Dans les plaines inondables, les taux de croissance et de recrutement des poissons augmentent généralement car les poissons peuvent mieux se protéger des prédateurs et ils ont à disposition des abondantes ressources alimentaires à base de plantes, notamment les algues, les détritus et les graines des arbres fruitiers (Goulding, 1980, Agostinho et al. 2004). Inversement, la baisse des niveaux d'eau déclenche des processus de mortalité en contraignant les poissons aux chenaux et aux lacs de la plaine inondable, où la densité accrue des poissons intensifie les taux de prédation alors que la qualité de l'eau est souvent médiocre (Welcomme, 1979; Matthews & Marsh, 2003). La variabilité interannuelle des impulsions d'inondation influe donc sur les rendements de la pêche. Des études antérieures ont montré que les années de fortes chaleurs peuvent augmenter la biomasse de poissons de l'année suivante en favorisant le recrutement et la croissance des poissons. Inversement, des années de basses eaux extrêmes peuvent réduire la biomasse en augmentant les mortalités naturelles (Lagler et al., 1971, Welcomme et Hagborg, 1977; Halls & Welcomme, 2004). Les indices de crues pulsée d'une année donnée ont été corrélés avec les rendements plurispécifiques annuels ou la biomasse dans les années suivantes : 92% au Niger, 82% dans le Shire, 57% au Kafue et 83% en Amazonie (Welcomme, 1979).

Dans le système du Mékong cambodgien, les facteurs environnementaux tels que le niveau d'eau, la durée de l'inondation, le moment de l'inondation, la régulation de

l'inondation et la qualité de la zone inondée sont les facteurs les plus critiques du stock et production (Baran & Cain, 2001). En outre, Zalinge (2003) a observé de 1995 à 2002 la pêcherie Dai dans la rivière Tonle Sap sur la configuration saisonnière du régime de crue du Mékong sur la hauteur de la plaine inondée des grands lacs. Cet auteur a indiqué que d'année en année les variations du maximum des niveaux d'inondation du Mékong sont liées à la forêt inondée du grand lac inondée qui affecte fortement le rendement annuel des poissons au Cambodge. En Amazonie, il a été observé que les eaux hautes et basses d'une année donnée affectaient les rendements des pêcheries deux et trois ans plus tard en modifiant la biomasse disponible, contribuant à 18% de la variabilité expliquée des rendements (Castello et al., 2015). Il a été observé que la fluctuation annuelle du régime hydrique dans le système fluvial du Mékong cambodgien affectait fortement la production annuelle de poisson en limitant ou en augmentant l'accés aux zones de frayères et d'alimentation des poissons (Zaling, 2002).

#### 4. Les facteurs influançant sur la co-occurrence des espèces

Les écologistes ont essayé de comprendre des facteurs qui déterminent les changements saisonniers de la structure des communautés de poissons. Des auteurs (e.g., Hugueny et Paugy, 1995 ; Belliard et al., 1997 ; González et al., 2009 ; Sousa & Freitas, 2008 ; Smith & Petrere, 2008) ont observé que le changement saisonnier des cycles hydrologiques et la modification des caractéristiques de l'habitat étaient les principaux facteurs de structuration de la communauté de poissons. Mais peu d'études ont examiné les interactions biotiques des espèces. Récemment, les écologistes tentent d'accroître la connaissance des interactions biotiques interspécifiques (Wiens, 2011; Wisz et al., 2013), tandis que les études contemporaines et paléoécologiques des espèces ont montré que

les interactions biotiques ont clairement laissé leur marque sur les distributions d'espèces (Wisz et al., 2013).

En outre, certains auteurs (e.g., Werner et al., 1983; Power et al., 1985) ont indiqué que les interactions peuvent conduire à des schémas de répartition à l'échelle fine. À plus grande échelle, la plupart des études suggèrent que la co-occurrence des poissons d'eau douce dépend principalement des conditions de l'habitat (Peres-Neto, 2004 ; Mouillot et al., 2007 ; Mouchet et al., 2013). Cependant, l'influence relative de l'habitat et des interactions biotiques est difficile à découpler à grande échelle spatiale. Par exemple, plusieurs études ont montré que les interactions biotiques peuvent être importantes, mais seulement dans certains contextes abiotiques (Hoeinghaus et al., 2007; Hein et al., 2014). En d'autres termes, les effets perçus des interactions biologique à de grandes échelles spatiales sont souvent des artefacts d'hétérogénéité d'habitat dans lesquels une espèce est favorisée par rapport à d'autres dans certaines conditions (Wenger et al., 2011). Quoi qu'il en soit, la plupart des recherches effectuées à ce jour suggèrent que les interactions biotiques sont sont moins importantes que les facteurs abiotiques pour expliquer la distribution de poissons d'eau douce à de grandes échelles spatiales (Peoples et Frimpong, 2015). A côté de cela, d'autres études ont observé que l'assemblage de communauté peut être fortement influencé par les interactions biotiques entre les espèces, en particulier par la compétition interspécifique (MacArthur & Levins, 1967; Schoener, 1974; Chase & Leibold, 2004). Néanmoins, le rôle de la compétition interspécifique dans la formation des communautés est une question complexe qui reste à étudier et à débattre. En abordant le rôle de la compétition interspécifique dans l'assemblage de communauté, beaucoup de travaux se sont concentrés sur la détection de la signature de la compétition dans les modèles de cooccurrence des espèces au sein des communautés (Gotelli & McCabe, 2002). Par conséquent, les changements saisonniers dans le cycle hydrologique et la ségrégation des espèces constituent le principal mécanisme de structuration des assemblages de poissons.

À cet égard, l'interaction des espèces et la co-occurrence dans la même niche écologique peuvent être partagées avec les mêmes ressources alimentaires au cours des années.

# 5. Variations saisonnières de la composition du régime alimentaire, de la largeur du spectre alimentaire et du chevauchement alimentaire dans le système d'inondation pulsée tropical

Les animaux modifient souvent leur régime alimentaire en fonction des changements dans la disponibilité des ressources (Buren et al., 2012), des conditions environnementales abiotiques (Stuart-Smith et al., 2004), du stade ontogénétique (Werner et Hall, 1988), de la concurrence (Kie & Bowyer, 1999) ... Des études sur l'écologie alimentaire des poissons ont été un outil important pour comprendre les modèles écologiques tels que la préférence d'habitat et les interactions poisson-habitat, souvent liés aux variations environnementales et à la disponibilité et l'accessibilité des ressources (Braga et al., 2012; Correa & Winemiller, 2014). Dans les rivières et les lacs tropicaux, l'inondation pulsée a été un élément moteur des assemblages de communautés de poissons et la dynamique des inondations dans les écosystèmes aquatiques tropicaux pourrait être un élément essentiel de la structure des communautés de poissons d'eau douce (Pool et al., 2017). Ces processus biologiques et écologiques ont influencé l'écologie alimentaire des poissons, entraînant des changements dans les aires d'alimentation et la disponibilité de la nourriture (Junk et al., 1989; Luz-Agostinho et al., 2008; Mortillaro et al., 2015). Ainsi, l'analyse du régime alimentaire peut révéler des informations importantes sur les ressources alimentaires disponibles pour les poissons, en particulier au cours des saisons (Persson, 1983; Lobon-Cervia & Rincon, 1994).

Parmi les poissons néotropicaux, la relation trophique est l'un des principaux défis pour comprendre les mécanismes écologiques et la coexistence d'espèces dans la communauté et la manière dont les ressources sont partagées (Esteves & Galetti, 1994).

Plusieurs études (e.g., Goulding, 1980; Prejs & Prejs, 1987; Olurin et al., 1991; Pouilly et al., 2003 ; Hahn et al., 2004 ; Mérona & Mérona, 2004 ; Pouilly & Rodríguez, 2004 ; Pouily et al., 2006) ont trouvé que la même ressource alimentaire peut être partagée par de nombreuses espèces de poissons et que chaque espèce peut exploiter successivement plusieurs sources de nourriture différentes au cours de l'année. Bien que la ségrégation trophique ait été identifiée comme le principal mécanisme de structuration des assemblages de poissons (Pianka, 1969; Ross, 1986), elle peut varier en fonction des conditions des sites et de la saisonnalité (Bouton et al., 1997). De plus, dans les écosystèmes néotropicaux d'eau douce, les changements cycliques se produisent en réponse à l'alternance des saisons sèches et humides. Le changement saisonnier affecte les ressources alimentaires de l'ichtyofaune et peut modifier le spectre trophique et le rythme d'alimentation du poisson, influençant les relations trophiques entre les espèces (Araújo-Lima et al., 1995 ; Winemiller & Jepsen, 1998; Hahn et al., 2004; Yamamoto, 2004). Cependant, le partage des ressources et d'autres facteurs qui permettent la coexistence des espèces sont peu compris par les écologistes (Esteves & Galetti, 1994 ; Gerking, 1994 ; Higgins & Strauss, 2008). Par conséquent, l'analyse alimentaire peut révéler des informations importantes sur la dynamique trophique et la répartition des ressources parmi les espèces de poissons (Ross, 1986), notamment en ce qui concerne les environnements subissant des changements soudains (Johnson & Arunachalam, 2012). De plus, Lowe-McConnell (1999) a également mentionné que l'ichtyofaune en général présentait des régimes plus spécialisés pendant la saison des hautes eaux, lorsque les aliments variaient et abondaient, et que les valeurs de chevauchement alimentaire étaient plus faibles chez les espèces durant cette période. Preis & Prejs (1987) ont également signalé un fort chevauchement alimentaire pendant la saison sèche pour les communautés de poissons des rivières vénézuéliennes. Goulding (1980) et Goulding et al. (1988) ont trouvé des résultats similaires dans les rivières Machado et Negro en Amazonie. D'autre part, dans les cours d'eau panaméens, les chevauchements alimentaires entre espèces étaient relativement faibles pendant la saison sèche (Zaret & Rand, 1971), ce qu'ils attribuaient à une pénurie de ressources alimentaires. Inversement,

Peterson et al. (2017) ont observé que la diversité alimentaire diminuait lorsque les niveaux d'eau diminuaient et que la disponibilité des habitats et des ressources aquatiques diminuait, mais le chevauchement alimentaire interspécifique n'était pas plus faible. Enfin, Mérona & Mérona (2004) indiquaient qu'il n'y avait pas de différence entre les saisons en Rei Lake (Amazonas).

#### 6. Objectifs spécifiques de la thèse

Le lac Tonlé Sap (TSL) est le plus grand lac naturel et système d'inondation pulsée de l'Asie du Sud-Est. Ce lac abrite près de 250 espèces de poissons, des animaux aquatiques menacés et en danger, et fournit environ 60% des captures de poissons continentaux au Cambodge. Les changements saisonniers dans les cycles hydrologiques influencent la structure des communautés de poissons, créent des habitats hétérogènes favorables pour le frai et la croissance, et finalement influencent la production halieutique annuelle du Cambodge. Cependant, très peu d'efforts se concentrent sur les changements saisonniers dans la communauté de poissons de TSL, les changements saisonniers dans les cycles hydrologiques et comment les communautés de poissons réagissent aux changements du cycle hydrologique annuel, en particulier comment les espèces changent leur régime alimentaire. La thèse est structurée en 4 chapitres afin de répondre à 4 objectifs de recherche. Le premier chapitre consiste à caractériser la variation temporelle de la composition spatiale des communautés de poissons de six sites du TSL et d'identifier les déterminants des variations temporelles de la contribution des sites et des espèces à la variation spatiale de la composition de la communauté. Le deuxième chapitre consiste à explorer la variabilité temporelle de la plupart des espèces de poissons et leur modèle de co-occurrence. Dans le troisième chapitre, nous examinons les plaines inondables des rivières tropicales en tant que système modèle afin d'étudier la réponse de la position trophique des poissons des changements de position trophique pour 4 poissons piscivores

communs à des variations régulières dans l'environnement. Enfin, le dernier chapitre vise à décrire les variations saisonnières du régime alimentaire et le chevauchement alimentaire de trois espèces poissons communs, abondants et commercialement importantes dans le TSL, mais aux cycles de vie différents.

#### 7. Le lac Tonlé Sap

Le lac de Tonlé Sap (TSL), est un écosystème lac-rivière de forêt alluviale au régime d'écoulement alternatif. Le lac est un déversoir lors de l'inondation saisonnière du Mékong et sert de réservoir en période de basses eaux. La superficie du lac pendant la saison sèche (février à mai), est d'environ 2 700 km<sup>2</sup> pour une profondeur d'environ 1 mètre. Cette superficie est pratiquement multipliée par six quand arrive la saison des pluies, pour atteindre près de 16 000 km<sup>2</sup> et une profondeur de 9 mètres, noyant rizières et forêts. C'est le plus grand lac d'eau douce d'Asie du Sud-Est. C'est aussi l'une des zones de pêche d'eau douce les plus importantes et productives du monde avec près de 75% du volume annuel de pêche en eau douce du Cambodge, ce qui permet la survie de près de 2,5 millions de personnes. Les changements saisonniers du cycle hydrologique ont une influence sur la structuration des communautés de poissons à l'échelle temporelle et spatiale, mais aussi sur les comportements trophiques des principales espèces qui n'exploitent alors pas les mêmes habitats. Toutefois, le bassin versant du Mékong est en changement constant avec un développement important des infrastructures en lien avec l'eau : production d'hydroélectricité, besoins important en irrigation, maitrise des inondations, eau potable, ... Les changements climatiques accélèrent les modifications du cycle hydrologique annuel. Il est alors supposé que ces modifications ont des effets forts sur les habitats et les proies disponibles et finalement sur la biodiversité, notamment de l'ichtyofaune et sur l'abondance des poissons disponibles pour les pêcheries.

#### 8. Principaux résultats

Dans un premier temps, nous avons caractérisé les variations spatio-temporelles de la composition taxonomique des poissons et mis en lumière quels sont les déterminants de ces variations. À cette fin, nous avons estimé la diversité bêta comme la variance totale de la matrice site par communauté d'espèce et l'avons divisée en contribution locale à la diversité bêta (LCBD) et contribution des espèces à la diversité bêta (SCBD). Nous avons ensuite effectué plusieurs régressions linéaires pour déterminer si la richesse taxonomique, l'abondance des espèces et le niveau de l'eau expliquaient la variation temporelle de la contribution du site et de l'espèce à la diversité bêta. Nos résultats indiquent une forte variation temporelle de la diversité bêta due aux contributions différentielles des sites et des espèces à la variation spatiale de la composition taxonomique des poissons. Nous avons également constaté que la direction, la forme et l'effet relatif de la richesse spécifique, de l'abondance et du niveau de l'eau sur la variation temporelle des valeurs LCBD et SCBD varient grandement selon les sites. Ces résultats suggèrent ainsi une variation spatiale des processus conduisant à une variation temporelle de la composition de la communauté. Dans l'ensemble, nos résultats suggèrent que la composition taxonomique des poissons n'est pas distribuée de manière homogène dans l'espace et dans le temps et risque d'être affectée à l'avenir si la dynamique saisonnière d'écoulement du système est altérée par les activités humaines et/ou les changements climatiques.

Dans un second temps, nous avons cherché à étudier le modèle d'évolution temporel des principales espèces en terme d'occurrence et d'abondance à travers le cycle saisonnier hydrologique. Nous avons constaté que les profils d'occurrence et d'abondance variaient dans le temps en fonction des niveaux d'eau et du sens d'écoulement. Une forte variation temporelle de l'occurrence des espèces a été observée avec des espèces colonisant le lac alors que le niveau d'eau commence à monter telles que *Labiobarbus leptocheilus* et *Poropuntius deauratus*. Nous avons également observé que l'abondance de 17 espèces varient beaucoup alors que les 22 autres espèces étaient plus stables au cours de l'année

(principalement les espèces résidentielles de TSL). Les patrons de co-occurrence positive des espèces étaient généralement plus élevé que la co-occurrence négative des espèces quel que soit la saison. Les modèles de co-occurrence les plus positifs ont été observés pendant la période de baisse du niveau de l'eau alors que les poissons migrent des zones inondées, entrent en compétition pour les ressources et les habitats pendant la saison des basses eaux. L'étude de la répartition temporelle de la co-occurrence des espèces et de la façon dont la communauté réagit au changement saisonnier dans le cycle hydrologique fournissent des informations importantes pour la gestion et la conservation des pêcheries du TSL et le maintien de la biodiversité des poissons du bassin versant aval du Mékong.

Dans un troisième temps, les implications de la saisonnalité du cycle hydrologique sur la structure du réseau trophique ont été étudié. Cette relation a, jusqu'ici, été notoirement ignorée, en particulier dans le système de TSL. Pour notre étude, nous nous sommes concentré sur les changements saisonniers dans un attribut clé d'un réseau trophique, la position trophique verticale des consommateurs. Nous nous demandons si les poissons des plaines tropicales se comportent comme des omnivores saisonniers, en déplacant leurs positions trophiques par rapport au pouls annuel, ou s'ils se nourrissent en omnivores statiques, à la même position trophique toute l'année, comme le suppose implicitement les travaux antérieurs. En utilisant des isotopes stables de l'azote (815N) pour 28 espèces, nous avons trouvé des preuves pour le TSL que les poissons se déplacent vers des positions trophiques inférieures pendant la saison des pluies et la remonté des niveaux d'eau. Les données disponibles sur l'alimentation provenant du lac et une revue de la littérature suggèrent qu'une exploitation accrue des plantes et/ou des invertébrés pourrait expliquer ces résultats. Cependant, la grande variation des changements de position trophique saisonnière observée entre les espèces (allant de -0,51 à +0,64 du niveau trophique de la saison sèche à la saison humide) indique que diverses réponses comportementales à la saisonnalité pourraient être essentielles pour réorienter le flux énergétique dans ces écosystèmes dynamiques. Sur la base de la littérature existante,

l'omnivorie saisonnière semble répandue dans d'autres taxons et écosystèmes, et mérite d'être étudiée davantage étant donné son influence potentielle sur la dynamique du réseau trophique dans des environnements fluctuants.

Dans un dernier temps, nous avons cherché à savoir si les changements saisonniers dans cycle hydrologique de TSL affectaient différemment le régime alimentaire et le chevauchement des niches trophiques de trois espèces de poissons communs, au cycle biologique différent (par ex. migration saisonnière) et commercialement importants (Anabas testudineus, Boesemania microplepis et Notopterus notopterus). Pour cela, les trois espèces ont été échantillonnées à quatre endroits répartis sur le lac, et leur contenu stomacal a été prélevé pour analyse. Les différences alimentaires ont été étudiées au cours des saisons en ce qui concerne la composition du régime alimentaire et la largeur de la niche trophique ainsi que la quantité du chevauchement alimentaire entre les espèces. Nous avons constaté que la proportion d'estomacs vides changeait de façon similaire d'une saison à l'autre pour les trois espèces, alors que les changements dans la composition du régime alimentaire étaient spécifiques à l'espèce. La largeur de la niche trophique variait d'une espèce à l'autre en toutes saisons, sauf pendant la saison des pluies, et tendait à être plus élevée pendant la saison sèche lorsque le chevauchement alimentaire était le plus faible. Nos résultats suggèrent une plasticité fort dans le comportement alimentaire des trois espèces, comme le démontrent les variations saisonnières à la fois de la largeur de la niche trophique et du chevauchement alimentaire. Ces variations peuvent s'expliquer par un certain nombre de facteurs et de processus, notamment les changements dans la disponibilité des ressources alimentaires ou les interactions compétitives entre les individus pour les ressources, dont l'influence relative peut varier selon l'ampleur et le moment de l'inondation. L'acquisition de connaissances sur l'évolution saisonnière de l'alimentation des poissons est pertinente pour la gestion et la conservation des pêches et nos résultats pourraient être utilisés pour guider le développement de l'aquaculture au Cambodge.

#### 9. Conclusion générale

Le lac de Tonlé Sap (TSL) est la plus grande pêcherie continentale d'Asie du Sud-Est et soutient la survie de 2,5 millions de personnes autour du lac (Arias et al., 2013). Sa dynamique de crue combinée à l'inversion du flux du TSR en fait un système unique dans le monde qui soutient une biodiversité élevée en fournissant une grande diversité de nourriture et d'habitats pour de nombreux oiseaux et poissons. Cependant, la demande croissante d'eau à des fins agricoles et la construction de barrages hydroélectriques le long du Mékong (Arias et al., 2013) combinés aux effets du changement climatique menacent fortement ce système en modifiant et en réduisant l'intensité des inondations de 7% à 16% pendant la saison des pluies (Arias et al., 2012). De tels changements dans le régime hydrique auront probablement de fortes répercussions sur la composition des communautés de poissons en modifiant plusieurs événements phénologiques (Agostinho et al., 2004) tels que le moment de la migration ou du frai et en réduisant la quantité d'habitats submergés nécessaires pour la croissance et la reproduction. Ceci peut finalement conduire à une diminution de la productivité des poissons du TSL et de la biodiversité. Par exemple, en 2016, une centaine de tonnes de géniteurs de poissons sont morts dans la zone de conservation de Boeung Chhmar, qui est la principale zone de conservation de la TSL, en raison d'une sécheresse prolongée. Dans le système TSL, les fortes variations spatio-temporelles mises en évidence concernant le caractère unique des communautés de poissons sont probablement le résultat de variations spatiales des conditions environnementales et de la migration saisonnière d'espèces particulières dont l'occurrence dépendant de la connectivité latérale aux habitats des plaines inondables leur reproduction et leur survie.

Nous avons également constaté que le patron de la plupart d'occurrences et d'abondance d'espèces variaient dans le temps en fonction du changement saisonnier des cycles hydrologiques du système TSL. Les espèces migratrices et non migratrices étaient généralement séparées à toutes les saisons, particulièrement durant les périodes de basses eaux, en raison du changement de connectivité latérale dans le lac et de compétition pour l'habitat et des ressources alimentaires en saison sèche. Les changements saisonniers du cycle hydrologique et de la connectivité latérale ont influé sur la présence et l'abondance des espèces et ont favorisé la ségrégation et l'agrégation des espèces dans le lac. Par conséquent, l'interaction entre les espèces et le changement de connectivité latérale dans le lac TSL fournit une rétroaction critique pour la gestion et la conservation des pêches, en particulier pour maintenir la biodiversité des poissons dans le bassin du Mékong et maintenir la nutrition et les revenus pour des millions de cambodgiens. Promouvoir la connectivité avec les habitats des plaines inondables est donc une étape importante vers le maintien de la biodiversité et de la productivité des poissons dont dépendent ces personnes pour leur subsistance.

La position trophique verticale et le concept connexe d'omnivorie de la chaîne alimentaire sont des attributs clés qui influencent la stabilité et les fonctions du réseau alimentaire (McCann et al., 2005 ; Post & Takimoto, 2007 ; Winemiller et al., 2014). Nos résultats pour les poissons des plaines inondées tropicales ont révélé que l'omnivorie de la chaîne alimentaire est dynamique en réponse à la variation saisonnière des cycles hydrologiques. Les changements saisonniers dans l'écologie trophique ne sont pas uniques aux poissons tropicaux ou aux plaines inondées. La connaissance de la façon dont les espèces et les écosystèmes répondent à la saisonnalité est cruciale pour anticiper les conséquences du changement climatique. Par exemple, des organismes capables d'une dynamique omnivore à des échelles de temps saisonniers pourraient être particulièrement importants pour le maintien du fonctionnement des écosystèmes face à l'évolution des conditions écologiques (Takimoto et al., 2002 ; McMeans et al., 2016). En outre, le maintien d'espèces couvrant une gamme de réponses trophiques, comme observé chez les poissons dans les plaines inondables tropicales, pourrait jouer un rôle important dans la protection des communautés locales contre les perturbations.

Dans le TSL, le changement saisonnier du régime alimentaire des poissons et la façon dont les poissons modifient leur comportement alimentaire au fil des saisons sont mal élucidés. Par conséquent, comprendre comment le régime alimentaire de ces espèces change de façon saisonnière pourrait aider à acquérir des connaissances sur la façon dont la connectivité aux habitats des plaines inondables influence leur comportement alimentaire et la force de la compétition pour les ressources. Nos résultats suggèrent que la crue pulsée peut jouer un rôle dans la médiation des interactions compétitives entre les trois espèces étudiées en permettant aux espèces de modifier leur régime alimentaire à mesure que la disponibilité des ressources change avec le temps. Cela peut finalement promouvoir la biodiversité en offrant aux espèces des opportunités d'éviter la compétition et de vivre en harmonie avec d'autres espèces, présentant à l'origine des exigences alimentaires similaires. Cette harmonie est cependant menacée par l'accélération du développement des infrastructures hydrauliques (hydroélectricité, irrigation, contrôle des inondations et approvisionnement en eau) et du changement climatique, apportant des modifications considérables à la crue pulsée du lac Tonle Sap dans un avenir prévisible.

**Mots clés :** cycle hydrologique, régime d'écoulement alternatif, structure de communautés, variation spatio-temporelle, interaction entre espèces, compétition entre espèces, chevauchement de niche trophique, diversité bêta, LCBD, SCBD, omnivorie saisonnière.

### Abstract

The Tonle Sap Lake (TSL), Cambodia, is a flood-pulse system. It is the largest natural lake in South- East Asia and constitutes one of the largest fisheries over the world, supporting the livelihood 2.5 million peoples. Seasonal change in annual hydrological cycle appears to have influence on fish community structure, both spatial and temporal variation, particularly on feeding behavior of TSL's fishes. Nonetheless, the Mekong River Basin is changing rapidly due to accelerating water infrastructure development (hydropower, irrigation, flood control, and water supply) and climate change, bringing considerable modifications to the annual flood-pulse of the TSL. Such modifications are expected to have strong impacts on fish biodiversity, abundance, reduced habitat and food availability within the lake. To invest how TSL's fish community structure responds to the seasonal change, how they shift their diet across hydrological cycles and feeding competing for food resource: First, we aim to characterize the spatio-temporal variations of fish taxonomic composition and to highlights the underlying determinants of these variations. For this purpose, we estimated beta diversity as the total variance of the site-by-species community matrix and partitioned it into Local Contribution to Beta Diversity (LCBD) and Species Contribution to Beta Diversity (SCBD). We then performed multiple linear regressions to determine whether species richness, species abundances and water level explained the temporal variation in the contribution of site and species to beta diversity. Our results indicate strong temporal variation of beta diversity due to differential contributions of sites and species to the spatial variation of fish taxonomic composition. We further found that the direction, the shape and the relative effect of species richness, abundances and water level on temporal variation in LCBD and SCBD values greatly varied among sites, thus suggesting spatial variation in the processes leading to temporal variation in community composition. Overall, our results suggest that fish taxonomic composition is not homogeneously distributed over space and time and is likely to be impacted in the future if the flood-pulse dynamic of the system is altered by human activities.

Second, we aim to investigate the temporal pattern of the most occurrence and abundance species and how their co-occurrence pattern across hydrological cycles. We found that occurrence and abundance patterns were temporally varied at all water level seasons. Strong temporal variation in species occurrence was occurred with visiting species such as *Labiobarbus leptocheilus* and *Poropuntius deauratus* while water level starts to fill into the TSL. We further observed that the abundance of 17 species was strongly varied while other 22 species (mainly TSL's residential species) were stable within the year. Positive species co-occurrence pattern was generally higher than negative species co-occurrence at all water level seasons. Highest positive co-occurrence patterns were found during the period of decrease and low water level seasons while fishes are migrating from flooded areas, competing for resource and habitats during low water season. Study on temporal distribution and species co-occurrence of fish and how community responds to the seasonal change in hydrological cycles provides critical information for fisheries management and conservation in the Tonle Sap Lake (TSL) as well as maintaining fish biodiversity in the Mekong system.

Third, the implications of seasonality on food web structure have been notoriously understudied in empirical ecology, particularly in TSL's system. The current study, we focus on seasonal changes in one key attribute of a food web, vertical trophic position of consumers. We ask whether tropical floodplain fishes behave as seasonal omnivores, by shifting their trophic positions in relation to the annual flood pulse, or whether they feed as static omnivores, at the same trophic position all year, as much empirical work implicitly assumes. Using stable nitrogen isotopes ( $\delta$ 15N) for 28 species, we find evidence within the Tonle Sap Lake, Cambodia, that fishes shift towards lower trophic positions during the wet season. Available diet data from the Tonle Sap and a literature review suggest that increased exploitation of plants and/or invertebrates could explain this finding. However, the large variation in seasonal trophic position shifts observed among species (ranging from - 0.51 to 0.64 trophic levels from the dry to the wet season) argues that diverse behavioral

responses to seasonality could be central for re-routing energy flow in these dynamic ecosystems. Based existing literature, seasonal omnivory appears widespread in other taxa and ecosystems, and warrants further study given its potential influence on food web dynamics in fluctuating environments.

Last, we aimed to investigate whether seasonal changes in the water level of a floodpulse system (the Tonle Sap Lake, Cambodia) differentially affect diet breadth and dietary overlap of three common and commercially important fish species (Anabas testudineus, Boesemania microplepis and Notopterus notopterus) presenting important differences in their life-cycle (e.g. seasonal migration). For this purpose, the three fish species were sampled at four locations spread over the lake and their stomach contents extracted for analyses. Dietary differences were investigated across seasons regarding the diet composition and diet breadth of each species as well as the amount of dietary overlap between species. We found that the proportion of empty stomachs changed similarly across seasons for the three species, thus suggesting that ecological differences between species are not sufficient to outweigh the effect of seasonal variations in resource abundance. In contrast, changes in diet composition were species-specific and can be explained by ecological and behavioral differences between species. Diet breadth differed between species in all seasons, except during the wet season, and tended to be higher during the dry season when dietary overlap was the lowest. These variations likely result from changes in the diversity and amount of resources and may lead to habitat use shifts with potential implications for competitive interactions. In particular, increasing connectivity to floodplain habitats may reduce the competitive pressure during the wet season, while resource scarcity during the dry season may constrain individuals to diversify their diet to avoid competition. Overall, our results suggest a considerable plasticity in the feeding behavior of the three species as demonstrated by seasonal variation in both diet breadth and dietary overlap. Such variations can be explained by a number of factors and processes, including changes in resource availability or competitive interactions between individuals for resources, whose

relative influence might vary depending on the magnitude and the timing of the flood-pulse driving the connectivity to floodplain habitats. Gaining knowledge on the seasonal evolution of fish's diet is relevant for fisheries management and conservation and our result could be used to guide aquaculture development in Cambodia.

**Keywords:** Flood pulse system, hydrological cycle, fish community structure, spatiotemporal variation, species interaction, species competing, niche overlap, beta diversity, LCBD, SCBD, seasonal omnivory, feeding behavior, seasonal variation.

•

# 1. General Introduction 1.1. The context of flood pulse systems in the tropical system

Floodplains are defined as "areas that are periodically inundated by the lateral overflow of rivers or lakes and/or by direct precipitation or groundwater (Junk, 1997). Several studies (e.g. Junk et al., 1989; Ward et al., 1999; Tockener & Stanford, 2002) commonly observed that spatial heterogeneity and dynamic hydrology of rivers and floodplains support high biodiversity and affect functional processes. Evidences have been found in tropical flood pulses system causes lateral connectivity that influences and modifies ecosystem such as water quality (Thomaz et al., 2007), nutrient dynamics (Melack & Forsberg, 2001) and life cycles of many organisms within floodplain aquatic habitats (e.g. Junk 1985; Junk & Piedade, 1997; Arrington et al. 2006; Neves dos Santos et al. 2008). Althought, the floodpulse concept has yet to be validated in large temperate rivers but Welcomme (1995) conducted a study in Europe and Hesse et al. (1993) in North America observed that temperate and tropical river system was a similar process. River floodplain connectivities and habitat heterogeneities are maintained by natural hydrologic regimes and environmental gradients (Ward, 1998; Sparks et al. 1990).

Furthermore, experience from tropical floodplain rivers observed that, periodic flood pulses is the main structuring force for the fish community, reproduction and also have a strong influence on the fish distribution and abundance pattern (Junk et al., 1989; Sousa & Freitas, 2008 and Goulding, 1980). Beside this, flood pulse systems are important in supporting recruitment for fish species (Sparks, 1995) while the experience from Amazon Basin revealed that great number of fishes starts to enter into floodplain seasonally to feed on fruit, seed and terrestrial resources (Goulding, 1980; Hamilton & Lewis, 1987; Goulding et al., 1988). Floodplain Rivers, flood pulses are so predictable and long-lasting that plants, animals, and even human societies have adapted to take advantage of them (Sparks, 1995). Flood pulses are suggested to be the driving force for the high biodiversity of floodplains by creating heterogeneity of habitats (Junk & Piedade, 1993; Gopal & Junk, 2000). Most large

floodplain rivers of the world are greatly altered by human activity. Consequently, rivers that have not been altered are rare, and are more than likely to be altered in the near future (Gore and Sheilds, 1995 & Sparks, 1995). Tropical floodplains are the most diverse of all floodplain ecosystems (Gopal and Junk, 2000), and will, therefore be the most impacted by development, largely because tropical floodplains are located in developing countries that do not have the economy to establish environmental sustainability into the industry (Roggeri, 1995).

Freshwater ecosystems have been known to support a rich diversity of biological life and provide services to human activities (Strayer & Dudgeon, 2010). Floodplain wetlands are among the most diverse and productive freshwater ecosystems on the planet (Kingsford 2000; Rosenberg et al., 2000). Despite their invaluable ecosystem functions, a decline in wetland aquatic biodiversity has been observed that is mainly driven by changes in land use and climate (Verhoeven et al. 2006; Palmer et al., 2008). In addition to these, river floodplain ecosystems are also threatened by the alteration of flow regimes through the construction of dams (Dynesius & Nilsson 1994; Tockner et al., 2010) and leaded to change spatial and temporally of fish community structure within the floodplain.

# 1.2. Spatio-temporal fish community variations in tropical flood pulse systems

All biological communities vary greatly in space and time (e.g. Southwood, 1988). The current approaches to study community ecology are to explain the patterns of distribution and abundance of species, linking processes that occur at different spatial and temporal scales (Ricklefs & Schluter 1993; Leibold et al., 2004). In large floodplain rivers, the adjustment of communities to each kind of model can vary with seasonal water level fluctuation (Winemiller, 1996; Arrington et al., 2005; Arrington & Winemiller, 2006). Floodplains have unique and important ecosystem functions in riverine landscapes where

they frequently function as hot spots of biodiversity owing to complex patterns of habitat variation over a wide range of temporal and spatial scales (Swales et al., 1999; Tockner et al., 2010). High interconnection among habitats during high water season offers an opportunity to random reshuffling of fish and may promote stochastic processes on community structure and composition. During dry season, floodplain lakes and channels become isolated and fish densities increases. It is commonly found that the seasonal floodpulse dynamics have influenced on ecological and environmental processes by causing lateral connectivity to adjacent floodplain habitats and by influencing water quality and nutrient dynamics and influencing the life cycle of many organisms (Tockner et al., 2000). Gopal & Junk (2000) and Lasne et al. (2007) revealed that lateral connectivity is a key element for many fish and other aquatic species because it provides resources and, heterogeneous habitats for spawning, rearing, favoring productivity and biodiversity. Studies of spatial and temporal patterns of distribution and diversity of freshwater fishes are useful to analyze factors influencing fish community structure and how communities respond to the seasonal change in hydrological cycles (Hugueny & Paugy 1995; Belliard et al., 1997). Serveral studies revealed that temporal pattern of fish community structure was related to the dynamic of the floods (Smith & Petrere, 2008; Sousa & Freitas, 2008; González et al., 2009) and fish communities in lentic systems seemed to be more stable temporally than those in the lotic ones (Merona, 1987). Furthermore, synchronous dynamics of animal populations over large spatial scales is emerging as a common phenomenon (Ranta et al. 1995; Cattadori et al., 2000; Post & Forchhammer 2002; Cattanéo et al., 2003). Identifying mechanisms that cause spatial synchronization has proved both difficult and central to understanding population regulation.

At spatial scale, lateral connectivity of flood pulse is the main force in structuring temporal fish community assemblages rather than that spatial scale (Sousa & Freitas, 2008), which contrasted fining with other studies which commonly found that floodplain fish community was observed that spatial separation of some species might be maintained,

depending on the precise environmental conditions, since the small haplochromines can tolerate low oxygen water unsuitable for the large perch (Fish, 1956; van Oijen et al., 1981; Chapman et al., 1995). In addition, several studies in Amazon regions and French Guiana investigated that lagoon fishes found within floating saprophyte habitats (Henderson & Hamilton 1995; Meschiatti et al., 2000), differences among habitats within a localized area (Cox Fernandes, 1997; Saint-Paul et al., 2000; Silvano et al., 2000; Petry et al., 2003), and differences between natural and flow-regulated rivers (Merigoux & Ponton, 1999).

#### 1.3. The relationship between the annual hydrological regime and fish

# 1.3.1. Seasonal flood regime in temperate, tropical rivers and fish distribution

Fish distribution is strictly involved with the migration pattern from one habitat to another in term of breeding, rearing, feeding and growing as a result of the fluctuation of environment seasonal change. The vast array of adaptations that have evolved in fishes whether they are morphological, ecological, reproductive or physiological is simply amazing (Pereira, 2003). The largest numbers of species are found in tropical regions more than temperate regions, with freshwater species being most numerous in the river drainages of south-eastern Asia and South Africa (Malcolm, 1995).

In the temperate regions, temperature is variously in a predicable seasonal pattern, with the magnitude variation greater at higher latitude and elevations, regions having fairly unpredictable rainfall and lacking significant runoff from snowmelt display unpredictable, a seasonal flood pulses, for example temperate rivers along the north-western Gulf of Mexico coast of North America and some certain regions within Australia's Murry-Darling Basin. In Texas, the Brazos River shows unpredictable hydrology, both within and between years (Winemiller, 1996). Many temperate regions have cyclic pattern of precipitation and/or spring time melting of ice and snow that yield seasonal flood pulse. Seasonal flood in temperate

river also can be strongly influenced by evapotranspiration as a function of seasonal temperature regime (Benke et al., 2000). The magnitude of flooding in most temperate rivers is highly variable between year and in some systems, e.g. Ogeechee River, south eastern the United States, floods may not occur at all during some years. In most cases, seasonal flooding in the temperate zone coincides with springtime warming, which some fish species selects for reproduction in this period (Benke et al., 2000).

In contrast, in the tropical continental regions, the flood pulse of lowland rivers is almost universally driven by seasonal precipitation during the rainy season, but in some cases local flooding coincides with local precipitation (upper Orinoco, upper Parana, upper Zambezi and Fly Rivers), whereas in others seasonal flood pulse such as lower Niger, Congo and Solomoes-Amazon River is most strongly influenced by rainfall in distance head water (Winemiller, 2004). In addition, due to the temperature various relatively in little in tropical lowland regions, hydrology is the major factor that drives ecological dynamics and natural selection in respons to environmental variation. The tropical seasonal model has dominated thinking about the ecology of river floodplain river system but the global generality of this pattern and its consequence have scarcely discussed.

Winemiller (2004) identified at least there are three types of river according to their hydrology, temperate with seasonal flood pulse, stochastic flood pulse seasonal flood pulses and tropical with seasonal flood pulse. Global fish richness is strongly related to basin size (Oberdorff et al., 1995). However, fish shows higher taxonomic and ecological diversity in lowland continental rivers of tropic relative to comparable rivers of the temperate region (Winemiller, 1991). Fish have evolved physiological adaptation, life history strategies and spawning and feeding behaviour to cope with these different types of fluctuating flow condition in the river. Anyway, the annual hydrological cycle influences migrations, distribution of many fish species between floodplain and channel, deep pool habitats. The abundance, biomass of floodplain dependent species, and the fish catches that depend on them, fluctuate from year to year depending on the strength of flooding (Welcomme, 2003).
The seasonal change in water level and regime is critically affected on riverine fish distribution, fish migration behaviour as well as the annual catch. Many fish species adapted to take advantage of seasonal flooding by reproducing at the beginning of the wet season, which allows early life stages to feed and growth in inundated floodplain habitat (Lowe-McConnell, 1987). After floodwater recession reduces the availability of aquatic habitat and increases of fish densities and biotic interactions (Zaret & Rand, 1971). Ichthyomass and fish catch are depending on both extend of flooding regime during the high water and amount of water remaining in the system during the dry season. The relationship of catch to flood regime ratio may form the basic of a general index for the evaluation of both year to year variations within a floodplain, and difference between floodplain (Welcomme, 1976).

In the large tropical floodplain river inhabits, migratory fish species which carry out seasonal movements between spatially and temporally separated habitats. Such as in the Mekong River system, most important species in fisheries are greater or lesser extent, migratory or typically move between dry season refuse habitat and flood-season feeding and spawning habitat. Some species only move in short distance between river channels and adjacent flooded areas (Poulsen, 2001).

Seasonal change in water regim in the Cambodian Mekong River System causes two peak migration patterns in a year (Kong et al., 2001). The first peak, takes place from May to July coinciding with water level increasing or when the changes of the climate such as temperature, humidity and wind flow occurs. During that time many of fish species which utilize dry season "fasting" in refuse habitats such as deep pool in some upper part areas in Stung Treng and Kratie provinces that are well known as the critical habitat during the dry season migrates down into flooded-plains and tributaries around the Great lake system in order to using these areas for rearing, spawning and feeding. Second peak migration occurs from the middle of October to February when the water level in the Great Lake starts to release its water via the Tonle Sap River to the low Mekong and Bassac Rivers. Many seasonally migratory species move from the floodplain after spending time for rearing, breeding and growing up to the Mekong River from as far away as the Great Lake and some areas in Vietnamese Mekong Delta (Warren et al., 1998; Baird, 2004). In addition, riverine fish are strongly migrating because of the considerable annual fluctuation of water volume of the system, all or almost fish in the Mekong River system must exhibit migration behaviour patterns, which major movement between spawning ground in inundate forests to the Great Lake and from the Great Lake to the Tonle Sap River and thence to the Mekong, and *vice versa* (Pantulu, 1986).

# 1.3.2. Relationship between the annual hydrological regime and fish yield

Biotic assemblages of aquatic floodplain systems have great potential randomly reshuffle during annual flood period (Hoeighaus et al., 2003). Riverine fish are very mobile, moving long or short distances up and down the river. They respond to the seasonal flood and the increasing of annual water level, which may arrive after the local rain have ceased, by making lateral or longitudinal movements out over floodplain and into its pool. Most riverine fish breed at the start of the flood season, the biomass of fishes increases rapidly during the high water season and a large proportion of it due to the rapid growth of the young of the year (Lowe-McConnell, 1987). Highly predictable seasonal flood (Mathew, 1998). Sasonal fluctuation of water level, known as flood pulses influence the dynamics of fish populations and positively associated with fishery yields (Junk et al., 1989).

Rising water levels trigger fish production processes, as many fish species spawn and migrate laterally out of river channels onto the newly flooded floodplains when water levels rise (Gomes et al., 1997; Castello, 2008). In the floodplains, fish growth and recruitment rates generally increase as fish find protection from predators and abundant plant-based food resources, including algae, detritus, and tree fruits and seeds (Goulding, 1980; Agostinho et al., 2004). Conversely, declining water levels trigger mortality processes by

constraining fish to river channels and floodplain lakes, where increased fish densities intensify predation rates and water quality is often poor (Welcomme, 1979; Matthews & Marsh, 2003). Interannual variability in flood pulses thus influences fishery yields. Previous studies have found that extreme high water years can increase biomass for harvesting in subsequent years by promoting fish recruitment and growth rates. Conversely, extreme low water years can reduce biomass for subsequent harvesting by increasing natural mortality rates (Lagler et al., 1971; Welcomme & Hagborg, 1977; Halls & Welcomme, 2004). Flood pulse indices in a given year have been correlated with annual multispecies yields or standing biomass in subsequent years: 92% in the Niger, 82% in the Shire, 57% in the Kafue and 83% in the Amazon (Welcomme, 1979).

In Cambodian Mekong River system, the environmental factors such as water level, duration of the flood and timing of the flood, regulation of flooding, quality of the flood zone, and dry seasonal refuses as the most critical factors which generally influenced on the annual fish stock and production in the Mekong River basin (Baran & Cain, 2001). In addition, Zalinge (2003) conducted the observation from 1995-2002 at Dai Fishery in the Tonle Sap river on the seasonal pattern of the Mekong flood regime on the height of the Great Lake flooded-plain. This autor indicated that from year to year the variations in maximum of Mekong flood levels are related to the Great Lake flooded-forest inundated strongly affects to the annual fish yield in Cambodia. Similar to Amazone region which was observed that high and low waters in any given year affected fishery yields two and three years later through changes in fish biomass available for harvesting, contributing 18% of the explained variability in yields (Castello et al., 2015). It was observed that the annual fluctuation in water regime in the Cambodian Mekong River system was strongly affected the annual fish production by limiting or increasing the spawning and feeding ground of fishes (Zaling, 2002).

### **1.4.** Interactions or factors influence species pair co-occurrence

Ecologists have tried to understand factors that determine the seasonal change in fish community structure and how they respond to change. More works (e.g. Hugueny & Paugy, 1995; Belliard et al., 1997; González et al., 2009; Sousa & Freitas, 2008; Smith & Petrere, 2008) observed the seasonal change in hydrological cycles and change in habitat characteristics between dry and flood seasons are the main factors in structuring fish community but few studies have examined on how biotic interaction. Recently, ecologists try to increase acknowledge on interspecific biotic interactions can also be important (Wiens, 2011; Wisz et al., 2013) while evidence from the contemporary and palaeoecological studies of individual species ranges, functional groups, and species richness patterns have shown that biotic interactions have clearly left their mark on species distributions and realised assemblages of species across all spatial extents (Wisz et al., 2013)

Furthermore, somes authors (e.g. Werner et al., 1983; Power et al., 1985) indicated that interactions can drive fine scale distributional patterns. At larger scales, most studies suggested that freshwater fish co-occurrence is driven mostly by habitat conditions (Peres-Neto, 2004; Mouillot et al., 2007; Mouchet et al., 2013). However, the relative influence of habitat and biotic interactions are difficult to decouple at large spatial scales. For instance, several studies have found that biotic interactions can be important, but only in certain abiotic contexts (Hoeinghaus et al., 2007; Hein et al., 2014). In other words, perceived effects of interactions at large spatial scales are often artefacts of habitat heterogeneity in which one species is favoured over others in certain conditions (Wenger et al., 2011). Regardless, most research to date suggested that biotic interactions are less useful than abiotic factors for explaining freshwater fish distribution at large spatial scales (Peoples & Frimpong, 2015). Contrasted findings, where some other studies observed that community assembly may be shaped strongly by biotic interactions among species, and particularly by interspecific competition (Chase & Leibold, 2004; MacArthur & Levins, 1967; Schoener, 1974). Nevertheless, the role of interspecific competition in shaping communities is a

complex issue that remains under active investigation and debate. In addressing the role of interspecific competition in community assembly, much work has focused on detecting the signature of competition in species co- occurrence patterns within communities (Gotelli & McCabe, 2002). The central assumption of these analyses is that if competitive interactions scale up to shape community level species distribution patterns, nonrandom patterns of localized species co- occurrence should be observable within a community (Connor & Simberloff, 1979; Diamond, 1975). Therefore, seasonal change in hydrological cycle and species segregation is the main mechanism structuring fish assemblages. With this regards, species interaction and co-occurrence in the same ecological niche may be shared the same food resources within the years.

# 1.5. Seasonal variations in diet composition, diet breadth and dietary overlap in tropical flood pulse system

Animals often shift their diets in response to changes in resource availability (Buren et al., 2012), abiotic environmental conditions (Stuart-Smith et al., 2004), ontogenetic stage (Werner and Hall, 1988), competition (Kie & Bowyer, 1999). Studies on the feeding ecology of fishes have been an important tool to understand ecological patterns such as habitat preference and fish-habitat interactions, which are frequently related to environmental variations and with resource availability and accessibility (Braga et al., 2012; Correa and Winemiller, 2014). In tropical rivers and lakes, flood pulse has found as a driver force fish community assemblages and flood-pulse dynamic in tropical aquatic ecosystems may be an essential element supporting freshwater fish community structure (Pool et al., 2017). This biological and ecological process has influenced on feeding ecology of fishes, resulting in changes in foraging areas and food availability (Junk et al., 1989; Luz-Agostinho et al., 2008; Mortillaro et al., 2015). Thus, diet analysis can reveal important information on the food resources available to fish, particularly across seasons (Persson, 1983; Lobon-Cervia & Rincon, 1994).

Among Neotropical fishes, the tropic relationship is one of the major challenges to understand the ecological mechanisms and how numbers of species are able to coexist in the same community and the manner in which resources are shared (Esteves & Galetti, 1994). Several studies (e.g. Goulding, 1980; Prejs & Prejs, 1987; Olurin et al., 1991; Pouilly et al., 2003; Hahn et al., 2004; Mérona & Mérona, 2004; Pouilly & Rodríguez, 2004; Pouily et al., 2006) have found that the same food resource may be shared by numerous fish species and each species may successively exploit several different sources during the year. Although trophic segregation has been indicated as the main mechanism structuring fish assemblages (Pianka, 1969; Ross, 1986), this may vary according to sites conditions such as seasonality (Bouton et al., 1997). Furthermore, in Neotropical freshwater ecosystems undergo cyclic changes in response to alternating wet and dry seasons. The seasonal change affects the food resources for the fish fauna and may modify the trophic spectrum and the feeding rhythm of the fish, influencing the trophic relationships among species (Araújo-Lima et al., 1995; Winemiller & Jepsen, 1998; Hahn et al., 2004; Yamamoto, 2004). However, resource partitioning and other factors that allow the species to coexist are little understood by ecologist (Esteves & Galetti, 1994; Gerking, 1994; Higgins & Strauss, 2008). Therefore, dietary analysis may reveal important information about trophic dynamics and resource partitioning among fish species (Ross, 1986), especially with regard to environments that are subject to sudden changes, such as streams (Johnson & Arunachalam, 2012).

Furthermore, Lowe-McConnell (1999) has also mentioned that, fish fauna in general showed more specialized diets during the high water season when foods are varied, and lower food overlap values were recorded among species in this period. Also Prejs & Prejs (1987) reported high food overlap in the dry season for fish communities in Venezuelan rivers. Goulding (1980) and Goulding et al. (1988) observed in the Machado and Negro rivers in Amazonas (Brazil) was found similarly. On the other hand, in Panamanian streams observed that, diet overlaps between species were relatively low during the dry season

(Zaret & Rand, 1971), which they attributed to a shortage in food resources. Conversely, Peterson et al. (2017) observed that dietary diversity declined as water levels dropped and availability of aquatic habitats and resources declined, but interspecific dietary overlap was not lower whereas Mérona & Mérona (2004) pointed out that there was no difference in mean overlap for the Rei Lake (Amazonas) fish fauna between seasons.

# 1.6. Specific Objectives

Tonle Sap Lake (TSL) is the largest natural lake and flood pulse system in Souteasth Asia. This lake supports 242 fish species, other threatened and endangered aquatic animals, birds and provides about 60 percent of total inland capture fisheries in Cambodia. Seasonal change in hydrological cycles influence on fish community structure, create heterogeineous habitats for rearing, spawning and growing and as well as influence on annual fisheries production in Cambodia. However, very few efforts focus on seasonal change in TSL's fish community, influences by seasonal change in hydrological cycles and how fish community responds to the changes within the year, particularly how fish species shift their diet according to the seasonal changes of hydrological cycles.

The overall thesis is structured into 4 chapters in order to respond to 4 research objectives. First, is to characterise the temporal variation in the spatial composition of fish communities among six sites within the TSL during 141 weeks, and (2) to identify the determinants of the temporal variations in the contribution of site and species to spatial variation in community composition. According that we found in the first chapter that TSL is characterized by high fish species diversity and notably changed in habitat conditions across hydrological cycles, the second chapter is to explore the temporal pattern of the most occurred fish species and their co-occurrence pattern in the TSL floodplain lakes throughout four years' hydrological cycles. Third, we examine seasonally wet-dry tropical river floodplains as a model system in order to investigate the response of fish trophic position for 4 common carnivorous fishes to regular variation in the environment. Last, this study aimed

to describe the seasonal variations of the diet and feeding overlap of three different life cycles, common, abundant and commercially important fish species whithin the TSL (*Anabas testudineus, Boesemania microplepis* and *Notopterus notopterus*).

# 2. Materials and Methods 2.1. Study sites

The Tonle Sap Lake (TSL) is a reversal flow lake system and one of the Cambodia's most important natural resources, which is the largest natural flood pulse lake in Southeast Asia (Fig. 1). The TSL formed by the subsistence about 5,000 - 5,600 years ago. The Lake's biodiversity is in term of variety and abundance of species, as well as the extraordinarily complex and diverse interactions of the physical, biological and human system. The TSL receives around 50 percent of water discharge from the upper Mekong originating from the snow melt of the Tibetan Plateau and in addition, from the local rainfall surrounding the lake itself. The TSL system is a centre of Cambodian fishery production and it is globally significant, being nominated as a Biosphere Reserve in 1997 under the Man and Biosphere Program of UNESCO. A remarkable natural phenomenon that occurs on an annual basis makes the TSL and its system rich sources of freshwater fish in the world. TSL is connected with the Mekong in its southern part by a 120 km long river, the Tonle Sap River (TSR), which serves as an inlet and outlet for water fluxes. The lake expands to 4-6 times from the 2,700 km<sup>2</sup> (equals to 0.5 million hectares) to 9,000-16,000 km<sup>2</sup> (1.0 to 1.3 million hectares) and the water level increase from 1 or 2 meters in dry season up to 10-15 meters during the rainy season and covers about 5-8 percent of land area of Cambodia during the rainy season. The TSL's hydrological cycle was divided into four phases. The first phase (rising season) takes place from July to early September and is characterised by a strong water feed coming from the upper Mekong through the TSR and during which the water level strongly increases. The second phase (the wet season) lasts from the end of September to the end of October, and corresponds to a phase where about 1.3 million hectares of forest, shrublands, grasslands and agricultural lands are submerged. At this period the water level may attain up to 15 meters. The third phase (the receding season) occurs from the end of October to February, and is characterized by the reversal of the TSR flowing from the TSL to the China Sea in the south, resulting in a decrease of the water level of the lake. Finally, the

fourth phase (the dry season) lasts from April to May, and corresponds to the period where the water level is the lowest (i.e. 1 to 2 m).



**Fig. 1.** Map of the study site around the Tonle Sap Lake (TSL) and in the Tonle Sap River (TSR). Red point indicates study sites around the TSL and on the Tonle Sap River.

## 2.2. Data collection

Daily catch monitoring data were derived from the Mekong River Commission (MRC), under the Assessment of Mekong Fisheries Component of the MRC Fisheries Program, and stable isotope and stomach content data was obtained from the Fisheries Administration and Maintaining productivity and incomes in the Tonle Sap fishery in the face of climate change (TLSCC)- Belmont forum project, funded by ANR.

First, the study on spatio-temporal variation of fish taxonomic composition in a South-East Asian flood-pulse system was relied on daily fish catches were monitored at five sites located around the TSL and one site on the TSR (Fig 1). Two sites located in the northern part of the lake (Siem Reap [SR] and Battambang [BB]) while three sites namely Kampong Chhnang (KC), Kampong Thom (KT) and Pursat (PS) were located in its southern part. Another study catch monitoring site was located in the TSR (Kandal [KD]).

Second, the study on temporal distribution and species co- occurrence patterns of the most occurrence fish species in the Tonle Sap Lake Flood Pulse System was conducted only at five sites around the lake, namely KC, KT, SR, BB and PS. The reason of selecting five studied sites around the lake was due to the fact that we would like to better understand how the most occurred species responds to the seasonal change in hydrological cycles and how effect of heterogeneous habitat created by lateral connectivity act on species co-occurrence.

Third and fourth, data collection for the study on seasonal omnivory: the response of consumer trophic position to fluctuating environments and the study on seasonal variations in diet composition, diet breadth and dietary overlap between three commercially important fish species within a flood-pulse system was carried out under the collaboration between Inland Fisheries Research and Development Institute (IFReDI), Fisheries Administration and Maintaining productivity and incomes in the Tonle Sap fishery in the face of climate change (TLSCC)- Belmont forum project, funded by ANR. Stable isotope and stomach contents data were collected as part of a broader research effort involving surveys at multiple locations around the Tonle Sap (Siem Reap, Kampong Chhnang, Kampong Thom and Pursat Provinces; see Pool et al. 2017) during both seasons. This study was mainly focused on two data collection methods at four sites located around the lake. (i). tissue for stable isotopes were collected from 28 fish species sampled from November 2010 to April 2015 using multipanel gill nets or by purchasing fish from local fishers or lakeside markets. Samples of aquatic invertebrate taxa used as baseline indicators of benthic and pelagic secondary production were sampled with dip nets and plankton nets. All samples were dried, homogenized and weighed into tin capsules before being analyzed for  $\delta^{15}N$  via a Costech

ECS 4010 Elemental Analyzer coupled to a ThermoFinnigan MAT 253 isotope ratio mass spectrometer. (ii). The data collection for stomach content study was carried out at the same location where the collection of fish for stable isotope studies. Fish specimen for gut content study was conducted from June 2014 to March 2015 by local fishermen using gillnets with varying mesh sizes (2 to 6.5 cm), heights (1.5 to 2 m) and lengths (250 to 300 m), to capture individuals with varying sizes. Gillnets were deployed during the night and were let in the water for eight to ten hours. At least 20 specimens were collected and measured for each species and seasons in order to obtain a sufficient sample size for statistical inferences. To account for spatial variation in resource distribution in TLS and low local abundance in some cases, the specimens were collected at four locations: Kompong Thom (KT), Siem Reap (SR), Pursat (PS) and Kompong Chnang (KC).

## 2.3. Data analysis

## 2.3.1. Spatio-temporal variation of fish taxonomic composition

To reduce the influence of rare and occasional species on the data analysis, daily catch monitoring data were aggregated into weekly data and therefore we have 141 weekly catch monitoring data for the completed two hydrological cycles.

# 2.3.1.1. Spatio-temporal variation of fish communities: contribution of sites and species

Weekly data were computed the total variance of the site-by-species community matrix as an estimate of beta diversity (BDTotal) and then partitioned this measure into Local Contribution to Beta Diversity (LCBD) and Species Contribution to Beta Diversity (SCBD), following Legendre & De Cáceres (2013). LCBD are comparative indicators of the ecological uniqueness of the sampling units and indicate how much each site contributes to beta diversity. Thus, a site with average and common species composition is expected to have a value of zero whereas large values indicate sites with different communities. Such large values may either indicate a site with a high conservation value or, on the contrary, degraded or species poor sites with a need for restoration. On the other hand, SCBD indice indicates how much each species is contributing to beta diversity. Thus, a species present in all assemblages has a value of zero whereas species with large values are those that are present in only a few locations. LCBD and SCBD values were computed for each week from community composition matrices transformed using the Hellinger transformation (i.e. a measure of the dissimilarity in the species composition among locations). To test for differences in LCBD values computed for each week between the six sites, we used Kruskall-Wallis non-parametric analysis of variance followed by multiple comparisons Tukey post-tests to test for differences between each pair of sites. We further used a hierarchical cluster analysis to determine whether LCBD values calculated for each week and the different sites (i.e. the sampling units) could be grouped based on their similarity.

## 2.3.1.2. Determinants of temporal variation in LCBD and SCBD values

We used the Euclidian distance as a measure of similarity among the sampling units and sampling units were then aggregated using the Ward's method. Finally, compositional changes in fish com- munities were examined using non-metric multidimensional scaling which is a rank based method attempting to represent the pairwise dissimilarity between sampling units in a two dimensional space. Determinants of temporal variation in LCBD and SCBD values. We used multiple linear regressions to explain temporal variation in LCBD values at each site. Three variables were included as predictors in each model (one for each site): the site specific richness, the local abundance (i.e. the sum of abundances of all species) and the water level (measured at PS for sites located within the lake and measured at KD otherwise). These three variables were log(x+1) transformed prior to analysis to reduce the skewness of their distribution. A quadratic term was also included for each predictor to allow for non-linear responses. From the complete model, we used a stepwise procedure based on the Akaike information criterion (AIC) to select the predictors that best explained temporal variation in LCBD values. The model retained was the one with the lowest AIC. From the selected models, we performed hierarchical partitioning to assess the relative contribution of each predictor.

Because SCBD is based on species and not sites, we have as many time series of SCBD indices as the total number of species sampled (i.e. 242). To avoid building and interpreting 242 linear models and because of the presence of a large number of zeroes for most species (i.e. rare species), we calculated for each week the number of species that contributed to total beta diversity above the mean of the entire pool of species. This was done by centering SCBD values for each week and keeping only the species with positive signs (Legendre & De Cáceres, 2013). We then used the same procedure as above and considered as predictors the water level, the overall species richness and the total abundances (i.e. measured over the six sites for each week) as well as their quadratic terms. We then used hierarchical partitioning to assess the relative contribution of each predictor. All annalyses were performed within the R environment software (RCore Team, 2013), using the packages vegan (Oksanen et al., 2015), hier.part (Walsh & MacNally, 2013) and the function beta.div described in (Legendre & De Cáceres, 2013).

# 2.3.2. Temporal distribution and species co-occurrence patterns of fish species in the Tonle Sap Lake Flood Pulse System

Only species occurring in at least 10% of the catch were used. Consequently, among the 242 fish species present in the database, 39 species were used here. Those species encompass five orders and 12 families (S1 Table) and correspond to more than 80% of total catch, totaling 10,320,691 individuals (BB=2,226,969; KC=3,056,632, KT=2,511,647;

PS=1,384,144 and KC=1,145,299). Daily catch data were aggregated into weekly data, thus resulting in 209 weekly catch data in total.

We used bubble plot on the weekly abundance data to investigate the temporal variation according to the change in hydrological cycles and the weekly abundance data were transformed to presence and absence data for investigating species occurrence. We used non-metric multidimensional scaling (NMDS) with dissimilarities between sampling units computed using Bray-Curtis distances (Bray & Curtis, 1957) to illustrate temporal changes in fish communities. We then performed Ward hierarchical clustering on the NMDS scores to identify groups of species based on abundance dissimilarities. Both analyses were performed using the package vegan (Oksanen et al., 2015) within the R environment software. We used a probabilistic approach to analyse species co-occurrence patterns. Basically, this approach compares species co-occurrence on observed sites to the distribution expected if the species were distributed independently from each other (Veech, 2013). It overall tests whether pairwise associations between species are random or significantly non-random, and whether significant associations are higher or lower than expected. Note that this approach only tests co-occurrence between two species and thus do not account for the fact that additional species may influence species occurrence. The simulated random data used for comparisons in this study were thirty-nine species with a 10 probability of occurrence during the period of five years were included in the analysis. This analysis was performed using the package "cooccur" (Griffith et al., 2016) and was run on the entire dataset (i.e. across the four hydrological cycles) as well as for each season (i.e. dry, wet, receding, and rising seasons). From the results, we generated heat maps to visualize species pairwise associations.

# 2.3.3. Seasonal omnivory: the response of consumer trophic position to fluctuating environments

Stable isotopes are expressed as delta values ( $\delta$ ) in permil (‰) relative to the international standard for nitrogen (atmospheric air). To identify the dietary drivers of observed seasonal shifts in  $\delta^{15}$ N-based trophic positions, stomach contents data were analyzed for 4 fish species (Table 1) that are considered piscivores with flexible diets that can include invertebrates and are reported as the proportion of fish, invertebrate and plant material by weight relative to total stomach contents weight (see Appendix 1 for more detail). Fish with completely empty stomachs were excluded (see Table S2 for sample size and body lengths).

We applied the following single source equation to calculate fish trophic positions

(Eqn 1) TP<sub>consumer</sub> = 2+  $\delta^{15}N_{consumer}$ - $\delta^{15}N_{baseline}$  / TDF

where  $\delta^{15}N_{\text{baseline}}$  is the mean  $\delta^{15}N$  of all baseline samples (primary consumers) in each season (5.92 ‰ in the wet season, 6.15 ‰ in the dry season) and  $\delta^{15}N_{\text{consumer}}$  is the  $\delta^{15}N$ value for an individual fish. TDF (trophic discrimination factor) is scaled to account for lower discrimination in strictly carnivorous vs. more omnivorous fish. The seasonal shift in trophic position was calculated for each of the 28 species as the mean dry minus the mean wet trophic position. Positive values, therefore, supported our prediction of lower trophic positions in the wet season. Effect sizes with pooled standard deviations and 95% confidence intervals (Coe 2002) were calculated to explore variation around mean values for trophic position shifts. We then explored how the mean shift in seasonal trophic position related to mean body size across the 28 species using quadratic regression. Seasonal changes in each of the three stomach contents response variables (proportional weight of invertebrate, fish and plant material) were then explored using data for individual fish belonging to each of the 4 species, and analyzed using zero-inflated beta regression (due to the presence of zeros in the data) in R package zoib (Liu and Kong 2015). We included season (wet and dry) and total body length as explanatory variables, and included both species and sampling location as random intercepts. To determine whether findings from the Tonle Sap are consistent with evidence from other tropical floodplains, we reviewed literature accounts to obtain fish trophic data recorded during different phases of the annual flood pulse. We focused this analysis on piscivores, especially those that sometimes include invertebrates in their diet. Each report for a single species or trophic guild constituted a single 'evidence item', with a total of 29 evidence items extracted from the 10 data sources that met our inclusion criteria.

# 2.3.4. Seasonal variations in diet composition, diet breadth and dietary overlap between three commercially important fish species within a flood-pulse system: the Tonle Sap Lake

Because the proportion of empty stomachs can provide information on resource availability and the ability of species to forage during periods of shortage (Arrington et al., 2002) we tested for seasonal variations in the proportion of empty stomachs using a chisquare test. For non-empty stomachs, we used an analysis of similarity (ANOSIM) to test for significant differences in the diet of species between the wet (from July to October) and the dry seasons (from December to May) followed by an analysis of similarity percentages (SIMPER) to assess the contribution of food items to the observed variations (Clarke, 1993). We focused on differences between the wet and the dry season because considering the four seasons would have implied to perform multiple tests (i.e. six for each species), necessitating p-values adjustments and thus a decrease in statistical power. Both analyses were based on a dissimilarity matrix built with Bray-Curtis distances to account for the large proportion of zeros in the community matrix. The ANOSIM statistic vary between zero and one and compares the mean of ranked dissimilarities between groups to the mean of ranked dissimilarities within groups. A value close to one suggests dissimilarity between groups, while a value close to zero suggests an even distribution of high and low ranks within and between groups. The SIMPER analysis is based on the decomposition of the Bray -Curtis dissimilarity matrix and aim to assess the contribution of food items (or species) to the observed dissimilarities. For this analysis, we grouped food items into six broader categories (fish, insects, crustaceans, plants, mollusks and micro-fauna) following (Winemiller, 1990; Winemiller et al., 1995). The importance of each category within the diet was established as its average FOC divided by the sum of the average FOC of all categories and was calculated by species and seasons. To explore interspecific differences in diet composition across the four seasons, we used non-metric multidimensional scaling [NMDS, (Faith et al., 1987)]. This indirect gradient analysis approach uses rank order values to visualize and interpret differences between species, ultimately representing pairwise differences between samples in a low-dimensional space. The similarity between sampling units was calculated using Bray-Curtis distances. Beyond this graphical approach, we computed different statistics to evaluate and test how interspecific differences in diet varied across seasons. First, we used a multivariate homogeneity of group dispersions (Anderson, 2006) with 1000 permutations to (i) measure the diet breadth of each species in each season and (ii) test for interspecific differences in each season. In this analysis, diet breadth is estimated as the average distance of prey items to the group centroid within the multivariate space described by the NMDS with larger values indicative of a broader diet. The values by themselves have no ecological meaning but can be compared to determine to which extent diet breadth is changing between species and season. Second, we computed Pianka's symmetric index (Pianka, 1973) to measure niche overlap in diet composition between each pair of species in each season. Here, a value close to zero indicates no overlap whereas a value close to one indicates a strong overlap. To test the statistical significance of dietary overlap between each pair of species in each season, we conducted a bootstrap procedure by randomly sampling the rows of the community matrix. This procedure was repeated 1000 times and generated a distribution of Pianka's index for each pair of species under the null hypothesis that there is no variation in dietary overlap across seasons. For a given pair of species, we assessed the statistical significance of dietary overlap in each season by comparing the observed value to

the 95% confidence intervals of the corresponded distribution. All analyses were performed in R (R Core Team, 2014) using the package vegan (Oksanen et al., 2015).

# 3. Main Results 3.1. Spatio-temporal variation of fish taxonomic structure

Among the six studied sites and the 141-week samples, 12,455,409 individuals, belonging to 242 species, 123 genera and 49 families were captured (Annex 1). The number of species captured ranged from 2 to 53 while the number of individuals ranged from 9 to 352,594. Species richness and total abundances were both higher in KT relative to the other sites whereas there was a trend toward lower values in KD (Fig 2). In Table 1 we show the means and standard errors of the number of individuals captured within the six sampling sites for the 20 most abundant species.



**Fig. 2.** Boxplots representing weekly species richness (a) and total abundances (b) at each site (for site code, see Fig.1). The horizontal black line represents the median whereas red points indicate the mean.

Species	BB	KC	KD	KT	PS	SR
Anabas testudineus	28±1.8	9.6±1.3	0.1±0	58±3.2	34.1±2	34.7±3.2
Cyclocheilichthys armatus	6±1.1	32.4±9.1	0.1±0	56.4±4.4	1.4±0.3	51.8±2.2
Henicorhynchus lobatus	95.6±10.7	171.6±15.5	497.5±77.7	285±15.2	56.3±3	58.2±3.2
Henicorhynchus siamensis	132.2±16.1	131.8±13.7	87.8±13.9	415.3±21.5	56.6±2.7	43.5±1.9
Labeo chrysophekadion	2±0.2	13.8±2.7	1.2±0.1	52.5±5	41.6±1.9	2±0.3
Labiobarbus lineatus	13.1±1.6	142.3±15.9	-	144.4±13.9	50.2±2.3	37.3±2.3
Labiobarbus siamensis	34.6±6.2	9.4±2	112.3±20.7	36.3±3	44.3±2.2	41.7±2.1
Mystus albolineatus	55±6.3	5.7±1	-	65.7±4.1	-	1.4±0.6
Mystus mysticetus	73.4±6.6	35.1±3.7	0.8±0.2	38.7±3.4	44.8±2.6	74.2±3.3
Mystus singaringan	31.3±2.5	52.7±6.2	0.3±0	53±3.9	14.2±1.4	34.7±2.2
Osteochilus vittatus	95.8±7.8	67.4±5.9	0.1±0	194.2±7.2	57.2±2.4	84.1±3
Pangasius macronema	2±1.7	2.6±0.5	59.1±3.6	12.2±1.8	2.4±0.3	0.4±0.2
Paralaubuca riveroi	-	-	171.9±33.6	-	-	-
Paralaubuca typus	26.4±4.4	102.8±8	139.8±30	19.9±2.3	16.3±1.3	28.6±2.3
Poropuntius deauratus	-	130.9±9.4	-	2.6±0.8	0.9±0.5	-
Puntioplites proctozysron	24.3±1.6	37.9±2.4	-	88.8±5.8	44.8±1.8	126.6±4. 1
Rasbora tornieri	11.1±2.6	219±12.5	1±0.2	1.5±0.5	1.4±0.3	7.7±1.6
Trichopodus microlepis	334.4±17.1	9.8±1.1	-	15.6±3	43.7±2.6	57.6±3.8
Trichopodus trichopterus	364.4±18.1	25.5±2.1	-	114.2±7.5	74.2±4	56.8±2.5
Xenentodon cancila	-	175.5±8.7	3.3±0.9	0.5±0.2	0.6±0.2	-

 Table 1. Means and standard errors of the number of individuals captured for the 20 most abundant species found in our samples.

# 3.1.1. Spatial and temporal variation of beta diversity

All sites and weeks confounded, LCBD values ranged between 0.08 and 0.31. Kruskall-Wallis revealed significant differences in LCBD values among sites (chi-squared=5487.62, df=5, P<0.001). Tukey post-tests revealed that LCBD values were higher in KD (median=0.244; sd=0.027) comparing to the other sites. The lowest values were

observed in KT (median=0.124; sd=0.021), SR (median=0.13; sd=0.021) and PS (median=0.13; sd=0.027) (Fig. 3). BB (median=0.181; sd=0.031) and KC (median=0.177; sd=0.04) displayed intermediate values (Fig. 3). The similarity trend of LCBD values allowed to group samples into four clusters (Fig. 4a). The two first clusters were mainly represented by BB and PS whereas the third one mainly represented KD, KT and SR while the fourth cluster was representative of KC (Fig. 4b).



**Fig. 3.** Boxplots representing among site variation in LCBD values. The horizontal black line represents the median whereas red points indicate the mean. For site code, see Fig.1.



**Fig. 4.** Similarity amongLCBD values. (a) Hierarchical clustering of LCBD values according to their similarity (Euclidian distance) with the Ward's aggregation criteria. (b) Twodimensional space defined by a non-metric multidimensional scaling (NMDS) approach representing the position of LCBD values and sites. In (a) and (b), the different colors represent the four groups identified by the cluster analysis. For site code, see Fig 1.

Among the 141 weeks considered, KT, PS and SR never displayed significant LCBD values, thus indicating that fish taxonomic structure in these sites do not explain temporal variation of fish community composition across the two hydrological cycles (Fig. 5). In contrast, BB, KC and KD had respectively 4.2%, 14.9% and 65.2% of their weeks that displayed significant LCBD values indicating strong temporal variation regarding the uniqueness of fish community structure within these three sites.



**Fig. 5.** Temporal evolution of LCBD values and water level (m) over the study period for the six sites considered. The red dots indicate weeks with significant LCBD values (corrected for multiple comparisons). For site code, see Fig.1.

More than 50% (i.e. 127) of the species contributed to beta diversity above the mean relative to the 242 species for at least one week (Fig. 6). Among them, 26 species contributed to beta diversity above the mean for more than 50% of the weeks (Supporting information, Annex 2), thus indicating a rather stable contribution of these species to spatial variation of community composition over time. Those species were mostly non-migratory (61%) with specific habitat requirements such as permanent lakes or reservoirs (Annex 2).



Fig. 6. Barplot representing the number of weeks where specific species contributed to beta diversity above the mean relative to the entire pool of species. The horizontal dashed line represents 50% of weeks. For species code, see Annex 1.

# 3.1.2. Determinants of variation in LCBD and SCBD values

Regarding to the temporal variation of LCBD values, we found that the influence of predictors greatly varied depending on the considered sites (Table 2). Species richness was positively related to LCBD values at BB and KC but the opposite was found at PS and KT. Furthermore, a non-linear influence of species richness (i.e. significant quadratic term) was detected at BB and KD. The influence of total abundances on LCBD values also varied depending on the site considered; a negative relationship was found at KT, SR and PS whereas a positive one was found at KD. Also, three sites (KT, PS and KD) had their LCBD values that were non-linearly influenced by total abundances. The water level was linearly related to LCBD values at BB and KD with positive and negative relationships, respectively. These two sites plus PS had their LCBD values that were non-linearly influenced by the water level. The hierarchical partitioning (Table 2) demonstrated that the species richness had the highest independent contribution in KT (61.6%), KD (36.4%) and KC (100%),

whereas total abundances presented the highest independent contribution in PS (67.4%) and SR (82.6%). Finally, the water level had the highest independent contribution only for BB (74.4%). Whatever the predictor considered, their contribution varied greatly depending on sites. For instance, the contribution of total abundances to the total variance varied from 12.8% in KT to 82.6% in SR. When considered in combination, the two biotic variables (species richness and total abundances) explained more than 65.3% of the total variance except in BB (25.5%).

**Table 2.** Results ontained from the stepwise procedure with coefficients associated to the model selected based on the Akaike Information criterion. (-) indicate that the predictor was not pertinent enough to explain temporal variation in the dependent variable. The models above the double line are related to temporal variation in LCBD values at each site whereas the model below the double line is related to the temporal evolution of the number of species which presented SCBD values above the mean relative to the other species. WL= water level; SR= local species richness; AB= local abundance. <sup>2</sup> denote quadratic terms. For site code, see Fig 1.

Sites	Intercept	WL	WL <sup>2</sup>	SR	SR <sup>2</sup>	AB	AB <sup>2</sup>	R²
КТ	0.26	4.2×10E-02	-1.6×10E-02	-	-3.9×10E-03	-3.1×10E-02	2.0×10E-3	0.27
SR	0.19	-3.0×10E-02	1.1×10E-2	-	-	-	6.5×10E-04	0.16
BB	-0.06	5.4×10E-02	-2.4×10E-02	1.7×10E-01	-3.3×10E-02	-	-	0.15
PS	0.03	5.0×10E-03	-	-4.1×10E-03	-	4.8×10E-02	-3.7×10E-03	0.45
KD	0.29	-5.5×10E-02	2.6×10E-02	-	7.6×10E-03	-4.0×10E-02	2.3×10E-03	0.29
KC	0.22	-	-	3.9×10E-03	-	-	-	0.06
Nsp	-295.1	-	-	202.0	-22.7	-19.7	0.8	0.29

Regarding the temporal variation of the number of species that contributed to total beta diversity above the mean of the entire pool of species (SCBD values above the mean after centering), the water level was not included in the selected model (Table 3). The selected

model included a positive relationship with the species richness and a negative one with total abundances, thus reflecting the opposite effect of these two predictors on the number of species contributing to beta diversity. We further found a non-linear influence of both species richness and total abundances. The hierarchical partitioning revealed a very high contribution of the species richness with more than 80% of the variance explained (Table 3).

**Table 3.** Hierarchical partitioning indicating the relative contribution (in percentage; %LI) of each predictor to the variance explained by the models presented in Table 2. WL = water level; SR = local species richness; AB= local abundances. <sup>2</sup> denote quadratic terms. For site code, see Fig.1.

	%LI						
Sites	WL	WL <sup>2</sup>	SR	SR <sup>2</sup>	AB	AB <sup>2</sup>	
KT	11.3	14.3	-	61.6	6.4	6.4	
SR	7.8	9.6	-	-	-	82.6	
BB	31.5	42.9	11.9	13.7	-	-	
PS	2.9	-	29.7	-	32.7	34.7	
KD	14.7	20.0	-	36.4	16.4	12.5	
KC	-	-	-	100.0	-	-	
Nsp	-	-	41.8	39.7	9.6	8.7	

# 3.2. Temporal distribution and species co-occurrence patterns of fish species in the Tonle Sap Lake flood pulse system

## 3.2.1. Temporal distribution of fishes according to hydrological cycles

Weekly species occurrence (Figure 7a) and abundance (Figure 7b) greatly varied across the four seasons. Generally, species occurrence was higher during the high and the receding water seasons, although opposite patterns exist for some species such as Labiobarbus leptocheilus (Lale) and Poropuntius deauratus (Pode). Strong seasonal variations were also visible regarding abundances with some species presenting particularly strong variations (e.g. Trichohodus trichopterus (Trtr), Mystus mysticetus (Mymy); Figure 7b). The results from the NMDS analysis revealed seasonal variations in community composition (Fig. 7c; axis two). Species assemblages seem to be quite different between the receding and the rising seasons. Species like Pode, Paralaubuca typus (Paty) or Puntioplites proctozysron (Pupr) were mostly associated with the receding water season, whereas species like Mystus bocourti (Mybo), Boesemania.microlepis (Bomi) and Pangasianodon hypophthalmus (Pahy) were mainly associated with the rising water season. The hierarchical clustering revealed that seasonal change in hydrological cycle is the main driver in seasonal variation of fish assemblages, thus fish community were classified into four assemblages (Fig 7d).



**Fig. 7.** Seasonal pattern of species distribution according to hydrological cycle of TSL. (a): Temporal change in species occurrence, (b): Temporal change in species abundance;

(c): species composition derived from nonmetric multidimensional scaling [stress: 0.18] and (d): Hierarchical clustering dendrogram of the NMDS scores using the Euclidian similarity matrix and Ward agglomeration method. Species abbreviation are in Annex 2: Table S2.

## 3.2.2. Co-occurrence of fish species

Result from the co-occurrence analysis performed on the whole dataset revealed 25.5% non-random pairwise associations among the 705 species pair considered (Table 4). Among those, 121 were positive, while 59 were negative (Fig. 8a). This analysis further revealed that two non-migratory species [i.e. Puntioplites proctozysron (Pupr) and Anabas testudineus (Ante)] and two migratory species [i.e. Henicorhynchus siamensis (Hesi) and Henicorhynchus lobatus (Helo)] show no particular association with any other species. By contrast, other species such as Thynnichthys thynnoides (Thth), Parambassi wolffi (Pawo) or Hemibagrus spilopterus (Hesp) were consistently positively associated with other species. No species only showed negative associations. Positive associations were found among migratory species which use the ecological nice and different feeding tropic [i.e. Paralaubuca typus (Paty), Pangasius larnaudii (Pala), Osteochilus melanople (Osme) and Amblyrhynchichthys truncates (Amtr)], between migratory and non-migratory species [e.g. Pangasius.larnaudii (Pala) and Parambassis apogonoides (Paap), Paralaubuca typus (Paty) and Xenentodon cancila (Xeca)] and among non-migratory species which use different feeding tropic [i.e. Hampala macrolepidota (Hama), Rasbora tornieri (Rato) and Xenentodon cancila (Xeca)].

		ine ualase		-asun.	
					Percentage non-
Periods	Sites	Positive	Negative	Random co-occurrence	random
Dry	52	49	31	586	12.00
Rising	35	23	20	597	6.70
Wet	52	43	25	633	9.70
Receding	70	59	28	622	12.30
Whole	209	121	59	525	25.50

**Table 4.** Summary of the co-occurrence analysis performed on the whole dataset and a subset of the dataset for each season.

The same analysis performed for each season revealed that positive associations were overall more frequent than negative associations in all seasons (Fig. 8b). Random associations were maximized during the rising and the wet seasons, while they were minimized during the receding and the dry seasons (Table 4). Some species like *Mystus singaringan* (Mymy), *Labiobarbus siamensis* (Lasi) *or Labiobarbus lineatus* (Lali) were most involved into negative interactions (Fig 8b).



Fig. 8. Overall head map of pairwise species co-occurrence from the probabilistic model according to the four hydrological cycles. Species names are positioned to indicate the columns and rows that represent their pairwise relationships with other species. Abbreviation species in Annex 2. Red color indicates migration species and black color non-migratory species. IN= Increase water level season, HW= High water season level and DW= Decrease water level season, LW= Low water level season. Species abbreviation are Annex 2.

# 3.3. Seasona omnivory: the response of consumer tropic position to fluctuation environment

# 3.3.1. Tonle Sap fishes

Seasonal shifts in trophic position (mean dry – mean wet, for each of the 28 species) ranged from -0.51 to 0.64 and exhibited a hump-shaped relationship with mean body length based on quadratic regression (Fig. 9A), but was not statistically significant (P=0.08). Nonetheless, 8 species had seasonal trophic position shifts whose effect size  $\pm$  95% CI did not cross zero (Fig. 9A, Annex 3), and these 8 species followed the trend indicated by the quadratic regression. Specifically, mid-sized species (body size 108 to 220 mm) shifted towards lower wet-season trophic positions (positive values in Fig. 9A), whereas smaller and larger species exhibited the opposite trend (negative values in Fig. 9A). Baseline aquatic invertebrates (Table S3) and terrestrial invertebrates (e.g. spiders, beetles; data not shown) had lower  $\delta^{15}$ N values than the 28 fish species from the Tonle Sap (Annex 3), confirming that greater consumption of invertebrates reduces trophic position in this system.

For the 4 species with stomach contents data, diets were dominated by fish and invertebrates with some plant material present (Annex 4). Zero-inflated beta regression revealed that the probability of invertebrates being eaten increased during the wet season and decreased with fish length. This is indicated by the parameter b0[2] (Annex 5), which shows a significant negative effect on the probability of zero (i.e. nothing is eaten), whereas length had a negative effect on the probability of invertebrate consumption (b[2] in Annex 5). Thus, smaller fish (i.e. *Anabas testudineus* and *Notopterus notopterus*) consumed significantly more invertebrates than larger, more piscivorous fish (i.e. *Channa* spp.), and the probability of invertebrates being eaten was significantly higher during the wet season (Fig. 9B). Season did not have a significant effect on the probably of plants or fish being eaten (Annex 5).



Fig. 9. A) Shift in the mean trophic position between seasons (i.e. mean dry – mean wet) for 28 Tonle Sap species spanning a range in body sizes (mean total length, mm). Species with large and significant seasonal shifts in trophic position (i.e. effect sizes whose 95% CI did not bound zero, Table S1) are indicated by symbols with thick black borders. Species with accompanying stomach contents data are abbreviated as follows: A= *Anabas testudineus*, N= *Notopterus notopterus*, Cs=*Channa striata*, Cm= *Channa micropeltes*. The grey line on represents zero shift in seasonal trophic position. B) Proportional consumption of invertebrates (by weight relative to total stomach contents) for specimens of four fish species (left) and combined data across species (right) during wet and dry seasons. Data points are jittered as per Weissberger et al. (2015) to reveal the presence of zeros. Mean invertebrate consumption by each species during each season is shown as a bar.

### 3.3.2. Result of literature review

Out of the 29 evidence items, seasonal diet information was provided for 28 cases and <sup>15</sup>N values were provided for 1 case (Table 5). Eleven evidence items supported the hypothesis of increased plant or invertebrate consumption during the wet-season flood pulse (Table 5). For the remaining 18 evidence items, 5 cases reported increased consumption of plants and invertebrates during the dry season or increased consumption of fish during the wet season (the opposite of our prediction), and 13 cases reported fish dominating the diet throughout the year. For classification purposes, we refer to species as 'omnivores' when their stomachs contained multiple prey types (invertebrates or plants and fish) and 'piscivores' when their stomachs contained >97% fish. Maximum body sizes of each species reported in the literature (actual body lengths of fish sampled in each study were not always provided for comparison) were smaller in omnivores (mean  $\pm$  SD = 43  $\pm$  71 and 21  $\pm$  15 cm with and without Wallago attu, a large food-chain omnivore, respectively; Annex 3) than piscivores (55  $\pm$  23 cm; Table 5). This pattern derived from the broader literature, whereby predators that predominantly reduced their trophic position in the wet season were smallerbodied than those that fed on different types of fish all year, agrees with the pattern revealed by Tonle Sap isotopic data (Fig. 9A).

**Table 5.** Data extracted from a literature review performed to explore seasonal diet changes in tropical floodplain piscivorous food-chain omnivores. Reported maximum total body length (cm), dominant prey items and quantitative contribution to diet, when provided, are reported for each study, as is whether each study provided support for our hypothesis (i.e. lower trophic positions in the wet vs. dry season) or no support (no difference in trophic position or higher trophic positions in the wet season). References 5 and 8 classified fish prey by species and the functional group of the main fish prey consumed is provided in parentheses. Species with multiple prey types (fish plus invertebrates and/or plants) are noted as food chain-omnivores 'O' and species with >97% fish in their stomachs are listed as piscivores 'P'.

Species	Max. length	Dry season diet	Wet season diet	Lower TP in wet?	O or P	Ref.
Fish community	NA	Significantly higher $\delta^{15}$ N by 1.45‰	Lower $\delta^{15}N$	Support	NA	1
Fish community	NA	5% aquatic inverts, 20% fish	18% aquatic inverts, 10% fish	Support	NA	2
Fish community	NA	Fish prey dominate	Plant and invertebrate prey dominate	Support	NA	3
Fish community	NA	29% invert., 25% detritus, 20% fish	30% invert., 17% detritus, 23% fish	No support	NA	4
Serrasalminae sp.	NA	Fish	Terrestrial plant matter and fish	Support	0	5
Hemigrammus marginatus	4.5	73% fish, 24% plant, 0.2% invert.	0% fish, 20% plant, 60% invert.	Support	0	6
Moenkhausia collettii	5	Invertebrates and fish	Invertebrates	Support	0	5
Hypselecara coryphaenoide	s 16	Fish	Invertebrates	Support	0	5
Serrasalmus marginatus	27	99% fish, 1% detritus	93% fish, 7% invert.	Support	Ρ	6
Serrasalmus gouldingi	28	64% fish, 12% fruits/seeds,10% arthropods	45% fish, 40% fruits/seeds, 8% arthropods	Support	0	7
Hoplarchus psittacus	32	Fish	Aquatic invert. and fish	Support	0	5
Pimelodus maculatus	51	50% fish, 25% plants	32% fish, 57% plants	Support	0	6
Aphyocharax dentatus	7.2	33% invert., 16% fish	5% invert., 87% fish	No support	0	6
Pimelodella gracilis	18	21% plants, 15% fish, 14% invert.	2% plant, 67% fish, 26% invert.	No support	0	6
Pimelodus argenteus	25	39% plant, 18% invert., 10% fish	36% plant, 11% invert., 38% fish	No support	0	6
Acestrorhynchus lacustris	27	100% fish (herbivores)	100% fish (omnivores, herbivores)	No support	Р	8
Acestrorhynchus lacustris	27	100% fish (herbivores)	100% fish (omnivores)	No support	Р	8

Acestrorhynchus pantaneiro	35	100% fish	100% fish	No support	Р	6
Plagioscion Ternetzi	39	100% fish	97% fish	No support	Р	6
Hepsetus odoe	44	100% fish (omnivores)	100% fish (omnivores)	No support	Р	9
Pygocentrus nattereri	50	100% fish	99% fish, 1% plant	No support	Р	6
Hoplias malabaricus	65	100% fish (omnivores)	100% fish (piscivores)	No support	Р	8
Hoplias malabaricus	65	100% fish (piscivores)	100% fish (omnivores)	No support	Р	8
Cichla monoculus	70	93% fish, 7% plant	100% fish	No support	Р	10
Hydrocynus forskahlii	78	100% fish (omnivores)	100% fish (piscivores, omnivores)	No support	Р	9
Rhaphiodon vulpinus	80	100% fish	100% fish	No support	Р	6
Salminus Brasiliensis	100	95% fish, 5% invert.	100% fish	No support	Р	6
Wallago attu	240	10% fish, 30% prawn (during January)	30% fish, 0% prawn (during July)	No support	0	11

**References:** 1. Wantzen et al. 2002 (Pantanal wetland, Brazil); 2. Winemiller 1989 (Venezuelan Llanos); 3. Peterson 1997 (Venezuelan Llanos); 4. de Merona and Rankin-de-Merona 2004 (lago de Rei, Amazon); 5. Goulding 1988 (Rio Negro, Amazon); 6 Novakowski et al. 2008 (Pantanal wetland, Brazil); 7. Prudente et al. 2016 (Anapu River, Brazil); 8. Almeida et al. 1997 (Pantanal wetland, Brazil); 9. Winemiller and Kelso-Winemiller 1994 (Upper Zambezi, Zambia); 10. Oliveria et al. 2006 (Amazon River); 11. Islam et al. 2006 (Bangladesh).
# 3.4. Seasonal variations in diet composition, diet breadth and dietary overlap between three commercially important fish species within a flood-pulse system

The average size of captured individuals was  $12.7 \pm 2.1$  cm for A. testudineus,  $23.9 \pm$ 13.9 cm for *B. microplepis* and 20.4 ± 2.4 cm for *N. notopterus*. The proportion of empty stomachs was 14.8% for A. testudineus, 12.3% for B. microplepis and 16.8% for N. notopterus. For all species, this proportion greatly varied across seasons and was maximal during the receding season and minimal during the dry season (Fig. 10). Seasonal variation in the proportion of empty stomachs was independent of species identity ( $\chi^2=0.14$ , df=6: P=0.99). The diet of A. testudineus was mainly composed of fish (43%), insects (23%) and plants (17%) whereas N. notopterus mostly fed upon insects (49%), plants (28%) and fish (10%) (Fig.10). The diet of *B. microplepis* was mainly composed of fish (51%), crustaceans (21%), and plants (15%). The similarity analysis (ANOSIM) revealed a significant change in the diet composition of A. testudineus (p<0.01, r=0.16) and N. notopterus (p<0.01, r=0.13) between the wet and the dry season, whereas no significant difference was found for B. microlepis (p=0.42, r=0.004). The SIMPER analysis revealed that only a few food items significantly explained the seasonal differences found for A. testudineus and N. notopterus, with a particularly strong contribution of fish prey for the former and of insects for the latter (Table 6).

**Table 6.** Average percent contribution of food items to the dissimilarity of diet composition between the wet and the dry seasons for the three studied species. Only for A. testudineus and N. notopterus is there a significant contribution of food items to the seasonal dissimilarity of diet composition. Numbers within brackets are standard deviations.

Food items	A. testudineus	B. microlepis	N. notopterus
Fish	0.28 (0.25)	0.28 (0.22)	0.07 (0.11)
Plants	0.11 (0.13)	0.09 (0.09)	0.12 (0.11)
Insects	0.17 (0.19)	0.05 (0.1)	0.20 (0.15)
Micro-fauna	0.13 (0.14)	0.05 (0.06)	0.02 (0.05)
Crustaceans	0.04 (0.13)	0.17 (0.19)	0.07 (0.13)
Mollusks	0.01 (0.03)	0.01 (0.01)	0.02 (0.04)



**Fig. 10.** Description of the diet of the three studied species and how they vary across seasons. For the sake of graphical clarity and because some items had a very low occurrence, items were grouped into six broader categories (mollusks, crustaceans, fish, plants, insects and micro-fauna). The pie charts represent the relative proportion of food items, all seasons confounded, and thus provide an overview of the main diet of the species. The barplots represent the seasonal variations in the proportion of food items within non-empty stomachs (colored barplots; on the left) and the seasonal variations in the proportion of empty stomachs (greyed barplots; on the right).

The NMDS highlighted strong seasonal variations in both diet breadth and dietary overlap between the three species (Fig. 11). Diet breadth significantly differed between the three species in all seasons (p<0.01), except the wet season (p=0.11; Table 7). It tended to be highest during the dry (from 0.48 to 0.54) and the receding seasons (from 0.45 to 0.53), and to be lowest during the two remaining phases (from 0.34 to 0.51) of the hydrologic cycle (Table 7). From a species perspective, diet breadth was quite stable across seasons for *N. notopterus* (from 0.46 to 0.51) but much more variable for the two other species, with variations from 0.38 to 0.54 for *A. testudineus* and from 0.34 to 0.53 for *B. microlepis* (Table 7).



**Fig. 11.** NMDS biplots displaying the diet of the three species across the four seasons. The size of the ellipse represent species diet breadth whereas overlap between ellipses relates to dietary overlap between species.

**Table 7.** Diet breadth estimate for the three studies species across the four seasons. p-values were obtained using 1000 permutations on the community matrix. Values inferior to 0.05 point to a significant difference in the diet breadth of the three species.

Hydrological phase	A. testudineus	B. microlepis	N. notopterus	p-value
Receding season	0.45	0.53	0.47	0.002
Wet season	0.48	0.42	0.46	0.115
Rising season	0.38	0.34	0.51	0.004
Dry season	0.54	0.48	0.49	0.005

The bootstrap procedure performed on Pianka's index suggest that dietary overlap was different between the three species. This was revealed by differences in the null distributions, whose averages vary from 0.27 [95% CI=0.21-0.34] between A. testudineus and B. microlepis to 0.5 [95% CI=0.41-0.58] between A. testudineus and N. notopterus, while it was 0.3 [95% CI=0.23-0.37] between B. microlepis and N. notopterus (Fig. 12). Confidence intervals further suggest that the dietary overlap measured between A. testudineus and N. notopterus is significantly higher than the one measured between the two other pair of species (non-overlapping confidence intervals). We found evidence for seasonal variations in dietary overlap with minimum values observed during the rising season and maximum values observed during the receding season. In particular, dietary overlap between A. testudineus and N. notopterus was significantly higher during both the receding and the wet seasons, whereas it was significantly lower during the rising season (all p<0.05; Fig. 12). Likewise, dietary overlap between B. microlepis and N. notopterus was significantly higher during both the rising and the wet seasons (both p < 0.001; Fig. 12). Dietary overlap between A. testudineus and B. microlepis was more stable across seasons, but was significantly higher than expected in the receding season (p<0.01; Fig. 12).



**Fig. 12.** Results from the bootstrap procedure conducted on Pianka's symmetric index, measuring the degree of niche overlap between the diets of two species. Histograms present the generated distribution of Pianka's index between two species under the null hypothesis

that there is no seasonal variation in dietary overlap. At the top of each histogram, the black horizontal bar represents the 95% confidence interval of the distribution while the black dot represents the average of the distribution. Colored vertical dashed lines point to the observed measure of niche overlap between two species in each season: receding season=green; wet season=orange; rising season=purple; dry season=pink. Any vertical line not overlapping the horizontal black line indicate a significant difference in the niche overlap for the corresponding season.

### 4. Discussion

4.1. Spatio-temporal variation of fish taxonomic structure in Tonle Sap Flood Pulse System, Tonle Sap Lake

#### 4.1.1. Spatio-temporal variations of beta diversity

Our result revealeved that (i) some sites were more unique regarding fish community composition, (ii) some species highly contributed to spatial differentiation of fish communities and (iii) there is a strong temporal variation regarding the contribution of site to beta diversity. The determinants involved in these temporal variations and their contribution and the shape (i.e. linear or quadratic) of the relationship greatly varied among sites, thus reflecting spatial variation in the processes structuring fish communities.

Fish community compositions are expected to vary within floodplain systems (Lasne et al., 2007; Maire et al., 2013; Tondato et al., 2013). In accordance, we found large spatial variation in fish community composition reflected by differential contribution of sites to the dissimilarity between assemblages (i.e. to beta diversity). Similarly, Genner et al. (2004) found strong spatial variations in the community composition of rock-restricted cichlid fishes in Lake Malawi which was related to the geographic distances between locations and local habitat variables. In contrast, no spatial variation in fish community composition was found within the Dianshan Lake (China) which might be explained either by homogeneous environmental conditions (Hu et al., 2014) or by strong dispersal abilities of individuals homogenizing communities over large spatial scales (i.e. "mass effect"; Leibold et al., 2014). The large spatial variation in fish community composition found within the TSL may be explained by spatial variation in habitat availability and environmental conditions (environmental filtering) as well as by the migratory behavior of particular fish species. In accordance, a study conducted on 59 temperate lakes highlighted an influence of environmental variables in structuring fish com- munities both between and within lakes (lves & Helmus, 2010).

We found temporal variation in the contribution of sites to the spatial variation in community composition, thus suggesting strong temporal variations in local species assemblage at large spatial scale. This result strengthens previous findings demonstrating spatio-temporal variations in community composition across seasons within the Dianshan Lake (Hu et al., 2014). More specifically, we found that three sites (BB, KC and KD) contributed strongly to the spatial variation in community composition. For BB and KC, the uniqueness of fish communities was occasional whereas the one at KD was rather stable over time with more than 60% of the weeks being unique in terms of community composition. Such stability can be explained by the fact that KD is the only site that is not located within the lake but within the river (TSR) which is a transitional zone for species migrating back and forth between the lake and the Mekong River. The uniqueness of species assemblages at BB mostly occurred during the dry season which can be explained by the presence of particular species moving back and forth from floodplain habitats to open water habitats within the lake and also by the influence of the Sangker River, located at the north of the lake. In contrast the uniqueness of species assemblages at KC and KD was evident during the wet season and can be explained by the fact that these sites are strongly influenced by the TSR.

Over the 242 species, 50% showed a significant contribution to spatial variation of fish communities. However, this contribution greatly varied over time. This was reflected by the fact that only 10% of the 242 species showed a significant contribution to spatial variation in com- munity composition for more than 50% of the weeks. Those species (e.g. *Mystus bocourti, Mystus albolineatus, Trichopodus microlepis, Anabas testudineus, Notopterus notopterus, Pristolepis fasciata, Channa striata*) were mostly non-migratory with specific habitat requirements. Such temporal stability suggests that these species probably depend upon the availability of critical habitats in both the wet and the dry seasons for growing or spawning. The low contribution of the remaining species to beta diversity can be explained by their widespread occurrence over the TSL, although seasonally.

#### 4.1.2. Determinants of temporal variation in LCBD and SCBD

Local contributions to beta diversity (i.e. LCBD values) of the six sites displayed very different responses to species richness, total abundances and water level. Few studies have adressed the question of the determinants of temporal variations of LCBD values. Among them, a negative correlation between LCBD values and both species richness and total abundance has been reported in subtropical tree (Qiao et al., 2015), dung beetle (Da Silva et al., 2014), cattle tick com-munities (Biguezoton et al., 2016) and fish communities (Legendre & De Cáceres, 2013). Such a negative relationship indicates that as sites become less species-rich, they also tend to become more unique which could be explained by the occurrence of a disturbance such as pollution. In contrast, a positive relationship may arise because of the introduction of novel species (e.g. migratory species) within communities. Here we found contrasted patterns, revealing that different processes are shaping local fish communities.

We further found that both the shape and the relative effect of the three predictors greatly varied between sites. Indeed, we found a higher contribution of biotic variables (i.e. species richness and abundances) in explaining variation in site uniqueness over time relative to the water level (abiotic variable). This contrast with previous findings showing that abiotic vari- ables such as distance from the source, altitude and water discharge are key factors influencing species assemblages (Legendre & De Cáceres, 2013). Such discrepancy may stem from the fact that we focused on the temporal variation in site uniqueness whereas previous studies (Legendre & De Cáceres, 2013) were interested in its spatial variation. However, the higher contribution of biotic variables does not indicate that the water level has no influence on fish communities. Instead, one can imagine an indirect effect of the water level on fish communities where a change in this variable influences and richness, and ultimately leading to spatial differentiation. The non-linear relationships highlighted here are also particularly interesting because they indicate that the local uniqueness of species

assemblages occur for intermediate values of water level, species richness and abundances. At both extreme of the gradient, communities are therefore more homogeneous which can be explained by the dominance of large scale processes (Leibold et al., 2004). For instance, water level reduction has been shown to influence community assemblage by influencing local individual abundances and by making it possible for species to colonize new local habitat patches (Layman et al., 2010) a process that can lead to community homogenization. Likewise, when the water level is very high, the presence of migratory species, dispersing over large distances, may homogenize fish communities. Such non-linear relationships have already been highlighted in birds where the community specialization index (a measure of the functional homogenization of communities) is maximal at intermediate values of fragmentation (Devictor et al., 2008).

Regarding temporal variation in the number of species that contribute to beta diversity above the mean of the entire pool of species (i.e. SCBD values) we found a high contribution of species richness whereas species abundances and water level only had a marginal effect. More specifically, we found a positive relationship with species richness indicating that as species richness is increasing, communities within the lake tend to become more dissimilar. This can be explained by the presence of particular species with strong ecological requirements and/or poor dispersal abilities, confined to particular area of the lake. However, the relationship highlighted was non-linear and actually peaked for intermediate values of species richness. Thus, at very high richness communities tend to be more similar, which can be explained the widespread occurrence of species with low ecological requirements and/or strong dispersal abilities homogenizing communities at large spatial scale.

# 4.2. Temporal distribution and species co-occurrence patterns of fish species

#### 4.2.1. Temporal distribution according to hydrological cycles

Flood pulse is well known to influence on, both the distribution of organisms and abiotic conditions (Thomaz et al., 2007). By modifying connectivity patterns to floodplain habitats, flood pulse systems have important effects on community structure and composition, in turn influencing biotic interactions and local patterns of species occurrence, abundance and diversity (Arrington et al., 2005; Fernandes et al., 2009). In accordance, we found strong seasonal variations in species occurrences, abundances and biotic interactions. The stability of occurrence highlighted for most non-migratory species confirm that those species are TSL' resident which use TSL's habitat for all water seasons and lateral migration to nearby the lake, being particularly well adapted to oxygen depletion which occurs during the dry season. Those species likely undergo lateral migration to floodplain habitats during the onset of rainy season. On the contrary, we found strong seasonal variation regarding the occurrence of migratory species such as Labiobarbus leptocheilus (Lale). Overall these results are in accordance with some studies conducted in Amazon flood-pulse systems showing strong variations in abundance and occurrence depending on the water level and the migratory behavior of the different species (Castello, 2008; Röpke et al., 2016). We further found that abundances of migratory species where highest during the rising and the receding seasons, thus suggesting that those species migrate back and forth between the Mekong river and the TSL depending on habitat availability for rearing, spawning and feeding. This pattern is in line with those found in other tropical systems such as in the Yasuni River basin in the Ecuadorian Amazon, a tropical Lagoon and the Solimões River (Galacatos et al., 2004; Soyinka & Kassem, 2008; da Silva et al., 2013).

#### 4.2.2. Pattern of pairwise species co-occurrence

Seasonal change in hydrological cycle has been shown to be the main driver causing variation in fish community structure and mediating species co-occurrence (Gabriela and Gonzalez, 2017). We found that positive associations were more frequent than negative associations in all seasons, particularly during the dry and the receding water seasons. We firstly suggest that as the area of the lake shrinks, species move from temporary floodplain habitats to permanent flooded areas and end-up using similar ecological niches, thus competing for similar resources [i.e. Paralaubuca typus (Paty), Pangasius.larnaudii (Pala), Osteochilus melanople (Osme) and Amblyrhynchichthys truncates (Amtr)]. Secondly, although there is positive species co-occurrence between different tropic guilds of some species in the TSL system, we assume that this pattern might be related to the species interaction between predator and prey [i.e. Hampala macrolepidota (Hama), Rasbora tornieri (Rato) and Xenentodon cancila (Xeca)]. In accordance, Bar-Massada (2015) and Echevarría & Rodríguez (2017) observed that niche overlap (i.e. species interaction) was smaller during hydrological phases where environmental heterogeneities are larger such that competition for space and other resources is weak. The pattern of co-occurrence highlighted here contrast to the ones found in Ecológica do Panga Reservoir in Minas Gerais (Brazil) where species co-occurrence appear to be mainly explained by competitive interactions between species instead of habitat affiliations (Camarota et al., 2016) and similarly to our case in the TSL. Likewise, co-occurrence pattern small fishes in Upper Parana' River seemed to be independent of physical and chemical conditions, thus suggesting that biotic interactions mainly shapes community assembly (Ortega et al., 2015). The low percentage of nonrandom associations highlighted during the rising and the wet seasons can be explained by the fact that species move to floodplains habitats as the area of the lake expand, allowing them to forage on their preferred resources and to inhabit the optimal habitats for spawning and rearing. Thus, it seems that the diversification of habitats which is crucial for species have very specific ecological requirement, is the main driver explaining species cooccurrence patterns. Our results therefore support the assumption that environmental filters have more influence than biotic interactions on the structure of fish assemblages (Peres-Neto, 2004; Mouchet et al., 2013). The fact that we found non-random associations between migratory and non-migratory species lends support to this hypothesis as these associations can be explained by seasonal changes in lateral connectivity caused by expansion-contraction cycles, allowing permanent resident species and transient species to use similar habitats. Contrasting results were however found in the literature. For instance, Peoples & Frimpong (2015) observed that habitat variables can explain the interaction observed between Chrosomus oreas and its host Nocomis leptocephalus whereas Márcia et al. (2006) observed that environmental variables are not the key factor explaining associations between different for fish species and that biotic interactions are more likely.

# 4.3. Seasonal omnivory: the response of consumer trophic position to fluctuating environments

The major finding of our study is that food-chain omnivory can be dynamic, with diets shifting to varying degrees in response to seasonal variation in environmental conditions and resource availability. In tropical floodplain ecosystems, fish trophic positions shift in response to seasonal patterns of hydrology. The vertical trophic position of most omnivorous fishes declined during the wet-season flood pulse. Many fish are capable of exploiting multiple food resources, but may track the most profitable food types when these are abundant during certain periods or within certain habitats (Winemiller, 1989; Correa & Winemiller, 2014). Larger piscivorous species, on the other hand, fed predominantly on fish throughout year and either increased or decreased their trophic position during the wet season. These large piscivores could also have tracked temporal and/or spatial variation in fish prey availability (e.g. Almeida et al., 1997). Interestingly, variation in trophic responses was large and not all species followed the same trend. Diverse feeding responses among coexisting species appears common in fish assemblages of tropical floodplains (Winemiller, 1989; Wantzen et

al., 2002; Correa & Winemiller, 2014) and may be important for the 'dynamic stability' (Leigh et al., 2010) and resiliency of these complex systems (Pettit et al., 2017). Our findings, combined with existing knowledge, suggest that seasonal omnivory could play a currently underappreciated role in sustaining energy and nutrient flow across changing conditions.

Based on combined stable isotope and stomach contents data, mid-sized omnivorous fishes from the Tonle Sap (i.e. A. testudinus and N. notopterus) reduced their trophic position and increased their consumption of invertebrates during the wet season. Five additional Tonle Sap species also showed large reductions (effect size that did not bound zero) in wet-season trophic positions, and 11 out of 16 literature reports for omnivores or entire fish assemblages showed increased consumption of plants or invertebrates during the wet season. Reduced wet-season trophic positions therefore appear common among omnivorous fishes of tropical floodplains. Species identified as strict piscivores, on the other hand, consumed fish almost exclusively throughout year. These piscivores likely possess morphological and behavioral traits that enable them to feed efficiently on fish while compromising foraging efficiency for other food resources (Almeida et al., 1997). Variable responses among piscivores to the flood pulse are consistent with previous studies that inferred piscivores track alternative fish prey depending on foraging tactics and habitat (Almeida et al., 1997; Winemiller & Kelso-Winemiller, 1994; Peterson, 1997). For example, sit-and-wait piscivores can exploit abundant juvenile fishes during the wet season by using vegetation as cover, whereas stalk-and-chase predators may be more efficient predators as water levels fall and prey encounter rates peak (Peterson, 1997). In South American floodplain, the tooth-snouted glass tetra, Roeboides dayi (Characidae), fed heavily on aquatic invertebrates when they were abundant during the wet season, and specialized on scales during the dry season when fishes were concentrated in shrinking pools (Winemiller, 1989; Peterson & Winemiller, 1997). While we focused on piscivores that also feed on invertebrates and sometimes even plant matter (i.e., piscivores that are food chainomnivores), other functional groups are also alter their trophic positions seasonally. For

example, small omnivorous fishes, such as *Hemigrammus* spp. (total length <11 cm) and other tetras, can shift from feeding mostly on plant matter in the dry season to invertebrates during the flood pulse (Peterson, 1997; Goulding et al., 1988). This tracking of invertebrate abundance could explain higher trophic positions observed during the wet season for some Tonle Sap fishes. Based on these combined findings, it appears that fish perceive seasonal fluctuations in the abundance of alternative food resources differently, and most fishes are capable of responding by altering their diet and trophic position.

A positive relationship between trophic position and body size is not anticipated across entire tropical floodplain fish assemblages (Ou et al., 2017) because some herbivores and omnivores are large (e.g. the giant Mekong catfish, Pangasianodon gigas, is an omnivore, max. size = 300 cm; Rainboth, 1996) and some species with high trophic positions are small (e.g. African pike, Hepsetus odoe, as small as 10 cm were strongly piscivorous; Winemiller & Kelso-Winemiller, 1994). Body size was also not a significant predictor of the direction of seasonal trophic position shifts in the Tonle Sap, and not all fishes followed our prediction of reduced wet season trophic positions. Variation in seasonal diet shifts among floodplain fishes has been previously demonstrated by other studies using stable isotope (Wantzen et al., 2002) or dietary analysis (e.g. Winemiller, 1989; Novakowski et al., 2008; Mérona and Rankin-de-Mérona, 2004). The habitat heterogeneity of these systems and high variation among observed  $\delta^{15}N$  values within and among species, further stresses the importance of considering dietary data along with  $\delta^{15}$ N-based estimates of trophic position. However, the general trophic patterns in relation to hydrologic seasonality uncovered here, in spite of the complexity and dynamic nature of tropical floodplain ecosystems (Pettit et al., 2017), prompt us to consider further how seasonal omnivory could influence food web structure and stability.

The magnitude of seasonal trophic position changes reported here (plus or minus approximately half a trophic level) reflects changes in fish foraging behavior with consequences for food web structure, as well as individual fitness. For example, a shift from

eating 100% fish to eating 50% fish and 50% invertebrates (i.e. a reduction in trophic position of ~ 0.5) would likely change the number and strength of species interactions in the food web as well as the activity costs and growth of individual fish (Sherwood et al., 2002). Such temporally dynamic omnivory could also have consequences for stability. One theoretical study suggests that 'adaptive' omnivory, whereby consumers incorporate lower trophic level prey into their diet when preferred prey become rare, slightly increases stability relative to the case of fixed omnivory (Křivan & Diehl, 2005). Prey refugia, prey defense, stage-structured cannibalism, and adaptive foraging are all mechanisms that are thought to maintain omnivory at weak to intermediate interaction strengths in nature, and thus prevent strong and destabilizing omnivory (Kratina et al., 2012). Although not well considered theoretically, flexible food web properties, like omnivory, could be extremely important for stability in non-equillibrim or periodically forced systems (McCann & Rooney, 2009).

Temporally changing trophic positions also arise in other taxa and ecosystems, including stream macroinvertebrates (Hellmann et al., 2013), birds (Nakano & Murakami, 2001) and desert mammals (Soykan & Sabo, 2009). Consumer trophic positions can also remain static through time (Rybczynski et al., 2008). Temporal omnivory therefore appears variable in its direction and magnitude of change, a conclusion consistent with our findings from tropical floodplains. One could further consider how the location of a particular species would change depending on body size (e.g. throughout ontogeny) and how the capacity for seasonal omnivory differs among functional groups (e.g. omnivores vs. detritivores, Wantzen et al., 2002) and ecosystem types (e.g. between summer and winter in temperate or arctic systems), and how this variation influences food web structure and stability.

# 4.4. Seasonal variations in diet composition, diet breadth and dietary overlap between three commercially important fish species

In this study, we explored seasonal variations in the diet of three common, abundant and commercially important fish species presenting important differences within their lifecycle but sharing similar habitats to gain knowledge about resource use and the potential for resource competition. Although we found large seasonal variations in the proportion of empty stomachs, we found no differences between species in this regard. In contrast, we found strong seasonal variations in the diet breadth and dietary overlap of the three species. Diet breadth was the largest during the dry and the receding seasons whereas dietary overlap between species was the lowest during the dry season. We also found evidence for seasonal variations in the diet of *A. testudineus* and *N. notopterus* with a differential contribution of food items, while no significant change was found for *B. microlepis*.

A similar seasonal variation in the proportion of empty stomachs suggests that ecological differences between species (e.g. reproductive behavior, foraging abilities) are probably not strong enough to outweigh the effect of seasonal variations in resource abundance. For the three species, the proportion of empty stomachs was the lowest during the dry season (i.e. when floodplain habitats are unachievable) but the highest during the receding season, which contrast to our expectation. One possible explanation would be that the high abundance and diversity of fish during the receding season, combined with the reversal of the river flow, that sweeps out resources from the system, would increase competition for resources, thereby decreasing the per capita consumption rate (Menge & Sutherland, 1987). In contrast, the low abundance and diversity of fish during the dry season might contribute to increase the species per capita consumption rate, although the amount of resources is lower relative to the receding season. Another, non-exclusive explanation would be that during the receding season, individuals rely on reserve energy stored during the wet season, while during the dry season, individuals have to maximize their energy intake to face an increase in metabolic demand caused by adverse conditions such as oxygen depletion (Arrington et al., 2002).

In contrast to the proportion of empty stomachs, we found differences in the seasonal variation of the stomach contents of the three species. Such variations likely result from temporary connections to floodplain habitats caused by expansion-contraction cycles of the

TSL's flooded area, providing access to new resources (Adama et al., 2014). For instance, the increase in the proportion of crustaceans and insects in the diet of *B. microlepis* between the dry and the rising seasons can be explained by the progressive connection to floodplain habitats making it possible for individuals to forage in previously unflooded areas where those items are rather abundant. Similar changes were observed within other tropical systems where seasonality was shown to influence fish diet through an increase in the frequency of particular food items such as terrestrial insects and amphipods during the rainy season (Tejerina-Garro et al., 1998). In line with our expectation, we found that fish prey contributed strongly to seasonal variations in the diet of *A. testudineus* with a substantial increase (i.e. around 10%) during the dry season. This suggest that the ability for this species to face adverse conditions (i.e. low levels of oxygen) makes it possible for individuals to exclude other competitors and to forage on the most profitable resource independently of the connection to floodplain habitats (Gurevitch & Padilla, 2004).

In line with our expectation and with previous findings (Hinojosa-Garro et al., 2013), we found that the diet breadth of the three species tended to be larger during the dry (and the receding) season. This result could be explained by an increase in both intra and interspecific competition, constraining individuals to adopt an opportunistic strategy and diversify their diet to reduce competition (Svanbäck & Persson, 2004). The diet breadth of the three species differed in all seasons, except the wet season. This lack of difference was due to an increase in the diet breadth of *A. testudineus* and *B. microlepis* combined with a decrease in the diet breadth of *N. notopterus* between the rising and the wet seasons, leading to a similar diet breadth between the three species (from 0.42 to 0.48). The increase observed for the first two species can be explained by an increase in the diversity and amount of resources combined with a release of the competitive pressure, making it possible for those species to diversify their diet. In contrast, the decrease observed for the last species can be explained by its ability to forage on a large array of resources during periods of shortage (habitat generalist) while during periods of resource abundance individuals can

focus on the most profitable resource. As expected, we found large seasonal variations in the diet breadth of *A. testudineus* and *B. microlepis* but low variations in the diet breadth of *N. notopterus*. The large variations observed for *A. testudineus* and *B. microlepis* are in accordance with their ecological status (invasive for the former and long-distant migrant for the latter), making it possible for these species to adapt their diet as the amount and the diversity of resources changes over time or space. In contrast, the large and stable diet breadth observed in *N. notopterus* could be attributed to its high mobility between diverse habitats that potentially contain different resources.

Regarding temporal changes in the availability, quantity and quality of food resources, species are expected to adjust their foraging behavior in order to maximize their energy intake and minimize dietary overlap (Corea & Winemiller, 2014). In this study, we found an overall high dietary overlap between species during the receding season (e.g. between A. testudineus and N. notopterus) and a lower dietary overlap during the rising season, particularly when B. microlepis was involved in the comparison, in accordance with our expectation. The pattern observed during the receding season can be explained by the progressive loss of resources, as the lake retracts, whereas the one observed during the rising season can be explained by the progressive connection to floodplain habitats providing opportunities for species to forage on different resources. Contrasted results have however been reported in the literature. For instance, some studies have found that dietary overlap tends to be the lowest during the dry season because fish tend to concentrate in small, well-oxygenated, areas (McConnell, 1964; Pusey & Bradshaw, 1996), whereas others (Zaret, 1972; Goulding, 1980b; Prejs & Prejs, 1987) found the opposite (i.e. high dietary overlap during the dry season). In flood-pulse systems, fish assemblages and diet composition have been shown to differ with respect to habitat heterogeneity, hydrological conditions and connectivity between adjacent systems (Taylor, 1997) while the intensity and the duration of the flood pulse have also been shown to strongly influence dietary overlap between species (Luz-Agostinho et al., 2008a). The absence of general pattern suggests

that seasonal changes in trophic dynamics are not fully explained by feeding strategies, that aim to reduce competition between species and individuals, but that feeding opportunism may be an important underlying factor (Prejs & Prejs, 1987). The discrepancies existing between previous studies and this one reflect the fact that different patterns can occur depending on the characteristics of the system, including its productivity, the nature of resources (e.g. autochtonous *vs.* allochtonous) and the characteristics of the species (e.g. generalist *vs.* specialist).

### 5. General conclusions and perspective

The TSL is the largest inland fisheries in South-east Asia and supports the livelihood of 2.5 million people around the lake (Arias et al., 2013). Its flood-pulse dynamic combined to the flow reversal of the TSR makes it a unique system worldwide supporting high biodiversity by providing a large diversity of food and habitats for many birds, reptiles and fishes. However, the growing demand for water for agricultural purposes and the construction of hydro-power dams along the Mekong river (Arias et al., 2013) combined to the effect of climate change is strongly threatening this system by altering and reducing flood intensity from 7% to 16% during the rainy season (Arias et al., 2012). Such changes in the water regime are likely to have strong impacts on fish community composition by modifying several phenological events (Agostinho et al., 2004) such as the timing of migration or spawning and also by reducing the amount of submerged habitats upon which fish depends for growing and spawning. This may ultimately lead to decrease in TSL fish productivity and biodiversity. For instance, in 2016, hundred tons of brood-stock fish died within the conservation zone of Boeung Chhmar, is the main conservation zone of the TSL (which is temporarily connected to the lake) due to a prolonged drought. In the TSL system, the strong spatio-temporal variations highlighted regarding the uniqueness of fish communities are likely to be the result of both spatial variations in environmental conditions and the seasonal migration of particular species which occurrence depends on the lateral connectivity to floodplain habitats critical for their reproduction and survival.

However, current dam construction and the construction planning of 42 additional dams in the upper parts of the Mekong in China, Laos and Thailand is posing considerable threats to the natural flood-pulse regime of the TSL. These changes are forecasted to reduce the annual flood magnitude and to modify the lateral connectivity to floodplain areas, ultimately altering the functioning of the ecosystem while reducing its productivity and affecting the livelihood of thousands of people (Arias et al., 2014). Our results highlight that species occurrence and abundance greatly varied according to seasonal changes in the

hydrology of the TSL's system. In addition, strong positive association were observed during the dry and the receding seasons, indicating that changes in habitat availability and species interaction (predator and prey) are probably the main driver of species co-occurrence in the system, both among small prolific species and between predators and preys. Understanding how fish communities respond and how species interaction to the seasonal change in TSL hydrological of the TSL's flood pulse systemprovides a critical framework for fisheries management and conservation, particularly for sustaining fish biodiversity and maintaining productivity upon which millions of people depend around the lake.

Furthermore, vertical trophic position and the related concept of food chain omnivory are key attributes that influence food web stability and functions (McCann et al., 2005; Winemiller et al., 2014; Post & Takimoto, 2007). Our findings for fishes inhabiting tropical floodplains revealed that food-chain omnivory is dynamic in response to seasonal change in hydrologicle cycles. Seasonal shifts in trophic ecology are not unique to tropical fishes or floodplains. Knowledge about how species and ecosystems respond to seasonality is crucial for anticipating the consequences of climate change. Organisms capable of dynamic omnivory on seasonal time scales, for example, could be particularly important for sustaining ecosystem functioning in the face of changing conditions (Takimoto et al., 2002; McMeans et al., 2016). Further, maintenance of species spanning a range of trophic responses, as observed among fishes in tropical floodplains, could play an important role in buffering local communities from perturbations.

In TSL, the seasonal change in dietary of fishes and how fishes shifting their feeding behavior across seasons are poorly understood. Therefore, understanding how diet of these species changes seasonally could help gain knowledge regarding how the connectivity to floodplain habitats influence their feeding behavior and the strength of competition for resources. Our results suggest that the flood-pulse may play a role in mediating the competitive interactions between the three species by making it possible for species to shift their diet as the availability of resources changes over time. This may ultimately promote

biodiversity by providing opportunities for species to avoid competition and live in harmony with other species, originally displaying similar dietary requirements. This harmony is however threatened by accelerating water infrastructure development (hydropower, irrigation, flood control, and water supply) and climate change, bringing considerable modifications to the flood pulse of the Tonle Sap Lake in the foreseeable future. The strong seasonal variations in diet composition highlighted here can be explained by a variety of mechanisms including changes in resource abundance and diversity, changes in the strength of competitive interactions between individuals and species as well as changes in ontogeny (Seegert et al., 2014). Teasing apart the relative influence of these factors is impossible with our data. The collection of additional data across seasons, for various organisms belonging to different trophic compartments (e.g. phytoplankton, zooplankton, invertebrates) and age classes (reflecting variable development stage) and in multiple locations spread over the lake (especially floodplain habitats) would help gain knowledge about (i) the nature of interactions between species and individuals and (ii) the extent to which they can shift their diet as the connectivity to floodplain habitats is changing. Such a study would not only improve our understanding of the mechanisms promoting biodiversity within flood-pulse systems but also help guide management strategies within the Tonle Sap.

### References

- Abdel, A.N. & Gharib, S. M. (2007). Food and Feeding Habits of Round Sardinella ( Sar Dinellaaurita) in El- Mex Bay. *Egypt.Egypt.J.Aqu.Res* 33, 2020221.
- 2. Adama, O, Wendengoudi, G., Allassane, O., Germain G., Bernard, H., G. B. K. (2008) Fisheries and Aquatic Science. *Fisheries and Aquatic Science* **4**, 240–251.
- Anderson, M. (2006) Distance-Based Test for Homogeneity of Multivariate Dispersion. Bimetrics 62, 245–253.
- Araújo-Lima, C.A.R.M., Agostinho, A.A. & Fabre, N. N. (1995). Trophic aspects of fish communities in Brazilian rivers and reservoirs, pp. 105-136. In: J. G. Tundisi, C. E. M. Bicudo & T. Matsumura-Tundisi (eds.), Limnology in Brazil. ABC/SBL, Rio de Janeiro.
- 5. Arias, M. E., Cochrane, T. a. & Elliott, V. (2013) Modelling Future Changes of Habitat and Fauna in the Tonle Sap Wetland of the Mekong. *Environmental Conservation* **41**, 165–175.
- Arias, M. E., Piman, T., Lauri, H., Cochrane, T. A. & Kummu, M. (2014). Dams on Mekong Tributaries as Significant Contributors of Hydrological Alterations to the Tonle Sap Floodplain in Cambodia. *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences* 18, 5303–5315.
- Arias, M.E., Cochrane, T.A., Piman, T., Kummu, M., Caruso. B.S. & Killeen, T.J. (2012). Quantifying changes in flooding and habitats in the Tonle Sap Lake (Cambodia) caused by water infrastructure development and cli- mate change in the Mekong Basin. J Environ Manage. 112: 53–66.
- Arrington, D.A., Davidson, B.K., Winemiller, K.O. & Layman, C.A. (2006). Influence of life history and seasonal hydrology on lipid storage in three neotropical fish species. J Fish Biol 68:1–16.
- Arrington, D.A. & Winemiller, K.O. (2006). Habitat Affinity, the Seasonal Flood Pulse, and Community Assembly in the Littoral Zone of a Neotropical Floodplain River. *Journal of the North American Benthological Society* 25, 126–141.
- 10. Arrington, D. A., Winemiller, K. O. & Layman, C. A. (2005). Community Assembly at the Patch Scale in a Species Rich Tropical River. *Oecologia* **144**, 157–167.
- 11. Arrington, D.A., Winemiller, K.O., Loftus, W. F. & Akin, S. (2002). How Often Do Fishes 'run on Empty'? *Ecology* **83**, 2145–2151.
- Agostinho, A.A, Gomes, L.C, Veríssimo, S.K. & Okada, E. (2004). Flood regime, dam regulation and fish in the Upper Paraná River: effects on assemblage attributes, reproduction and recruitment. Rev.Fish Biol.Fish. 14, 11–19.
- Baird I. G., Mark, S.F. & Bounpheng, P. (2004). Mekong River Pangasiidae Catfish Migrations and the Khone Falls Wing Trap Fishery in Southern Laos. NAT. HIST. BULL. SIAM SOC. 52(1): 81-109, 2004

- Baird, I.G., B. Phylavanh, B. V. and K. X. (2001). The Ecology and Conservation of the Smallscale Croaker B Oesemania M Ic R O Lep Is (Bleeker 1858-59) in the Mainstream Mekong River, Southern Laos. *Nat. Hist. Bull. Siam Soc* 49, 161–176.
- Baird, I.G. (1998). Preliminary fisheries stock assessment result from Ban Hang Khone, Khong district, Champasak Province, Southern Lao PDR. Environmental Protection and Community Development in Siphandone Wetlands Project, CESVI, Pakse Lao PDR. 112 pp.
- Bar-Massada, A. (2015). Complex Relationships between Species Niches and Environmental Heterogeneity Affect Species Co-Occurrence Patterns in Modelled and Real Communities. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 282.
- Baran, E. & Cain, J. (2001). Ecological approaches of flood-fish relationships modelling in the Mekong River. Proceedings of the National workshop on Ecological and Environmental Modelling, 3-4 September 2001, Universiti Sains Malaysia, Penang, Malaysia. In press.
- Barili, E., Agostinho, A. A., Gomes, L. C. & Latini, J. D. (2011). The Coexistence of Fish Species in Streams: Relationships between Assemblage Attributes and Trophic and Environmental Variables. *Environmental Biology of Fishes* **92**, 41–52.
- Bastos, R. F., Corrêa, F., Winemiller, K. O. & Garcia, A. M. (2017). Are You What You Eat? Effects of Trophic Discrimination Factors on Estimates of Food Assimilation and Trophic Position with a New Estimation Method. *Ecological Indicators* **75**, 234–241.
- Belliard, J., Boët, P. & Tales, E (1997). Regional and longitudinal patterns of fish community structure in the Seine River basin, France. Environmental Biology of Fishes 50(2): 133–147.
- Blessing, J. J., Marshall, J. C. & Balcombe, S. R. (2010). Humane Killing of Fishes for Scientific Research: A Comparison of Two Methods. *Journal of Fish Biology* 76, 2571– 2577.
- Benke, AC., Chaubey, I., Ward, G.M. & Dunn, E.L. (2000). Flood pulse dynamics of an unregulated river floodplain in the southeastern US. coastal plain. Ecology 81:2730— 2741.
- Biguezoton, A., Adehan, S., Adakal, H., Zoungrana, S., Farougou, S. & Chevillon, C. (2016). Community structure, sea- sonal variations and interactions between native and invasive cattle tick species in Benin and Burkina Faso. Parasit Vectors. Parasites & Vectors; 2016; 9: 43. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13071-016-1305-z.
- Bouton, N., Seehausen, O. & van Alphen, J.J.M. (1997). Resource partitioning among rock-dwelling haplochromines (Pisces: Cichlidae) from Lake Victoria. Ecology of Freshwater Fish, 6(4):225-240. Doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0633.1997.tb00165.x
- 25. Bray, R. & Curtis, J. T. (1957) An Ordination of the Upland Forest Communities of

Southern Wisconsin. Ecological Monographs 27, 325–349.

- Braga, R.R.; Bornatowski, H. & Vitule, J.R.S. (2012). Feeding ecology of fishes: an overview of worldwide publications. Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries, 22: 915–929.
- Bruno, J. F., Stachowicz, J. J. & Bertness, M. D. (2003). Incorporating Facilitation into Ecological Theory. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* 18, 119–125.
- Bunn, S. E. & Arthington, A. H. (2002) Basic Principles and Ecological Consequences of Altered Flow Regimes for Aquatic Biodiversity. *Environmental Management* **30**, 492–507.
- 29. Burgess, O. T., Pine, W. E. & Walsh, S. J. (2013). Importance of Floodplain Connectivity to Fish Populations in the Apalachicola River, Florida. *River Research and Applications* **29**, 718–733.
- Buren, A.D., Koen-Alonso, M. & Montevecchi, W.A (2016). Linking predator diet and prey availability: common murres and capelin in the Northwest Atlantic. Mar Ecol Prog Ser. 2012; 445(1):25-35.
- Camarota, F., Powell, S., S. Melo, A., Priest, G., J. Marquis, R. & L. Vasconcelos, H. (2016). Co-Occurrence Patterns in a Diverse Arboreal Ant Community Are Explained More by Competition than Habitat Requirements. *Ecology and Evolution* 6, 8907– 8918.
- 32. Campbell, I. C., Poole, C., Giesen, W. & Valbo-Jorgensen, J. (2006). Species Diversity and Ecology of Tonle Sap Great Lake, Cambodia. *Aquatic Sciences* **68**, 355–373.
- Castello, L., Isaac, V.J. & Thapa, R. (2015). Flood Pulse Effects on Multispecies Fishery Yields in the Lower Amazon. *Royal Society Open Science* 2, 150299.
- Castello, L. (2008). Lateral migration of Arapaima gigas in floodplains of the Amazon. Ecology of Freshwater Fish, 17: 38-46.
- Cattadori, I.M., Merler, S. & Hudson, P.J. (2000). Searching for mechanisms of synchrony in spatially structured gamebird populations. Journal of Animal Ecology, 69, 620–638.
- 36. Cattanéo, F., Hugueny, B. & Lamouroux, N. (2003). Synchrony in brown trout, *Salmo trutta*, population dynamics: a 'Moran effect' on early-life stages. Oikos, 100, 43–54.
- Chapman, L.J., Kaufman, L.S., Chapman, C.A. & Mckenzie, F.E. (1995). Hypoxia tolerance in 12 species of East African cichlids—potential for low-oxygen refugia in LakeVictoria. Conserv. Biol., 1274–1288.
- Chase, J.M & Leibold, M.A. (2004). Ecological Niches: Linking Classical and Contemporary Approaches. Biodiversity and Conservation 13(9). 10.1023/B:BIOC.00000 293 66. 24 837.fc

- Chea, R., Lek, S., Ngor, P. & Grenouillet, G. (2016). Large-Scale Patterns of Fish Diversity and Assemblage Structure in the Longest Tropical River in Asia. *Ecology of Freshwater Fish* 1–11.
- 40. Chesson, P. (2000). Mechanisms of Maintenance of Species Diversity. *Annual Review* of *Ecology and Systematics* **31**, 343–366.
- 41. Clarke, K. (1993). Non parametric Multivariate Analyses of Changes in Community Structure. *Australian Journal of Ecology* **18**, 117–143.
- 42. Connor, E. F. & Simberloff, D. (1979). The Assembly of Species Communities: Chance or Competition? *Ecology* **60**, 1132–1140.
- Correa, S.B. & Winemiller, K.O. (2014). Niche Partitioning among Frugivorous Fishes in Response to Fluctuating Resources in the Amazonian Floodplain Forest. *Ecology* 95, 210–224.
- 44. Cox Fernandes, C.C. (1997). Lateral migration of fishes in Amazon floodplains. Ecol. Freshw. Fish. 6: 36–44.
- Courant, J., Vogt, S., Marques, R., Measey, J., Secondi, J., Rebelo, R., De Villiers, A., Ihlow, F., De Busschere, C. & Backeljau, T. (2017). Are Invasive Populations Characterized by a Broader Diet than Native Populations? *PeerJ* 5, e3250.
- Cristina, J., Delariva, R. L. & Bonato, K.O. (2012). Food-Resource Partitioning among Fish Species from a First-Order Stream in Northwestern Paraná, Brazil. *Neotropical Ichthyology* 10, 389–399.
- Davis, A.M., Blanchette, M.L., Pusey, B.J., Jardine, T.D. & Pearson, R.G. (2012). Gut Content and Stable Isotope Analyses Provide Complementary Understanding of Ontogenetic Dietary Shifts and Trophic Relationships among Fishes in a Tropical River. *Freshwater Biology* 57, 2156–2172.
- da Silva, P.G. & Herna´ndez, M.I.M. (2014). Local and regional effects on community structure of dung beetles in a mainland-island scenario. PLoS One. 9. https://doi.org/ 10.1371/ journal.pone.011188.
- da Silva, M.T., Pereira, J.D.O., Vieira, L.J.S. & Petry, A.C. (2013). Hydrological Seasonality of the River Affecting Fish Community Structure of Oxbow Lakes: A Limnological Approach on the Amapa Lake, Southwestern Amazon. *Limnologica* 43, 79–90.
- 50. Devictor, V., Julliard, R., Clavel, J., Jiguet, F., Lee, A. & Couvet, D. (2008). Functional biotic homogenization of bird com- munities in disturbed landscapes. Glob Ecol Biogeogr. 17: 252–261.
- 51. de Melo, T.L., Tejerina-Garro, F.L. & de Melo, C.E. (2009). Influence of Environmental Parameters on Fish Assemblage of a Neotropical River with a Flood Pulse Regime,

Central Brazil. Neotropical Ichthyology 7, 421–428.

- Diamond, J. M. (1975). Assembly of species communities. In: Cody, M. L. and Diamond, J. M. (eds), Ecology and evolution of communities. Harvard Univ. Press, pp. 342–444.
- Dudgeon, D. (1999). Tropical Asian Streams: Zoobenthos, Ecology and Conservation. Hong Kong University Press. Vol. 1.
- 54. Dudgeon, D. (2000). Large-Scale Hydrological Changes in Tropical Asia : Prospects for Riverine Biodiversity. *Bioscience* **50**, 793–806.
- 55. Dynesius, M. & Nilsson, C. (1994). Fragmentation and flow regulation of river systems in the northern third of the world. Science 266: 753–762.
- Echevarría, G. & Rodríguez, J. (2017). Co-Occurrence Patterns of Fish Species in Two Aquatic Habitats of the Arauca River Floodplain, Venezuela G. Echevarría and J. P. Rodríguez. 18, 2017.
- 57. Esteves, K.E. & Galetti, P.M. (1994). Feeding ecology of Moenkhausia intermedia (Pisces, Characidae) in a small oxbow lake of Mogi-Guaçu River, São Paulo, Brazil. Internationale Vereinigung fuer Theoretische und Angewandte Limnologie Verhandlungen, 25:2198-2204.
- Faith, D. P., Minchin, P.R. & Belbin, L. (1987). Compsitional Dissimilarity as a Robust Measure of Ecogical Distance. *Vegetatio* 69, 57–68.
- Fernandes, R., Gomes, L. C., Pelicice, F. M. & Agostinho, A. A. (2009). Temporal Organization of Fish Assemblages in Floodplain Lagoons: The Role of Hydrological Connectivity. *Environmental Biology of Fishes* 85, 99–108.
- Fernandes, C.C. (1997). Lateral migration of fishes in Amazon floodplains. Ecol. Freshw. Fish. 6: 36–44.
- Fish, G.R., (1956). Some aspects of respiration of six species of fish from Uganda. J. Exp. Biol. 33, 186–195.
- Gabriela E.E & Gonzalez, N. (2017). Co-Occurrence Pattern of Fish Communities in Litorals of the Three Floodplan Lakes of the Orinoco River, Venezuela. *Journal of Threatened Taxa* 9, 10249–10260.
- Galacatos, K., Barriga-Salazar, R. & Stewart, D. J. (2004). Seasonal and Habitat Influences on Fish Communities within the Lower Yasuni River Basin of the Ecuadorian Amazon. *Environmental Biology of Fishes* **71**, 33–51.
- Genner, M.J., Taylor, M.I., Cleary, D.F.R., Hawkins, S.J, Knight, M.E. & Turner, G.F. (2004). Beta diversity of rock-restricted cichlid fishes in Lake Malawi: Importance of environmental and spatial factors. Ecography (Cop). 27: 601–610. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0906-7590.2004.03824.x
- 65. Gerking, S. D. (1994). Feeding ecology of fishes. San Diego, Academic Press, 416p.

- Gillespie, J.H. (2013). Application Of Stable Isotope Analysis To Study Temporal Changes In Foraging Ecology In A Highly Endangered Amphibian. *PLoS ONE* 8.
- Gomes, L.C. & Agostinho, A.A. (1997). Influence of the flooding regime on the nutritional state and juvenile recruitment of the curimba, Prochilodus scrofa, Steindachner, in upper Parana River, Brazil.Fish.Manage.Ecol. 4,263–274. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2400.1997.00119.x.
- González, N., Lasso, C. & Rosales, J. (2009) Stability and Spatio-Temporal Structure in Fish Assemblages of Two Floodplain Lagoons of the Lower Orinoco River. *Neotropical Ichthyology* 7, 719–736.
- Gopal, B. & Junk, W.J. (2000). Biodiversity in wetlands: an introduction. In Biodiversity in Wetlands: Assessment, Function and Conservation, Gopal B, Junk WJ, Davis JA (eds),Vol. 1,Backhuys Publication :Leiden; 1–10.
- Gotelli, N.J. & McCabe, D.J. (2002) Species Co-Occurrence: A Meta-Analysis of J. M. Diamond's Assembly Rules Model. *Ecology* 83, 2091–2096.
- Goulding, M., Carvalho, M.L. & Ferreira, R.J.G. (1988). Rio Negro: rich life in poor water: Amazonian diversity and foodchain ecology as seen through fish communities. The Hague: SPB Academic Publishing, 200p.
- 72. Goulding, M. (1980). The Fishes and the Forest: Explorations in Amazonian NaturalHistory. Los Angeles: University of California Press. University of California Press.
- Griffith, D.M., Veech, J.A. & Marsh, C.J. (2016). Cooccur : Probabilistic Species Co-Occurrence Analysis in *R. Journal of Statistical Software* 69, 1–17.
- 74. Gurevitch, J. & Padilla, D.K. (2004) Are Invasive Species a Major Cause of Extinctions? *Trends in ecology & evolution* **19**, 470–474.
- Hahn, N.S., Fugi, R. & Andrian, I.F. (2004). Trophic ecology of the fish assemblages.
  Pp. 247-269. In: Thomaz, S.M., Agostinho, A.A. & Hahn, N.S. (Eds.). The Upper Paraná River and its Floodplain: physical aspects, ecology and conservation. Leiden, Backhuys Publishers, 393p.
- Halls, A.S, & Welcomme, R.L. (2004). Dynamics of river fish populations in response to hydrological conditions: a simulation study. RiverRes.Appl. 20, 985–1000. doi:10.1002/rra.804.
- 77. Hamilton, S.K. & Lewis, W.M. (1987). Causes of Seasonality in the Chemistry of a Lake on the Orinoco River Floodplain , Venezuela '. *Limnol. Oceanogr* **32**, 1277–1290.
- Hein, C.L., Ohlund, G. & Englund, G. (2014). Fish introductions reveal the temperature dependence of species interac- tions. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 281, 20132641

- Henderson, P.A. & Hamilton, H.F. (1995). Standing crop and distri- bution of fish in drifting and attached floating meadow within an Upper Amazonian varzea lake. J. Fish Biol. 47: 266–276.
- Hinojosa-Garro, D., Arceo-Gómez, J., Zambrano, L. & Escalera-Vázquez, L.H. (2013).
  Fish Diet Composition in Permanent and Semi-Permanent Pools in Tropical Wetlands of the Yucatan Peninsula. *Neotropical Ichthyology* 11, 881–890.
- Higgins, C. L. & Strauss, R.E. (2008). Modeling stream fish assemblages with niche apportionment models: patterns, pro- cesses, and scale dependence. Transactions of the American Fisheries Society, 137: 696-706.
- Hoeinghaus, D.J., Winemiller, K.O. & Birnbaum, J.S. (2007). Local and regional determinants of stream fish assemblage structure: inferences based on taxonomic vs. functional groups. Journal of Biogeography 34: 324–338.
- Hoeinghaus, D.J., Layman, C.A., Arrington, D.A. & Winemiller, K.O. (2003). Spatiotemporal Variation in Fish Assemblage Structure in Tropical Floodplain Creeks. Environmental Biology of Fishes .67: 379. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1025818721158.
- Holtgrieve, G.W., Arias, M.E., Irvine, K.N., Lamberts, D., Ward, E.J., Kummu, M., Koponen, J., Sarkkula, J. & Richey, J.E. (2013). Patterns of Ecosystem Metabolism in the Tonle Sap Lake, Cambodia with Links to Capture Fisheries. *PLoS ONE* 8.
- 85. Hyslop, E.J. (1980). Stomach Contents Analysis a Review of Methods and Their Application. *Journal of Fish Biology* **17**, 411–429.
- Hugueny, B. & Paugy, D. (1995). Unsaturated fish communities in African rivers. Amer. Nat. 146: 162–169.
- Hu, Z., Wang, S., Wu, H., Chen, Q., Ruan, R. & Chen, L. (2014). Temporal and spatial variation of fish assem- blages in Dianshan Lake, Shanghai, China. Chinese J Oceanol Limnol. 32: 799–809. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00343-014-3193-4.
- Ives, A.R. & Helmus, M.R. (2010). Phylogenetic metrics of community similarity.AmNat. 176: E128–E142. https://doi.org/10.1086/656486 PMID: 20887187
- Jepsen, D., Winemiller, K.O. & Taphorn, D.C. (1997). Temporal Patterns of Resource Partitioning amongCichlaspecies in a Venezuelan Blackwater River. *Journal of Fish Biology* 51, 1085–1108.
- Johnson, J.A. & Arunachalam, M. (2012). Feeding habit and food partitioning in a stream fish community of Western Ghats, India. Environmental Biology of Fishes, 93: 51-60.
- Junk, W.J. & Piedade, M.T.F. (1997). Plant life in the floodplain with special reference to herbaceous plants. In JUNK, WJ. (Ed.). The Central Amazon floodplain: ecological studies. Berlin: Springer. p. 147-185.

- Junk, W.J.; Bayley, P.B. and Sparks, R.E. (1989). The flood pulse concept in riverfloodplain systems. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences, 106: 110-127.
- Junk, W.J. (1985). Temporary fat storage, an adaptation of some fish species to the water level fluctuations and related environmental changes of the Amazon River. Amazoniana 9, 315–352.
- 94. Kie, J.G. & Bowyer, R.T. (1999). Sexual segregation in white-tailed deer: densitydependent changes in use of space, habitat selection, and dietary niche. J Mammal, 1999; 80(3):1004-20.
- 95. Kingsford, R.T. (2000). Ecological impacts of dams, water diversions and river management on floodplain wetlands in Australia.Austral. Ecol. 25, 109-127.
- 96. Kong, H., Bun, N.P & Diep, L. (2001). The dry migration pattern of five Mekong fish species in the Cambodian Mekong system. In: Zaling, N.P., Nouv, S & Sopha, L., eds. Paper contributed to the Proceeding of the International Symposium. Inland fisheries research and development, Department of Fisheries-Mekong River Commission-Phnom Penh, Cambodia. Pp.73-87.
- Kong, H., Chevalier, M., Laffaille, P. & Lek, S. (2017). Spatio-Temporal Variation of Fish Taxonomic Composition in a South-East Asian Flood-Pulse System. *PLoS ONE* 12, 1–16.
- 98. Kummu, M. & Sarkkula, J. (2008). Impact of the Mekong River Flow Alteration on the Tonle Sap Flood Pulse. *AMBIO: A Journal of the Human Environment* **37**, 185–192.
- Lagler, K.F., Kapetski, J.F. & Stewart, D.J. (1971). The fisheries of the Kafue RiverFlats, Zambia, inrelationtothe Kafue Gorge Dam . Chilanga (Zambia): Central Fisheries Research Institute.
- 100. Lamberts, D. (2006) The Tonle Sap Lake as a Productive Ecosystem. *Water Resources Development* **22**, 481–495.
- Lasne, E., Lek, S. & Laffaille, P. (2007). Patterns in Fish Assemblages in the Loire Floodplain: The Role of Hydrological Connectivity and Implications for Conservation. *Biological Conservation* 139, 258–268.
- Layman, C.A., Montaña, C.G. & Allgeier, J.E. (2010). Linking fish colonization rates and water level change in littoral habitats of a Venezuelan floodplain river. Aquat Ecol. 44: 269–273. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10452-009-9256-5
- Leibold, M.A., Holyoak, M., Mouquet, N., Amarasekare, P., Chase, J.M., Hoopes, M.F., Holt, R.D., Shurin, J.B., Law, R., Tilman, D., Loreau, M. & Gonzalez, A. (2004). The metacommunity concept: a framework for multi-scale community ecology. – Ecol. Lett. 7: 601–613.

- 104. Legendre, P. & De Cáceres, M. (2013). Beta Diversity as the Variance of Community Data: Dissimilarity Coefficients and Partitioning. *Ecology Letters* **16**, 951–963.
- 105. Levine, J. . and H. The Importance of Niches for the Maintenance of Species Diversity. *Nature* **461**, 254–257.
- 106. Linhoss, A.C., Muñoz-Carpena, R., Allen, M.S., Kiker, G. & Mosepele, K. (2012). A Flood Pulse Driven Fish Population Model for the Okavango Delta, Botswana. *Ecological Modelling* 228, 27–38.
- 107. Lobon -Cervia, J. & Rincon, P.A. (1994). Trophic ecology of red roach (Rutilus arcasii) in a seasonal stream; an example of detritivory as a feeding tactic. Freshwater Biology 32:123-132.
- 108. Lowe-Mcconnell, R.H. (1999). Estudos ecológicos de comuni- dades de peixes tropicais. Vazzoler AEA de M, Agostinho AA, Cunnhingham PTM—Edusp, São Paulo.
- 109. Lowe-McConnell, R.H., 1987. Ecological studies in tropical fish community. Cambridge University Press, London, New York. 173 pp
- 110. Luz-Agostinho, K.D.G., Agostinho, A.A., Gomes, L.C. & Júlio, H.F. (2008). Influence of Flood Pulses on Diet Composition and Trophic Relationships among Piscivorous Fish in the Upper Paraná River Floodplain. *Hydrobiologia*. 2008, 187–198, doi:10.1007/s10750-008-9390-4.
- 111. MacArthur, R.H. & Pianka, E.R. (1966). On Optimal Use of a Patchy Environment. **100**.
- 112. Mak, S. (2015). The Governance of Wetlands in the Tonle Sap Lake, Cambodia. *Journal of Environmental Science and Engineering* **B 4**, 331–346.
- 113. Márcia, C.C.A., Francisco, G.A., André, L.M.P. & Márcio, de A.S. (2006). Co-Occurrence of Demersal Fishes in a Tropical Bay in Southeastern Brazil: A Null Model Analysis AN - prod.academic\_MSTAR\_17460468; 6635505. *Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science* 66, 315–322.
- 114. Malcolm, J. (1995). Environmental links sensory system. Environmental Biology of Fish. Pub. Chapman & Hall, London. 445 pp.
- 115. Matthews, W.J. & Marsh, M.E. (2003). Effects of drought on fish across axes of space, time and ecological complexity. Freshw.Biol.48, 1232–1253.(doi:10.1046/j.1365-2427.2003.01087.x.
- 116. Matthews, W. J. (1998). Patterns in freshwater fish ecology. Chapman and Hall, New York.
- 117. McConnell, R.H.L. (1964). The Fishes of the Rupununi Savanna District of British Guiana, South America: Part 1. Ecological Groupings of Fish Species and Effects of the Seasonal Cycle on the Fish. *Journal of the Linnean Society of London, Zoology* 45, 103–144.

- 118. Menge, B.A. & Sutherland, J.P. (1987). Community Regulation: Variation in Disturbance, Competition, and Predation in Relation to Environmental Stress and Recruitment. *The American naturalist* **130**, 730–757.
- Mérigoux, S. & Ponton, D. (1999). Spatio-temporal distribution of young fish in tributaries of natural and flow-regulated sections of a neotropical river in French Guiana. Freshw. Biol. 42: 177–198.
- 120. Merona, B. (1987). Ecological aspects of the ichthyofauna of Rio Tocantins. Acta Amazo<sup>n</sup>ica 16/17: 109–124.
- Mérona, B. & Mérona, J.R. (2004). Food Resource Partitioning in a Fish Community of Central Amazon Floodplain (2004). *Neotropical Ichthyology* 2, 75–84.
- 122. Mérona, B.D. & Rankin-de-mérona, J. (2004). Of the Central Amazon Floodplain. *Neotropical Ichthyology* **2**, 75–84.
- Meschiatti, A.J., Arcifa, M.S. & Fenerich-Verani, N. (2000). Fish communities associated with macrophytes in Brazilian floodplain lakes. Environ. Biol. Fish. 58: 133– 143.
- Meschiatti, A.J. (1995). Alimentação da comunidade de peixes de uma lagoa marginal do rio Mogi Guaçu, SP. Acta Limnologica Brasiliensia, 8:115-137.
- Mortillaro, J.M.; Pouilly, M.; Wach, M.; Freitas, C.E.C.; Abril, G.; Meziane, T. (2015). Trophic opportunism of central Amazon floodplain fish. Freshwater Biology, 60, 1659 -1670.
- 126. Morse, J.C., Yang, L. & Tian, L. (1994) *Aquatic Insects of China Useful for Monitoring Water Quality*. Hohai University Press.
- 127. Mouillot, D., Norman W.H.M. & Wilson, J.B. (2007). Is the abundance of species determined by their functional traits? A new method with a test using plant communities. Oecologia 152(4):729–737. Doi: 10.1007/s00442-007-0688-0.
- 128. Mouchet, M.A., Burns, M.D.M., Garcia, A.M., Vieira, J.P. & Mouillot, D. (2013). Invariant Scaling Relationship between Functional Dissimilarity and Co-Occurrence in Fish Assemblages of the Patos Lagoon Estuary (Brazil): Environmental Filtering Consistently Overshadows Competitive Exclusion. *Oikos* **122**, 247–257.
- Murchie, K.J., Hair, K.P.E., Pullen, C.E., Redpath, T.D., Stephens, H.R. & Cooke, S.J. (2008). Fish Response to Modified Flow Regimes in Regulated Rivers: Research Methods, Effects and Opportunities. *River Research and Applications* 24, 197–217.
- 130. Oberdorff, T., Guégan, J.F. & Hugueny, B. (1995). Global scale pat- terns of fish species richness in rivers. Ecography, 18, 345–352.
- 131. Olurin, K. B. O., Awolesi, O. & Ago-Iwoye. (1991). Food of some fishes of Owa stream, south-western Nigeria. Archiv für Hydrobiologie, 122:95-103.

- Oksanen, J., Blanchet, F.G., Kindt, R., Legendre, P., Minchin, P.R., O'Hara, R.B., et al. vegan: Community Ecology Package [Internet]. (2015). http://cran.rproject.org/package=vegan
- Oksanen, J., Blanchet, F.G., Kindt, R., Legendre, P., Minchin, P.R., O'Hara, R.B., Simpson, G.L., Solymos, P., Stevens, M.H.H. & Wagner, H. (2015). Vegan: Community Ecology Package. 2015.
- Ortega, J.C.G., Dias, R.M., Petry, A.C., Oliveira, E.F. & Agostinho, A.A. (2015). Spatio-Temporal Organization Patterns in the Fish Assemblages of a Neotropical Floodplain. *Hydrobiologia* **745**, 31–41.
- Ovaskainen, O., Hottola, J. & Shtonen, J. (2010). Modeling Species Co-Occurrence by Multivariate Logistic Regression Generates New Hypotheses on Fungal Interactions. *Ecology* 91, 2514–2521.
- Palmer, M.A., Reidy Liermann, C.A., Nilsson, C., Florke, M., Alcamo, J., Lake, P.S. & Bond, P.S. (2008). Climate change and the world's river basins: anticipating management options. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 6:81–89.
- 137. Pantulu, V.R. (1986). Fish of the Lower Mekong, the Ecology of the River Systems, edited by Bryan R. Davies and Keith F. Walker, 1986: 695-781.
- Peoples, B.K. & Frimpong, E.A. (2015). Biotic Interactions and Habitat Drive Positive Co-Occurrence between Facilitating and Beneficiary Stream Fishes. *Lournal of Biogeography* 1–9.
- Peres-Neto, P.R. (2004). Patterns in the Co-Occurrence of Fish Species in Streams: The Role of Site Suitability, Morphology and Phylogeny versus Species Interactions. *Oecologia* 140, 352–360.
- 140. Perga, M.E., Arfi, R. & Gerdeaux, D. (2005). Seasonal Variations in Fish delta13C and delta15N in Two West African Reservoirs, Sélingué and Manantali (Mali): Modifications of Trophic Links in Relation to Water Level. *Isotopes in environmental and health studies* **41**, 109–123.
- 141. Pereira, M.J.C., Coelho, M.M. & Coowx, I.G. (2003). Conservation of Freshwater Fish: Option for the Future. Fisheries Management and ecology 32:303-308
- 142. Petry, P.P., Bayley, B. & Markle, D.F. (2003). Relationships between fish assemblages, macrophytes and environmental gradients in the Amazon River floodplain. J. Fish Biol. 63: 547–579.
- 143. Persson, L. (1983). Food consumption and the significance of detritus and algae to intraspecific competition in roach Rutilis rutilis in a shallow eutrophic lake. Oikos 41:118 -125.
- 144. Pianka, E.R. (1973). The Structure of Lizard Communities. *Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics* **4**, 53–74.

- 145. Pianka, E.R. (1969). Habitat specificity, speciation, and species density in Australian desert lizards. Ecology, 50:498-502.
- 146. Phillips, D.L., Newsome, S.D. & Gregg, J.W. (2005). Combining Sources in Stable Isotope Mixing Models: Alternative Methods. *Oecologia* **144**, 520–527.
- Polito, M.J., Trivelpiece, W.Z., Karnovsky, N.J., Ng, E., Patterson, W.P. & Emslie, S.D. (2011). Integrating Stomach Content and Stable Isotope Analyses to Quantify the Diets of Pygoscelid Penguins. *PLoS ONE* 6.
- 148. Post, E. & Forchhammer, M.C. (2002). Synchronization of animal population dynamics by large-scale climate. Nature, 420, 168–171.
- 149. Pouilly, M., Barrera, S. & Rosales, C. (2006). Changes of taxonomic and trophic structure of fish assem- blages along an environmental gradient in the Upper Beni watershed (Bolivia). Journal of Fish Biology 68:137–156.
- 150. Pouilly, M. & Rodríguez, M. (2004). Determinism of Fish Assemblage Structure in Neotropical Floodplain Lakes: Influence of Internal and Landscape Lake Conditions. Proceedings of the Second International Symposium on the Management of Large Rivers for Fisheries (LARS2) II, 243–265.
- 151. Pouilly, M., Bretenoux, L,E. & Rosales, J.G. (2003). Dietary-morphological relationships in a fish assemblage of the Bolivian Amazonian floodplain. Journal of Fish Biology, 62:1137-1158.
- 152. Poulsen, A.F. (2001). Fish migrations and maintenance of biodiversity in the Mekong River Basin. Paper contributed to the International Symposium on Biodiversity Management and Sustainable Management in Lancang\_Mekong River Basin. Xishuangbanna, Yunan Province, China. 4-7 December, 2001.
- 153. Power, M.E., Matthews, W.J. & Stewart, A.J. (1985). Grazing minnows, piscivorous bass, and stream algae: dynamics of a strong interaction. Ecology, 66, 1448–1456.
- 154. Prejs, A. & Prejs, K. (1987). Feeding of Tropical Freshwater Fishes: Seasonality in Resource Availability and Resource Us. *Oecologia* **71:397-404**.
- Pulver, J.R., Liu, H. & Scott-denton, E. (2017). Modelling Community Structure and Species Co-Occurre Using Fishery Observer Data. *ICES Journal of Marine Science* 73, 1750–1763.
- Pusey, B.J. & Bradshaw, S.D. (1996) Diet and Dietary Overlap in Fishes of Temporary Waters of Southwestern Australia. *Ecology of Freshwater Fish* 5, 183–194.
- 157. R Core Team. R (2013): A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing [Internet]. Vienna, Austria; http://www.r-project.org/
- 158. R Core Team. (2014) R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing. Vienna, Austria: URL http://www.R-project.org/.

- 159. Rainboth, W.J. (1996). Fishes of the Cambodian Mekong. FAO Species Identification Field Guide for Fishery Purposes. *Food and Agriculture Organization, Rome* 265.
- 160. Ranta, E., Kaitala, V., Lindström, J. & Lindén, H. (1995). Synchrony in population dynamics. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London, Series B, 262, 113–118.
- 161. Ricklefs, R.E. & Schluter, D. (1993). Species diversity: regional and historical influences. In Species Diversity in Ecological Communities: Historical and Geographical Perspectives (eds R. E. Ricklefs and D. Schluter), pp. 350–363. University of Chicago Press, Chicago.
- 162. MacArthur, R. & Levins, R. (1967). The Limiting Similarity, Convergence and Divergence of Coexisting Species. *The American naturalist* **101**, 377–385.
- 163. Rodrigues, M., Mattos, T.M., Borges, J.L. & Araújo, F.G (2013). Neotropical Ichthyology Habitat Preferences of Common Native Fishes in a Tropical River in Southeastern Brazil. *Neotropical Ichthyology* **11**, 871–880.
- 164. Röpke, C. P., Amadio, S. A., Winemiller, K. O. & Zuanon, J. (2016). Seasonal Dynamics of the Fish Assemblage in a Floodplain Lake at the Confluence of the Negro and Amazon Rivers. *Journal of fish biology* 89, 194–212.
- 165. Rosenberg, D.M., McCully, P. & Pringle, C.M. (2000). Global scale environmental effects of hydrological alterations: introduction. BioScience. 50:746–751.
- Ross, S.T. (1986). Resource partitioning in fish assemblages: a review of field studies. Copeia, 1986(2):352-388.
- 167. Qiao, X., Li, Q., Jiang, Q., Lu, J., Franklin, S. & Tang, Z. (2015). Beta diversity determinants in Badagongshan, a subtropical forest in central China. Sci Rep. 5: 17043. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep17043 PMID: 26594051
- Saint-Paul, U.J., Zuanon, M.A.V. Correa, M. Garcia, N.N., Fabre, U.B. & Junk, W.J. (2000). Fish communities in central Amazonian white- and blackwater floodplains. Environ. Biol. Fish. 57: 235–250.
- Sandra, B.C. & Winemiller, K.O. (2014). Niche Partitioning among Frugivorous Fishes in Response to Fluctuating Resources in the Amazonian Floodplain Forest Sandra. *Ecology* 95, 210–224.
- 170. Santos, L.N., Araújo, F.G & Brotto.D.S. (2008). Artificial structures as tools for fish habitat rehabilitation in a Neotropical reservoir. Aquat. Cons. 18: 896-908.
- 171. Schoener, T.W. (1974). Resource Partitioning in Ecological Communities. *Science* **185**, 27–39.
- 172. Seegert, S.E.Z. g, Rosi-Marshall, E.J. Baxter, C.V. Kennedy, T.A. Hall Jr., R.O. & Cross, W.F. (2014). High Diet Overlap between Native Small-Bodied Fishes and Nonnative Fathead Minnow in the Colorado River, Grand Canyon, Arizona. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society* 143, 1072–1083.

- 173. Silvano, R.A.M., Benedito, D. & Oyakawa, O.T. (2000). Spatial and Temporal Patterns of Diversity and Distribution of the Upper Juru ´a River Fish Community (Brazilian Amazon). *Environmental Biology of Fishes* **57**, 25–35.
- 174. Silvano, R.A.M., do Amaral, B.D. & Oyakawa, O.T. (2000). Spatial and temporal patterns of diversity and distribution of the Upper Jurua River fishcommunity (BrazilianAmazon). Environ. Biol. Fish. 57: 25–35.
- 175. Smith, W.S. & Petrere, M.J. (2008). Spatial and Temporal Patterns and Their Influence on Fish Community at Itupararanga Reservoir, Brazil. *Revista de Biologia Tropical* 56, 2005–2020.
- 176. Sparks, R.E. (1995). Need for ecosystems management of large rivers and their floodplains. Bioscience, 45: 168-181.
- 177. Sparks, R.E., Bayley, P.B., Kohler, S.L. & Osborne, L.L. (1990). Disturbance and recovery of large floodplain rivers. Environmental Management 14(5): 699–709
- 178. Sousa, R.G.C. & Freitas, C.E.D.C. (2008). The Influence of Flood Pulse on Fish Communities of Floodplain Canals in the Middle Solimões River, Brazil. *Neotropical Ichthyology* 6, 249–255.
- 179. Southwood, T.R.E. (1988). Tactics, strategies and templets. Oikos, 52: 3-18.
- Soyinka, O.O. & Kassem, A.O. (2008). Seasonal Variation in Distribution and Fish Species Diversity of Tropical Lagoon in South-West Nigeria. *Fisheries and Aquatic Science* 6, 375–383.
- 181. Esteves, K. E. & Galetti, P. M. (1994). Feeding ecology of Moenkhausia intermedia (Pisces, Characidae) in a small oxbow lake of Mogi-Guaçu River, São Paulo, Brazil. Internationale de riacho do alto rio Tocantins, Goiás, Brasil. Iheringia, Série Zoologia, 100: 162-168.
- Strayer, D.L., and Dudgeon, D. (2010). Freshwater biodiversity conservation: re- cent progress and future challenges. J. N. Am. Benthol. Soc. 29: 344–358.
- Stuart-Smith, R.D., Richardson, A.M.M. & White, R.W.G. (2004). Increasing turbidity significantly alters the diet of brown trout: A multiyear longitudinal study. J Fish Biol. 65(2):376-88.
- Sutherland, W.J., Freckleton, R.P., Godfray, H.C.J., Beissinger, S.R., Benton, T., Cameron, D.D., Carmel, Y., Coomes, D.A., Coulson, T. & Emmerson, M.C. (2013). Identification of 100 Fundamental Ecological Questions. *Journal of Ecology* **101**, 58– 67.
- 185. Svanbäck, R. & Persson, L. (2004). Individual Diet Specialization, Niche Width and Population Dynamics: Implications for Trophic Polymorphisms. *Journal of Animal Ecology* **73**, 973–982.
- 186. Swales, S., Storey, A.W., Roderick, I.D. & Figa, B.S.(1999). Fishes of floodplain habitats of the Fly River system, Papua New Guinea, and changes associated with El Nino droughts and algal blooms. Env Biology of Fishes 54 (4)389-404.
- 187. Taki, Y. (1978). An Analytical Study of the Fish Fauna of the Mekong Basin as a Biological Production System in Nature. 77.
- 188. Tanaka, W., Wattanasiriserekul, R., Tomiyama, Y., Yamasita, T., Phinrub, W., Chamnivikaipong, T., Suvarnaraksha, A. & Shimatani, Y. (2015). Influence of Floodplain Area on Fish Species Richness in Waterbodies of the Chao Phraya River Basin, Thailand. *Open Journal of Ecology* 434–451.
- Taylor, C.M. (1997). Fish Species Richness and Incidence Patterns in Isolated and Connected Stream Pools: Effects of Pool Volume and Spatial Position. *Oecologia* **110**, 560–566.
- 190. Tejerina-Garro, F.L., Fortin, R. & Rodríguez, M.A. (1998). Fish Community Structure in Relation to Environmental Variation in Floodplain Lakes of the Araguaia River, Amazon Basin. *Environmental Biology of Fishes* **51**, 399–410.
- 191. Pool, M., Gordon, H., Vittoria, E., Kevin, M., Bailey, M., Neil, R., Adrianne, S., Thacj P., Michael, C., Sydney, C., Phen, C. & Samol, C. (2017). Seasonal Increases in Fi Sh Trophic Niche Plasticity within a FI Ood-Pulse River Ecosystem (Tonle Sap Lake, Cambodia). *Ecosphere* 8(7).
- 192. Thomaz, S.M., Bini, L.M. & Bozelli, R.L. (2007). Floods Increase Similarity among Aquatic Habitats in River-Floodplain Systems. *Hydrobiologia* **579**, 1–13.
- 193. Tockner, K.A., Lorang, M.S. & Stanford, J.A. (2010). River flood plains are model ecosystems to test general hydrogeomorphic andecologicalconcepts. River Research and Applications 26, 76–86.
- Tockner, K., Malard, F. & Ward, J.V. (2000). An Extension of the Flood Pulse Concept. Hydrol Process. 2000; 14: 2861–2883.
- 195. van Oijen, M.J.P., Witte, F. & Witte-Maas, E.L.M. (1981). An introduction to ecological and taxonomic investigations on the cichlids from the Mwanza Mwanza Gulf of LakeVictoria. Neth. J. Zool. 31, 149–174.
- 196. Veech, J.A. (2013). A Probabilistic Model for Analysing Species Co-Occurrence. Global Ecology and Biogeography 22, 252–260.
- 197. Verhoeven, J.T.A., Arheimer, B., Yin, C. & Hefting, M.M. (2006). Regional and global concerns over wetlands and water quality. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 21, 96 103.
- 198. Walsh, C., MacNally, R. hier.part (2013). Hierarchical Partitioning [Internet]: http://cran.r-project.org/ package=hier.part

- Ward, J.V., Tockner, K., Schiemer, F. & Layzer, J.B. (1999). Biodiversity of Floodplain River Ecosystems: Ecotones and Connectivity. *River Research and Applications* 5, 125–139.
- 200. Ward, J.V. & Stanford, J.A. (1995). Ecosystems and Its Disruption By Flow Regulation. *Regulated Rivers: Research & Management* **II**, 105–119.
- 201. Warren, T.J., Chapman, G.C. & Singhanouvong. D. (1998). The upstream dry-season migrations of some important fish species in low Mekong River of Lao. Asian Fisheries Science 11:239-251
- 202. Wenger, S.J., Isaak, D.J., Luce, C.H., Neville, H.M., Fausch, K.D., Dunham, J.B., Dauwalter, D.C., Young, M.K., Elsner, M.M., Rieman, B.E. (2011). Flow Regime, Temperature, and Biotic Interactions Drive Differential Declines of Trout Species under Climate Change. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* **108**, 14175– 14180.
- 203. Werner, E.E., Gilliam, J.F., Hall, D.J., Mittelbach, G.G., Gilliam, J.F. & Mittelbach, G.
  G. (1983). An Experimental Test of the Effects of Predation Risk on Habitat Use in Fish Predation Risk on Habitat Use in Fish. *Ecology* 64, 1540–1548.
- Welcomme, R.L. (2003). River fish in Africa: Past, present and future. In: Crisman, Y., Chapman, C.A. & Kaufman, L.S. eds. Aquatic Conservation Management in Africa. University Press of California, Gainesville, pp.145-175.
- 205. Welcomme, R.L. (1979). Fisheries ecology of floodplain rivers . London, UK: Longman Press. Junk WJ. 1985 Temporary fat storage, an adaptation of some fish species to the water level fluctuations and related environmental changes of the Amazon River. Amazoniana 9, 315–352.
- 206. Welcomme, R.L. & Hagborg, D. (1977). Towards a model of a floodplain fish population and its fishery. Environ.Biol.Fishes (2):7–24. doi:10.1007/BF00001412.
- 207. Welcomme, R.L. (1976). Towards a model of floodplain fish population and its fisheries. Environ. Biol. Fish. 2(1):7-22.
- 208. Wiens, J.J. (2011). The Niche, Biogeography and Species Interactions. Philosophical *Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* **366**, 2336–2350.
- 209. Winemiller, K.O. (2004). Floodplain river food webs: In: Welcomme, R.L. & Petr, T. Generalizations and Implications for Fisheries Management. Proceedings of the Second International Symposium on the Management of Large River for Fisheries. Bangkok, Thailand. pp. 286-310.
- 210. Winemiller, K.O. & Jepsen, D.B. (1998). Effects of seasonality and fish movement on tropical river food webs. Journal of Fish Biology, 53:267-296.

- Winemiller, K.O. (1996). Dynamic diversity in fish assemblages of tropical rivers. Pp 99-132. In: Cody, M.L. & Smallwood, J.A. (Eds.). . Long-term Studies of Vertebrate Communities. Academic Press, Orlando, FL, U.S.A., 597p.
- 212. Winemiller, KO. (1991). Ecomorphological diversification in lowland freshwater fish assemblages from five biotic regions. Ecological Monographs 61: 343–365.
- 213. Winemiller, K.O. (1990). Spatial and Temporal Variation in Tropical Fish Trophic Networks. *Ecological Monographs* **60**, 331–367.
- Winemiller, K.O. & Pianka, E.R. (1990). Organization in Natural Assemblages of Desert Lizards and Tropical Fishes. *Ecological Monographs* 60, 27–55.
- 215. Winemiller, K.O., Kelso-Winemiller, L.C. & Brenkerf, A.L. (1995). Ecomorphological Diversification and Convergencein Fluvial Cichlid Fishes. *Environmental Biology of Fishes* 44, 235–261.
- 216. Wisz, M.S., Pottier, J., Kissling, W.D., Pellissier, L., Lenoir, J., Damgaard, C.F., Dormann, C.F., Forchhammer, M.C., Grytnes, J. A. & Guisan, A. (2013). The Role of Biotic Interactions in Shaping Distributions and Realised Assemblages of Species: Implications for Species Distribution Modelling. *Biological Reviews* 88, 15–30.
- 217. Yamamoto, K.C. (2004). Alimentação de Triportheus angulatus (Spix & Agassiz, 1829) no lago Camaleão, Manaus, AM, Brasil. Acta Amazônica, 34(4):653-659.
- 218. Yen, N.T.H., Sunada, K., Oishi, S., Ikejima, K. & Iwata, T. (2009). Stock Assessment and Fishery Management of Henicorhynchus Spp., Cyclocheilichthys Enoplos and Channa Micropeltes in Tonle Sap Great Lake, Cambodia. *Journal of Great Lakes Research* 35, 169–174.
- 219. Zalinge, N.P. (2003). Mekong Flood Levels and Tonle Sap Fish Catch. Contributed paper to the Second International Symposium on the Management Large River for Fisheries, Phnom Penh, 11-14 February 2003.
- 220. Zalinge, N.P. (2002). Status of the Cambodia Inland Capture Fisheries Sector with special reference to the Great Lake. Department of Fisheries/ Inland Fisheries Research and Development Institute/ MRC/ Danida. Program for Fisheries Management and Development Cooperation. Catch and Culture, ISSN 0859-290X, Vol. 8, No. 2- December 2004.
- 221. Zampacavallo, G., Parisi, G., Mecatti, M., Lupi, P., Giorgi, G. & Poli, B.M. (2015). Evaluation of Different Methods of Stunning/killing Sea Bass (Dicentrarchus Labrax) by Tissue Stress/quality Indicators. *Journal of Food Science and Technology* **52**, 2585– 2597.
- 222. Zaret, T.M. & Rand, A.S. (1971). Competition in tropical stream fishes: support for the competitive exclusion principle. Ecology, 52(2):336-342.

**Publications** 

# Temporal distribution and species co-occurrence patterns of fish species in the Tonle Sap Lake Flood Pulse System

Heng KONG<sup>1,2</sup>, Mathieu CHEVALIER<sup>3</sup>, Sovan LEK<sup>1</sup> and Pascal LAFFAILLE<sup>2</sup>

#### **Affiliations**

<sup>1</sup> EDB, Université de Toulouse, CNRS, ENFA, UPS, Toulouse, France

<sup>2</sup> EcoLab, Université de Toulouse, CNRS, INP, UPS, Toulouse, France

<sup>3</sup> Department of Ecology, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Box 7044, 750 07

Uppsala, Sweden

[To be submitted]

#### Abstract

Tonle Sap Lake (TSL) supports 60 percent of inland freshwater catch and provides heterogeneous habitats for threatened and endangered species of Cambodia. The main objective of this paper was to study on the temporal distribution of the most occurrence fish species, their co-occurrence pattern, and to test the influence of the seasonal change in hydrological cycles. We used daily catch monitoring data for the period of four years from 2012 to 2015, conducted by local fishermen at 5 sites around the TSL. Our finding revealed that, species occurrence and abundance was temporally varied. Strong temporal variation in species occurrence was occurred with visiting species such as Labiobarbus leptocheilus, and Poropuntius deauratus while water level starts to fill into the TSL. We further observed that the abundance of 17 species was strongly varied while other 22 species (mainly TSL's residential species) were stable within the year. Positive species co-occurrence pattern was generally higher than negative species co-occurrence at all hydrological season. Highest species positive co-occurrence patterns were found during the period of decrease and low water level seasons while fishes are migrating from flooded areas, competing for resource and habitats during low water season and the interaction between different tropic guilds of some species (predator and prey). Study on temporal distribution and species co-occurrence of fish and how community responds to the seasonal change in hydrological cycles provides critical information for fisheries management and conservation in the Tonle Sap Lake (TSL) as well as maintaining fish biodiversity in the Mekong system.

**<u>Key-words</u>**: species interaction, hydrological cycle, lateral connectivity, niche theory, competition, biotic interactions

# Introduction

In community ecology, a major goal is to understand and identify what are the factors and processes that generate and shape communities (Chesson, 2000; Camarota et al., 2016) and especially what are the mechanisms that allow multiple species to coexist altogether (Sutherland et al., 2013). Although environmental factors have been shown to alter species distributions and community structures in a number of studies, biotic interactions have received less attention (Wiens, 2011; Wisz et al., 2013). Ecological niche theory has been extensively used to explain species assemblages within communities and postulates that species should differ in resource use to be able to coexist (Levine & HilleRisLambers, 2009). This is because, when species have similar ecological niches, the most competitive species is expected to exclude the ones having lower competitive abilities. However, species usually do not have the exact same ecological niche and likely differ with respect to several features such as habitat or feeding requirements. The consequence of this is that competitive interactions can still be at play within communities, even though theory predicts that such interactions should be low as the most interacting species should exclude each other through competition (MacArthur & Levins, 1967; Schoener, 1974). However, this is not because species are never found together that they necessarily compete between each other. For instance, non-overlapping habitat requirements between species can lead to differences in species geographical distributions such that species segregation can occur with little or no interactions between them (Ovaskainen et al., 2010). Patterns of species co-occurrence have been extensively used across the past decade to assess how interspecific interactions dictate community assemblage (Bar-Massada, 2015) whereas Kraft et al., 2007 argued that functional relationships between coexisting species could

reveal the relative influence of environmental constraints over competitive interactions. Furthermore, species pair co-occurrence pattern has becoming a main pursuit of ecologists, primarily because the coexistence of species is fundamentally important in evaluating various theories, principles and concepts. i.e including community assembly, equilibrium versus non-equilibrium organization of communities, resource partitioning and ecological character displacement, the local and regional species diversity relationship, and the meta-community concept (Veech, 2014). Overall, these studies highlighted that communities can be shaped by multiple factors whose contribution may vary depending on the system being studied. These factors include biotic interactions (Mérona & Mérona, 2004; Barili et al., 2011), species-habitat interaction (Peres-Neto, 2004; Mouchet et al., 2013; Rodrigues et al., 2013; Peoples & Frimpong, 2015) and environmental filtering (Rondón Suárez et al., 2004; de Melo et al., 2009). Furthermore, it has been shown that competitive, facilitative or neutral interactions can play varying roles in shaping community composition . The co-occurrence of species that share resource requirements is governed by competitive (Diamond, 1975) and facilitative (Bruno et al., 2003). Understanding how biotic interactions vary over space and time is key to understand what are the processes shaping ecological communities.

Flood-pulse systems experience large seasonal variations in water level characterized by expansion-contraction cycles influencing lateral connectivity to floodplain habitats on which many organisms, such as fishes, rely for feeding and breeding (e.g., Jepsen et al., 1997; Rodrigues et al., 2013; Tanaka et al., 2015). By influencing fish community structure and population dynamics (Dudgeon, 2000) these variations have been shown to strongly influence among-species interactions in tropical floodplain (e.g. Luz-Agostinho et al., 2008; Sousa & Freitas, 2008;

Castello et al., 2015). For instance, the low availability of suitable habitats and food during the dry season usually entails high dietary overlap between species, potentially resulting in high competitive interactions (Winemiller & Pianka, 1990). Likewise, it has been hypothesized that during transient phases of the hydrological cycle (i.e. the phases where the water level either increase or decrease), communities may not have enough time to become saturated and may exhibit random patterns of species co-occurrence (Arrington et al., 2005). Overall, it turns that highly dynamic systems where community vary seasonally as a result of changes in habitat availability and food resources are well suited to study species co-occurrence patterns throughout hydrological seasons (Gabriela and Gonzalez, 2017).

The Tonle Sap Lake (TSL), located in Cambodia, is an important natural flood pulse system, is the largest natural lake in South-East Asia and was designed as a UNESCO Biosphere Reserve (Lamberts, 2006; Arias et al., 2014). The TSL hosts more than 240 fish species (Chan et al., 2017; Kong et al., 2017) and supports many endangered vertebrates (Campbell et al., 2006; Arias et al., 2013; Mak, 2015). This system is the most productive inland fisheries in the world providing livelihood supports, either directly or indirectly, for about two million people in the lower Mekong basin (Holtgrieve et al., 2013; Yen et al., 2009). The lateral connectivity between the main lake and its floodplain area mainly depends on water coming from the Mekong River, representing more than 50% of the water balance and its tributaries around the lake itself.

In this study, we aim to examine changes in co-occurrence pattern of the most abundant fish species within the TSL throughout four complete hydrological cycles

(i.e. four years). Given seasonal changes in the TSL's hydrological cycles and the lateral connectivity to floodplain habitats, we expect strong temporal variation in species occurrence and abundance within the TSL system. Those changes were in turn expected to entail strong temporal variations in species co-occurrence patterns among different tropic guild fish species (non and migratory species) and species interaction between predator and prey during dry season and during the filling of water from the Mekong up stream into the lake as migratory species are migrating to floodplain around the TSL.

#### Materials and Methods

#### Study site

The Tonle Sap Lake (TSL) is the largest natural flood pulse lake in Southeast Asia. TSL is connected with the Mekong in its southern part by a 120 km long river, the Tonle Sap River (TSR), which serves as an inlet and outlet for water fluxes (Figure 1). Every year, the lake undergoes a remarkable transformation. Its area is multiplied by four passing from 2,700 km<sup>2</sup> up to 9,000-16,000 km<sup>2</sup>, while the water level increases from 1 or 2 meters in dry season (from April to May) up to 10-15 meters during the rainy season (from the end of September to the end of October (Kong et al. 2017). According to the seasonal change in water regime, The TSL is classified into four hydrological phases. First phase is the rising season, starts from July to early September, which strongly water feed about 70% from the upper Mekong and the rest from TSL's tributaries itself. The second phase is the flooding season starts at the end of September to early October which extends to surround the TSL about 1.25 million hectares of forest, agricultural land are submerged and may attain up to 15 meter depth. The third phase, is the receding season, occurs from the end of October to February and corresponds to the reversal of the river flow

from the TSL through the TSR, thus leading to a decrease of the water level of the lake. Last phase, the fourth phase, the dry season, lasts from April to May, and corresponds to a period where the water level is the lowest (one to two meters).

#### Data collection

Data were collected under technical and financial support from Mekong River Commission (MRC), in collaboration with Inland Fisheries Research and Development, Fisheries Administration. Fish data were collected at five sites located around the TSL (Fig. 1). Two sites were located in the northern part of the lake (Siem Reap [SR] and Battambang [BB]), while the three other sites were located in the southern part of the lake (Kampong Chhnang [KC], Kampong Thom [KT] and Pursat [PS]). Fish were sampled every day from January 2012 to December 2015 by 15 local fishermen (3 fishermen per site) using gillnets with varying mesh sizes (2 to 6.5 cm), heights (1.5 to 2 m) and lengths (250 to 300 m), to capture individuals and species with varying sizes. Fishes were identified to species level and counted. For unidentified individuals, specimens were brought back to the Inland Fisheries Research and Development Institute (IFReDI) and was performed by a professional taxonomist at. Individuals identified by fishermen were monthly cross-checked at fields by the IFReDI's team.

#### Data preparation and analysis

Only species occurring in at least 10% of the catch were used. Consequently, among the 242 fish species present in the database, 39 species were used here. Those species encompass five orders and 12 families (S1 Table) and correspond to more than 80% of total catch, totaling 10,320,691 individuals (BB=2,226,969, KC=3,056,632, KT=2,511,647, PS=1,384,144 and KC=1,145,299).Daily catch data were aggregated into weekly data, thus resulting in 209 weekly catch data in total.

We used bubble plot on the weekly abundance data to investigate the temporal variation according to the change in hydrological cycles and the weekly abundance data were transformed to presence and absence for investigating species occurrence. We used non-metric multidimensional scaling (NMDS) with dissimilarities between sampling units computed using Bray-Curtis distances (Bray & Curtis, 1957) to illustrate temporal changes in fish communities. We then performed Ward hierarchical clustering on the NMDS on the abundance dataset to identify groups of species based on abundance dissimilarities. Both analyses were performed using the package vegan (Oksanen et al., 2015) within the R environment software.

We used a probabilistic approach to analyse species co-occurrence patterns. Basically, this approach compares species co-occurrence on observed sites to the distribution expected if the species were distributed independently from each other (Veech, 2013). It overall tests whether pairwise associations between species are random or significantly non-random, and whether significant associations are higher or lower than expected. Note that this approach only test co-occurrence between two species and thus do not account for the fact that additional species may influence species occurrence. The simulated random data used for comparisons in this study were thirty-nine species, with a 10 probability of occurrence during the period of five years were included in the analysis. This analysis was performed using the package "cooccur" (Griffith et al., 2016) and was run on the entire dataset (i.e. across the four hydrological cycles) as well as for each season (i.e. dry, wet, receding, and rising seasons). From the results, we generated heat maps to visualize species pairwise associations.

#### Results

Weekly species occurrence (Fig. 2a) and abundance (Fig. 2b) greatly varied across the four seasons. Generally, species occurrence was higher during the high and the receding water seasons, although opposite patterns exist for some species such as *Labiobarbus leptocheilus* (Lale) and *Poropuntius deauratus* (Pode). Strong seasonal variations were also visible regarding abundances with some species presenting particularly strong variations (e.g. *Trichohodus trichopterus* (Trtr), *Mystus mysticetus* (Mymy); Fig. 2b).

The results from the NMDS analysis revealed seasonal variations in community composition (Fig. 2c; axis two). Species assemblages seem to be quite different between the receding and the rising seasons. Species like Pode, *Paralaubuca typus* (Paty) *or Puntioplites proctozysron* (Pupr) were mostly associated with the receding water season, whereas species like *Mystus bocourti* (Mybo), *Boesemania.microlepis* (Bomi) and *Pangasianodon hypophthalmus* (Pahy) were mainly associated with the rising water season. The hierarchical clustering revealed that seasonal change in hydrological cycle is the main driver in seasonal variation of fish assemblages, thus fish community were classified into four assemblages (Fig 2d).

Result from the co-occurrence analysis performed on the whole dataset revealed 25.5% non-random pairwise associations among the 705 species pair considered (Table 1). Among those, 121 were positive, while 59 were negative (Fig. 3a). This analysis further revealed that two non-migratory species [i.e. *Puntioplites proctozysron* (Pupr) and *Anabas testudineus* (Ante)] and two migratory species [i.e. *Henicorhynchus siamensis* (Hesi) and *Henicorhynchus lobatus* (Helo)] show no particular association with any other species. By contrast, other species such as *Thynnichthys thynnoides* (Thth), *Parambassi wolffi* (Pawo) or *Hemibagrus* 

spilopterus (Hesp) were consistently positively associated with other species. No species only showed negative associations. Positive associations were found among migratory species which use the ecological nice and different feeding tropic [i.e. Paralaubuca typus (Paty), Pangasius.larnaudii (Pala), Osteochilus melanople (Osme) and Amblyrhynchichthys truncates (Amtr)], between migratory and nonmigratory species [e.g. Pangasius.larnaudii (Pala) and Parambassis apogonoides (Paap), Paralaubuca typus (Paty) and Xenentodon cancila (Xeca)] and among nonmigratory species which use different feeding tropic [i.e. Hampala macrolepidota (Hama), Rasbora tornieri (Rato) and Xenentodon cancila (Xeca) ]. We further found that, positive biotic interaction between predators and preys [i.e. Channa striata and Pangasius macronema (Pama and Mystus bocourti (Mybo) and between Channa microlepis (Chmi) and Paralaubuca typus (Paty), Pangasius larnaudii (Pala) and Xenendon cancila (Xeca)]. The same analysis performed for each season revealed that positive associations were overall more frequent than negative associations in all seasons (Fig. 3b). Random associations were maximized during the rising and the wet seasons, while they were minimized during the receding and the dry seasons (Table 2). Some species like Mystus singaringan (Mymy), Labiobarbus siamensis (Lasi) or Labiobarbus lineatus (Lali) were most involved into negative interactions (Fig 3b).

#### Discussion

By modifying connectivity patterns to floodplain habitats, flood pulse systems have important effects on community structure and composition, in turn influencing biotic interactions and local patterns of species occurrence, abundance and diversity (Arrington et al., 2005; Fernandes et al., 2009). In accordance, we found strong seasonal variations in species occurrences, abundances and biotic interactions. The stability of occurrence highlighted for most non-migratory species confirm that those species are TSL' resident which use TSL's habitat for all water seasons and lateral migration to nearby the lake, being particularly well adapted to oxygen depletion which occurs during the dry season. Those species likely undergo lateral migration to floodplain habitats during the onset of rainy season. On the contrary, we found strong seasonal variation regarding the occurrence of migratory species such as Labiobarbus leptocheilus (Lale). Overall these results are in accordance with some studies conducted in Amazon flood-pulse systems showing strong variations in abundance and occurrence depending on the water level and the migratory behavior of the different species (Castello, 2008; Röpke et al., 2016). We further found that abundances of migratory species where highest during the rising and the receding seasons, thus suggesting that those species migrate back and forth between the Mekong river and the TSL depending on habitat availability for rearing, spawning and feeding. This pattern is in line with those found in other tropical systems such as in the Yasuni River basin in the Ecuadorian Amazon, a tropical Lagoon and the Solimões River (Galacatos et al., 2004; Soyinka & Kassem, 2008; da Silva et al., 2013).

Seasonal change in hydrological cycle has been shown to be the main driver causing variation in fish community structure and mediating species co-occurrence (Gabriela and Gonzalez, 2017). We found that positive associations were more frequent than negative associations in all seasons, particularly during the dry and the receding water seasons. We firstly suggest that as the area of the lake shrinks, species move from temporary floodplain habitats to permanent flooded areas and

end-up using similar ecological niches, thus competing for similar resources [i.e. Paralaubuca typus (Paty), Pangasius.larnaudii (Pala), Osteochilus melanople (Osme) and Amblyrhynchichthys truncates (Amtr)]. Secondly, although there is positive species co-occurrence between different tropic guilds of some species in the TSL system, we assume that this pattern might be related to the species interaction between predators and preys [i.e. Hampala macrolepidota (Hama), Rasbora tornieri (Rato) and Xenentodon cancila (Xeca) and between Channa microlepis (Chmi) and Paralaubuca typus (Paty), Pangasius larnaudii (Pala) and Xenendon cancila (Xeca)]. In accordance, Bar-Massada (2015) and Echevarría & Rodríguez (2017) observed that niche overlap (i.e. species interaction) was smaller during hydrological phases where environmental heterogeneities are larger such that competition for space and other resources is weak. The pattern of co-occurrence highlighted here contrast to the ones found in Ecológica do Panga Reservoir in Minas Gerais (Brazil) where species co-occurrence appear to be mainly explained by competitive interactions between species instead of habitat affiliations (Camarota et al., 2016) and similarly to our case in the TSL. Likewise, co-occurrence pattern small fishes in Upper Parana' River seemed to be independent of physical and chemical conditions, thus suggesting that biotic interactions mainly shapes community assembly (Ortega et al., 2015). The low percentage of non-random associations highlighted during the rising and the wet seasons can be explained by the fact that species move to floodplains habitats as the area of the lake expand, allowing them to forage on their preferred resources and to inhabit the optimal habitats for spawning and rearing. Thus, it seems that the diversification of habitats which is crucial for species have very specific ecological requirement, is the main driver explaining species co-occurrence patterns. Our results therefore support the assumption that environmental filters

have more influence than biotic interactions on the structure of fish assemblages (Peres-Neto, 2004; Mouchet et al., 2013). The fact that we found non-random associations between migratory and non-migratory species lends support to this hypothesis as these associations can be explained by seasonal changes in lateral connectivity caused by expansion-contraction cycles, allowing permanent resident species and transient species to use similar habitats. Contrasting results were however found in the literature. For instance, Peoples & Frimpong (2015) observed that habitat variables can explain the interaction observed between *Chrosomus oreas* and its host *Nocomis leptocephalus* whereas Márcia et al. (2006) observed that environmental variables are not the key factor explaining associations between different for fish species and that biotic interactions are more likely.

#### Conclusion

TSL also plays an important role in sustaining fish diversity in the Mekong system by providing heterogeneous habitats for threatened and endangered Mekong species including fishes, birds, and probably the world's most endangered freshwater snakes (Campbell et al., 2006). However, current dam construction and the construction planning of 42 additional dams in the upper parts of the Mekong in China, Laos and Thailand is posing considerable threats to the natural flood-pulse regime of the TSL. These changes are forecasted to reduce the annual flood magnitude and to modify the lateral connectivity to floodplain areas, ultimately altering the functioning of the ecosystem while reducing its productivity and affecting the livelihood of thousands of people (Arias *et al.*, 2014). Our results highlight that species occurrence and abundance greatly varied according to seasonal changes in the hydrology of the TSL's system. In addition, strong positive association were

observed during the dry and the receding seasons, indicating that changes in habitat availability and species interaction (predator and prey) are probably the main driver of species co-occurrence in the system, both among small prolific species and between predators and preys. Understanding how fish communities respond and how species interaction to the seasonal change in TSL's flood pulse system provides a critical framework for fisheries management and conservation, particularly for sustaining fish biodiversity and maintaining productivity upon which millions of people depend around the lake.

#### Acknowledgement

The authors are grateful to the Erasmus Mundus TECHNO II Program and the Belmont Forum for providing financial support for this study. We also thank the Mekong River Commission (MRC), Dr. So Nam and Mr. Ngor Peng Bun for providing the data. EDB lab was supported by 'Investissement d'Avenir' grants (CEBA, ref. ANR-10-LABX-0025; TULIP, ref. ANR-10- LABX-41).

#### References

Arias, M. E., Cochrane, T. a. & Elliott, V. (2013) Modelling Future Changes of Habitat and Fauna in the Tonle Sap Wetland of the Mekong. *Environmental Conservation* **41**, 165–175.

- Arias, M. E., Piman, T., Lauri, H., Cochrane, T. A. & Kummu, M. (2014) Dams on Mekong Tributaries as Significant Contributors of Hydrological Alterations to the Tonle Sap Floodplain in Cambodia. *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences* 18, 5303–5315.
- Arrington, D. A., Winemiller, K. O. & Layman, C. A. (2005) Community Assembly at the Patch Scale in a Species Rich Tropical River. *Oecologia* **144**, 157–167.
- Bar-Massada, A. (2015) Complex Relationships between Species Niches and Environmental Heterogeneity Affect Species Co-Occurrence Patterns in Modelled and Real Communities. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 282.
- Barili, E., Agostinho, A. A., Gomes, L. C. & Latini, J. D. (2011) The Coexistence of
  Fish Species in Streams: Relationships between Assemblage Attributes and
  Trophic and Environmental Variables. *Environmental Biology of Fishes* 92, 41–
  52.
- Bray, R. & Curtis, J. T. (1957) An Ordination of the Upland Forest Communities of Southern Wisconsin. *Ecological Monographs* 27, 325–349.
- Bruno, J. F., Stachowicz, J. J. & Bertness, M. D. (2003) Incorporating Facilitation into Ecological Theory. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* **18**, 119–125.
- Camarota, F., Powell, S., S. Melo, A., Priest, G., J. Marquis, R. & L. Vasconcelos, H.
   (2016) Co-Occurrence Patterns in a Diverse Arboreal Ant Community Are
   Explained More by Competition than Habitat Requirements. *Ecology and Evolution* 6, 8907–8918.
- Campbell, I. C., Poole, C., Giesen, W. & Valbo-Jorgensen, J. (2006) Species Diversity and Ecology of Tonle Sap Great Lake, Cambodia. *Aquatic Sciences*

- Castello, L. (2008) Lateral Migration of Arapaima Gigas in Floodplains of the Amazon. *Ecology of Freshwater Fish* **17**, 38–46.Chesson, P. (2000)
   Mechanisms of Maintenance of Species Diversity. *Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics* **31**, 343–366.
- Diamond, J. M. (1975) Assembly of Species Communities. In: Cody ML, Diamond JM (Eds) Ecology and Evolution of Communities. Harvard University Press, Cambridge, MA. *Harvard University Press, Boston* 342–444.
- Dudgeon, D. (2000) Large-Scale Hydrological Changes in Tropical Asia : Prospects for Riverine Biodiversity. *Bioscience* **50**, 793–806.
- Fernandes, R., Gomes, L. C., Pelicice, F. M. & Agostinho, A. A. (2009) Temporal Organization of Fish Assemblages in Floodplain Lagoons: The Role of Hydrological Connectivity. *Environmental Biology of Fishes* **85**, 99–108.
- G. Echevarría and Rodríguez, J. (2017) Co-Occurrence Patterns of Fish Species in Two Aquatic Habitats of the Arauca River Floodplain, Venezuela G. Echevarría and J. P. Rodríguez. 18, 2017.
- Gabriela E. E and Nirson Gonzalez. (2017) Co-Occurrence Pattern of Fish Communities in Litorals of the Three Floodplan Lakes of the Orinoco River, Venezuela. *Journal of Threatened Taxa* **9**, 10249–10260.
- Galacatos, K., Barriga-Salazar, R. & Stewart, D. J. (2004) Seasonal and Habitat Influences on Fish Communities within the Lower Yasuni River Basin of the Ecuadorian Amazon. *Environmental Biology of Fishes* **71**, 33–51.
- Griffith, D. M., Veech, J. A. & Marsh, C. J. (2016) **Cooccur** : Probabilistic Species Co-Occurrence Analysis in *R. Journal of Statistical Software* **69**, 1–17.

- Holtgrieve, G. W., Arias, M. E., Irvine, K. N., Lamberts, D., Ward, E. J., Kummu, M., Koponen, J., Sarkkula, J. & Richey, J. E. (2013) Patterns of Ecosystem Metabolism in the Tonle Sap Lake, Cambodia with Links to Capture Fisheries. *PLoS ONE* 8.
- Jepsen, D., Winemiller, K. O. & Taphorn, D. C. (1997) Temporal Patterns of Resource Partitioning amongCichlaspecies in a Venezuelan Blackwater River. *Journal of Fish Biology* **51**, 1085–1108.
- Kong, H., Chevalier, M., Laffaille, P. & Lek, S. (2017) Spatio-Temporal Variation of Fish Taxonomic Composition in a South-East Asian Flood-Pulse System. *PLoS ONE* **12**, 1–16.
- Kraft, N. J. B., Cornwell, W. K., Webb, C. O. & Ackerly, D. D. (2007) Trait Evolution,
  Community Assembly, and the Phylogenetic Structure of Ecological
  Communities. *The American Naturalist* **170**, 271–283.
- Lamberts, D. (2006) The Tonle Sap Lake as a Productive Ecosystem. *Water Resources Development* **22**, 481–495.
- Levine, J. . and H. The Importance of Niches for the Maintenance of Species Diversity. *Nature* **461**, 254–257.
- Mak, S. (2015) The Governance of Wetlands in the Tonle Sap Lake, Cambodia. *Journal of Environmental Science and Engineering* **B 4**, 331–346.
- de Melo, T. L., Tejerina-Garro, F. L. & de Melo, C. E. (2009) Influence of Environmental Parameters on Fish Assemblage of a Neotropical River with a Flood Pulse Regime, Central Brazil. *Neotropical Ichthyology* **7**, 421–428.
- Mérona, B. De & Rankin-de-mérona, J. (2004) Of the Central Amazon Floodplain. Neotropical Ichthyology 2, 75–84.

- Mouchet, M. A., Burns, M. D. M., Garcia, A. M., Vieira, J. P. & Mouillot, D. (2013)
  Invariant Scaling Relationship between Functional Dissimilarity and Co-Occurrence in Fish Assemblages of the Patos Lagoon Estuary (Brazil):
  Environmental Filtering Consistently Overshadows Competitive Exclusion. *Oikos* 122, 247–257.
- Oksanen, J., Blanchet, F. G., Kindt, R., Legendre, P., Minchin, P. R., O'Hara, R. B.,Simpson, G. L., Solymos, P., Stevens, M. H. H. & Wagner, H. (2015) Vegan:Community Ecology Package. 2015.
- Ortega, J. C. G., Dias, R. M., Petry, A. C., Oliveira, E. F. & Agostinho, A. A. (2015) Spatio-Temporal Organization Patterns in the Fish Assemblages of a Neotropical Floodplain. *Hydrobiologia* **745**, 31–41.
- Ovaskainen, O., Hottola, J. & Shtonen, J. (2010) Modeling Species Co-Occurrence by Multivariate Logistic Regression Generates New Hypotheses on Fungal Interactions. *Ecology* **91**, 2514–2521.
- Peoples, B. K. & Frimpong, E. A. (2015) Biotic Interactions and Habitat Drive Positive Co-Occurrence between Facilitating and Beneficiary Stream Fishes. *Lournal of Biogeography* 1–9.
- Peres-Neto, P. R. (2004) Patterns in the Co-Occurrence of Fish Species in Streams:The Role of Site Suitability, Morphology and Phylogeny versus SpeciesInteractions. *Oecologia* 140, 352–360.
- Robert Macarthur and Richard Levins. (1967) The Limiting Similarity, Convergence and Divergence of Coexisting Species. *The American naturalist* **101**, 377–385.
- Rodrigues Marcus da Costa, Tailan Moretti Mattos, J. L. B. and F. G. A. (2013) Neotropical Ichthyology Habitat Preferences of Common Native Fishes in a

Tropical River in Southeastern Brazil. *Neotropical Ichthyology* **11**, 871–880.

- Röpke, C. P., Amadio, S. A., Winemiller, K. O. & Zuanon, J. (2015) Seasonal Dynamics of the Fish Assemblage in a Floodplain Lake at the Confluence of the Negro and Amazon Rivers. *Journal of Fish Biology*.
- Schoener, T. W. (1974) Resource Partitioning in Ecological Communities. *Science* **185**, 27–39.
- da Silva, M. T., Pereira, J. D. O., Vieira, L. J. S. & Petry, A. C. (2013) Hydrological Seasonality of the River Affecting Fish Community Structure of Oxbow Lakes: A Limnological Approach on the Amapa Lake, Southwestern Amazon. *Limnologica* 43, 79–90.
- Sousa, R. G. C. & Freitas, C. E. D. C. (2008) The Influence of Flood Pulse on Fish Communities of Floodplain Canals in the Middle Solimões River, Brazil. *Neotropical Ichthyology* **6**, 249–255.
- Soyinka, O.O& Kassem, A.O. (2008) Seasonal Variation in Distribution and Fish Species Diversity of Tropical Lagoon in South-West Nigeria. *Fisheries and Aquatic Science* **6**, 375–383.
- Sutherland, W. J., Freckleton, R. P., Godfray, H. C. J., Beissinger, S. R., Benton, T., Cameron, D. D., Carmel, Y., Coomes, D. A., Coulson, T., Emmerson, M. C., et al. (2013) Identification of 100 Fundamental Ecological Questions. *Journal of Ecology* **101**, 58–67.
- Tanaka, W., Wattanasiriserekul, R., Tomiyama, Y., Yamasita, T., Phinrub, W., Chamnivikaipong, T., Suvarnaraksha, A., Shimatani, Y. & 1. (2015) Influence of Floodplain Area on Fish Species Richness in Waterbodies of the Chao Phraya River Basin, Thailand. *Open Journal of Ecology* 434–451.

- Veech, J. A. (2013) A Probabilistic Model for Analysing Species Co-Occurrence. Global Ecology and Biogeography 22, 252–260.
- Veech, J. A. (2014) The Pairwise Approach to Analysing Species Co-Occurrence. Journal of Biogeography **41**, 1029–1035.
- Wiens, J. J. (2011) The Niche, Biogeography and Species Interactions. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* **366**, 2336–2350.
- Winemiller, K. O. & Pianka, E. R. (1990) Organization in Natural Assemblages of Desert Lizards and Tropical Fishes. *Ecological Monographs* **60**, 27–55.
- Wisz, M. S., Pottier, J., Kissling, W. D., Pellissier, L., Lenoir, J., Damgaard, C. F., Dormann, C. F., Forchhammer, M. C., Grytnes, J. A., Guisan, A., et al. (2013)
  The Role of Biotic Interactions in Shaping Distributions and Realised Assemblages of Species: Implications for Species Distribution Modelling. *Biological Reviews* 88, 15–30.
- Yen, N. T. H., Sunada, K., Oishi, S., Ikejima, K. & Iwata, T. (2009) Stock Assessment and Fishery Management of Henicorhynchus Spp., Cyclocheilichthys Enoplos and Channa Micropeltes in Tonle Sap Great Lake, Cambodia. *Journal of Great Lakes Research* 35, 169–174.

## List of tables

# Table 1. Summary of the co-occurrence analysis performed on the whole dataset

Periods	Sites	Positive	Negative	Random co-	Percentage non- random
Dry	52	49	31	586	12.00
Rising	35	23	20	597	6.70
Wet	52	43	25	633	9.70
Receding	70	59	28	622	12.30
Whole	209	121	59	525	25.50

and a subset of the dataset for each season.

Table S1. List and characteristics of the 39 fish species included in this study. The<br/>characteristic abbreviations are as follow. For habitat: 1=demersal, 2=pelagic,<br/>3=benthopelagic, 4=pelagic-neritic. For trophic guild: 1=algivore-detritivore,<br/>2=invertivore-piscivore, 3=invertivore, 4=omnivore, 5=piscivore. Migratory status:<br/>NM=non-migratory species. M=migratory species.

Species	Species Abbreviation	Habitat	Trophic guild	Migration pattern
Amblyrhynchichthys truncates	Amtr	3	1	М
Anabas testudineus	Ante	1	2	NM
Barbonymus gonionotus	Bago	3	1	NM
Boesemania.microlepis	Bomi	3	2	М
Channa micropeltes	Chmi	3	5	NM
Channa striata	Chst	3	5	NM
Cyclocheilichthys armatus	Cyar	3	4	NM
Cyclocheilichthys enoplos	Cyen	3	4	М
Hampala macrolepidota	Hama	3	3	М
Henicorhynchus siamensis	Hesi	3	1	М
Hemibagrus spilopterus	Hesp	1	3	NM
Henicorhynchus lobatus	Helo	3	1	М
Labeo chrysophekadion	Lach	3	1	М
Labiobarbus lineatus	Lali	3	4	М
Labiobarbus leptocheilus	Lale	1	4	NM
Labiobarbus siamensis	Lasi	3	4	М
Mystus bocourti	Mybo	1	3	NM
Mystus albolineatus	Myal	1	2	NM
Mystus mysticetus	Mymy	1	3	NM
Mystus singaringan	Mysi	1	3	NM
Notopterus notopterus	Nono	1	2	NM
Osteochilus vittatus	Osvi	3	4	NM
Paralaubuca typus	Paty	3	3	М

Parachela maculicauda	Pama	1	1	NM
Parambassi wolffi	Pawo	1	2	NM
Parambassis apogonoides	Paap	1	2	NM
Pristolepis fasciata	Prfa	1	3	NM
Puntioplites proctozysron	Pupr	3	4	NM
Ompok bimaculatus	Ombi	1	2	NM
Osteochilus.melanople	Osme	4	4	Μ
Oxyeleotris marmorata	Oxma	1	2	NM
Pangasianodon hypophthalmus	Pahy	3	4	М
Pangasius.larnaudii	Pala	3	4	М
Poropuntius deauratus	Pode	3	4	М
Rasbora tornieri	Rato	3	4	NM
Trichohodus trichopterus	Trtr	1	4	NM
Thynnichthys thynnoides	Thth	3	4	М
Trichopodus microlepis	Trmi	1	4	NM
Xenentodon cancila	Xeca	4	5	М

## **Figure legends**

- Figure 1. Location of the five sampling sites within the Tonle Sap Lake. SR = Siem Reap; BB = Battambang; KC = Kampong Chhnang; KT = Kampong Thom; PS = Pursat.
- Figure 2. Bubble plot of Seasonal variations in (a) species occurrence, (b) species abundance, each bubble value represents the weekly catch according to hydrological cycles (c) NMDS biplot indicates species assemblages, and (d) Hierarchical clustering based on abundance dissimilarities. Species abbreviation are in table S1.
- **Figure 3.** Overall head map of pairwise species co-occurrence from the probabilistic model according to the four hydrological cycles. Species names are positioned to indicate the columns and rows that represent their pairwise relationships with other species. Abbreviation species are in table S1. Species in red point to migratory species. Rising = season, HW= High water level season, DW= Decrease water level season and LW= Low water level season.



Figure 1.



Figure 2.



Figure 3.

# Seasonal omnivory: the response of consumer trophic position to fluctuating environments

Bailey C. McMeans<sup>1\*</sup>, Taku Kadoya<sup>2</sup>, Thomas K. Pool<sup>3</sup>, Gordon Holtgrieve<sup>3</sup>, Sovan Lek<sup>4</sup>, **Heng Kong<sup>4,5</sup>**, Kirk Winemiller<sup>6</sup>, Vittoria Elliot<sup>7</sup>, Neil Rooney<sup>8</sup>, Pascal Laffaille<sup>5</sup> and Kevin S. McCann<sup>9</sup>

<sup>1</sup>University of Toronto Mississauga, Department of Biology, Mississauga, Ontario, Canada
<sup>2</sup>National Institute for Environmental Studies, Tsukuba, Japan
<sup>3</sup>University of Washington, School of Aquatic and Fishery Sciences, Seattle, Washing, USA
<sup>4</sup>EDB, Université de Toulouse, CNRS, ENFA, UPS, Toulouse, France
<sup>5</sup>EcoLab, Université de Toulouse, CNRS, INPT, UPS, Toulouse, France
<sup>6</sup>Texas A&M University, Department of Wildlife and Fisheries Sciences and Program of Ecology and Evolutionary Biology, College Station, Texas, USA
<sup>7</sup>Conservation International's Center for Applied Biodiversity, Arlington, USA
<sup>8</sup>University of Guelph, School of Environmental Sciences, Guelph, Ontario, Canada
<sup>9</sup>Department of Integrative Biology, University of Guelph, Guelph, Ontario, Canada
\*Corresponding author: bailey.mcmeans@utoronto.ca

[Ecology- In Revision]

## Abstract

The implications of seasonality on food web structure have been notoriously understudied in empirical ecology. Here, we focus on seasonal changes in one key attribute of a food web, vertical trophic position of consumers. We ask whether tropical floodplain fishes behave as seasonal omnivores, by shifting their trophic positions in relation to the annual flood pulse, or whether they feed as static omnivores, at the same trophic position all year, as much empirical work implicitly assumes. Using ratios of nitrogen stable isotopes ( $\delta^{15}$ N) for 28 species, we find evidence within the Tonle Sap Lake, Cambodia, that fishes shift towards lower trophic positions during the wet season. Available fish dietary data from the Tonle Sap and a literature review suggest that increased exploitation of plants and/or invertebrates could explain this finding. However, the large variation in seasonal trophic position shifts observed among species (ranging from -0.51 to +0.64 trophic levels from the dry to the wet season) argues that diverse behavioral responses to seasonality could be central for re-routing energy flow in these dynamic ecosystems. Based on existing literature, seasonal omnivory appears widespread in other taxa and ecosystems, and warrants further study given its potential influence on food web dynamics in fluctuating environments.

**Keyword:** Food web, web dynamic, tropic level, stable isotope and tropic level

# Introduction

Most ecosystems are characterized by seasonal variation in physical conditions (temperature, light, precipitation) that influences resource availability for organisms. The consequences of seasonal environmental variation for food web patterns and processes remain poorly understood, although this topic has garnered increasing interest among both aquatic and terrestrial ecologists (CaraDonna et al. 2017, Hampton et al. 2017, McMeans et al. 2015). Recent empirical and theoretical work argues that consumer trophic position and extent of food-chain omnivory (i.e., feeding on more than one trophic level) can vary across spatial gradients. For example, fish trophic position increases from small to large lakes in response to changes in resource availability (Post and Takimoto 2007, Tunney et al. 2012). Such adaptive foraging should promote food web stability based on theory (Kondoh 2003, McCann et al. 2005). While much of this work implicitly assumes that the extent of omnivory within any given system remains static through time, emerging evidence indicates that consumer trophic position often changes on an inter-annual (Ruiz-Cooley et al. 2017) and seasonal basis (Akin and Winemiller 2006, McMeans et al. 2015). Changes in omnivory through time could have equally important consequences as those recognized in space for food web structure and stability (Takimoto et al. 2002, Křivan and Diehl 2005, Kratina et al. 2012). Therefore, it remains important to explore if and how consumer trophic positions respond to temporal variation in nature, especially given that climate change is already altering existing seasonal signals in many of Earth's ecosystems (Wolkovich et al. 2014).

Here, we examine tropical river floodplains as a model system to investigate the response of fish trophic position to regular variation in the environment. Although seasonal diet data for fish are generally rare, they are more common for wet-dry periods in tropical systems than for summer-winter periods in temperate and arctic systems. We use ratios of stable isotopes of nitrogen ( $\delta^{15}$ N) to identify the magnitude and direction of trophic position shifts in 28 fish species sampled from the Tonle Sap in Cambodia (a huge fluvial system in

the Lower Mekong Basin) that span a range of body sizes. We then analyze dietary composition associated with trophic position shifts for 4 common carnivorous fishes that consume both invertebrates and fish using stomach contents data. We also evaluated dietary patterns for species from other tropical floodplain systems using data obtained from the literature. Use of combined  $\delta^{15}N$  and dietary data provides a more comprehensive assessment of trophic ecology than use of either approach alone (Rybczynski et al. 2008). Recent work indicates that fishes in the Tonle Sap (Pool et al. 2017) and other tropical floodplains (e.g., Wantzen et al. 2002) become more generalized feeders with broader isotopic niches ( $\delta^{15}N$  and  $\delta^{13}C$ ) during the wet season. In some tropical rivers, seasonal floodplain inundation stimulates nutrient mineralization and aquatic primary and secondary invertebrate production (Junk et al. 1989); however, flooding can dilute dissolved inorganic nutrients and reduce aquatic primary production in tropical oligotrophic rivers (Cotner et al. 2006). Flood pulse recession, on the other hand, strands aquatic vegetation (Bayley 1988) and increases per-unit-area densities of fishes, which increases foraging efficiency of piscivores (Winemiller 1989, Wantzen et al. 2002). Given these seasonal dynamics, we test the hypothesis that during the wet season in floodplain systems, fishes capable of consuming both invertebrates and fish will broaden their diet to increasingly include invertebrates, resulting in shifts to lower trophic positions. Although based on tropical floodplains, our findings are broadly relevant for other ecosystems that undergo seasonal shifts in basal resources.

#### Methods

The Tonle Sap in Cambodia is the largest lake in the Mekong River Basin and Southeast Asia. This relatively shallow lake (maximum depth 15 m) experiences a single flood pulse annually (wet season: July to October, dry season November to June) (Kong et al. 2017). Stable isotope and stomach contents data were collected as part of a broader research effort involving surveys at multiple locations around the Tonle Sap (Siem Reap,
Kampong Chhnang, Kampong Thom and Pursat Provinces; see Pool et al. 2017) during both seasons. Tissue for stable isotopes were collected from 28 fish species (Table S1) sampled from November 2010 to April 2015 using multi-panel gill nets or by purchasing fish from local fishers or lakeside markets. Samples of aquatic invertebrate taxa used as baseline indicators of benthic and pelagic secondary production were sampled with dip nets and plankton nets (see Appendix 1 for details). All samples were dried, homogenized and weighed into tin capsules before being analyzed for  $\delta^{15}N$  via a Costech ECS 4010 Elemental Analyzer coupled to a ThermoFinnigan MAT 253 isotope ratio mass spectrometer. Stable isotopes are expressed as delta values ( $\delta$ ) in permil ( $\infty$ ) relative to the international standard for nitrogen (atmospheric air). To identify the dietary drivers of observed seasonal shifts in  $\delta^{15}$ N-based trophic positions, stomach contents data were analyzed for 4 fish species (Table 1) that are considered piscivores with flexible diets that can include invertebrates. These data were collected from specimens sampled during July 2014-April 2015 (Kong et al. 2017) and are reported as the proportion of fish, invertebrate and plant material by weight relative to total stomach contents weight (see Appendix 1 for more detail). Fish with completely empty stomachs were excluded (see Table S2 for sample size and body lengths).

We applied the following single source equation to calculate fish trophic positions

# (Eqn 1) TP<sub>consumer</sub> = 2+ $\delta^{15}$ N<sub>consumer</sub>- $\delta^{15}$ N<sub>baseline</sub>/ TDF

where  $\delta^{15}N_{\text{baseline}}$  is the mean  $\delta^{15}N$  of all baseline samples (primary consumers) in each season (5.92 ‰ in the wet season, 6.15 ‰ in the dry season; Table S3) and  $\delta^{15}N_{\text{consumer}}$  is the  $\delta^{15}N$  value for an individual fish. TDF (trophic discrimination factor) is scaled to account for lower discrimination in strictly carnivorous vs. more omnivorous fish (see Appendix 1 for details). The seasonal shift in trophic position was calculated for each of the 28 species as the mean dry minus the mean wet trophic positon. Positive values, therefore, supported our prediction of lower trophic positions in the wet season. Effect sizes with pooled standard deviations and 95% confidence intervals (Coe 2002) were calculated to explore variation around mean values for trophic position shifts. We then explored how the mean shift in seasonal trophic position related to mean body size across the 28 species using quadratic regression. Seasonal changes in each of the three stomach contents response variables (proportional weight of invertebrate, fish and plant material) were then explored using data for individual fish belonging to each of the 4 species, and analyzed using zero-inflated beta regression (due to the presence of zeros in the data) in R package zoib (Liu and Kong 2015, see Appendix 1 for detail). We included season (wet, dry) and total body length as explanatory variables, and included both species and sampling location as random intercepts.

To determine whether findings from the Tonle Sap are consistent with evidence from other tropical floodplains, we reviewed literature accounts to obtain fish trophic data recorded during different phases of the annual flood pulse. We focused this analysis on piscivores, especially those that sometimes include invertebrates in their diet. Each report for a single species or trophic guild constituted a single 'evidence item', with a total of 29 evidence items extracted from the 10 data sources that met our inclusion criteria (see Appendix 1 for details).

# Results

## Tonle Sap fishes

Seasonal shifts in trophic position (mean dry – mean wet, for each of the 28 species) ranged from -0.51 to 0.64 and exhibited a hump-shaped relationship with mean body length based on quadratic regression (Fig. 1A), but was not statistically significant (P=0.08). Nonetheless, 8 species had seasonal trophic position shifts whose effect size ± 95% CI did not cross zero (Fig. 1A, Table S1), and these 8 species followed the trend indicated by the quadratic regression. Specifically, mid-sized species (body size 108 to 220 mm) shifted towards lower wet-season trophic positions (positive values in Fig. 1A), whereas smaller and larger species exhibited the opposite trend (negative values in Fig. 1A). Baseline aquatic

invertebrates (Table S3) and terrestrial invertebrates (e.g. spiders, beetles; data not shown) had lower □<sup>15</sup>N values than the 28 fish species from the Tonle Sap (Table S1), confirming that greater consumption of invertebrates reduces trophic position in this system.



**Fig. 1.** A) Shift in the mean trophic position between seasons (i.e. mean dry – mean wet) for 28 Tonle Sap species spanning a range in body sizes (mean total length, mm). Species with large and significant seasonal shifts in trophic position (i.e. effect sizes whose 95% CI did not bound zero, Table S1) are indicated by symbols with thick black borders. Species with accompanying stomach contents data are abbreviated as follows: A= *Anabas testudineus*, N= *Notopterus notopterus*, Cs=*Channa striata*, Cm= *Channa micropeltes*. The grey line on represents zero shift in seasonal trophic position. B) Proportional consumption of invertebrates (by weight relative to total stomach contents) for specimens of four fish species (left) and combined data across species (right) during wet and dry seasons. Data points are jittered as per Weissberger et al. (2015) to reveal the presence of zeros. Mean invertebrate consumption by each species during each season is shown as a bar.

For the 4 species with stomach contents data, diets were dominated by fish and invertebrates with some plant material present (Table S2). Zero-inflated beta regression revealed that the probability of invertebrates being eaten increased during the wet season

and decreased with fish length. This is indicated by the parameter b0[2] (Table S4), which shows a significant negative effect on the probability of zero (i.e. nothing is eaten), whereas length had a negative effect on the probability of invertebrate consumption (b[2] in Table S4). Thus, smaller fish (i.e. *Anabas testudineus* and *Notopterus notopterus*) consumed significantly more invertebrates than larger, more piscivorous fish (i.e. *Channa* spp.), and the probability of invertebrates being eaten was significantly higher during the wet season (Fig. 1B). Season did not have a significant effect on the probably of plants or fish being eaten (Table S4).

#### Result of literature review

Out of the 29 evidence items, seasonal diet information was provided for 28 cases and  $\delta^{15}N$  values were provided for 1 case (Table 1). Eleven evidence items supported the hypothesis of increased plant or invertebrate consumption during the wet-season flood pulse (Table 1). For the remaining 18 evidence items, 5 cases reported increased consumption of plants and invertebrates during the dry season or increased consumption of fish during the wet season (the opposite of our prediction), and 13 cases reported fish dominating the diet throughout the year. For classification purposes, we refer to species as 'omnivores' when their stomachs contained multiple prey types (invertebrates or plants and fish) and 'piscivores' when their stomachs contained >97% fish. Maximum body sizes of each species reported in the literature (actual body lengths of fish sampled in each study were not always provided for comparison) were smaller in omnivores (mean  $\pm$  SD = 43  $\pm$  71 and 21  $\pm$  15 cm with and without Wallago attu, a large food-chain omnivore, respectively; Table 3) than piscivores (55 ± 23 cm; Table 1). This pattern derived from the broader literature, whereby predators that predominantly reduced their trophic position in the wet season were smallerbodied than those that fed on different types of fish all year, agrees with the pattern revealed by Tonle Sap isotopic data (Fig. 1A).

146

Table 1. Data extracted from a literature review performed to explore seasonal diet changes in tropical floodplain piscivorous food-chain omnivores. Reported maximum total body length (cm), dominant prey items and quantitative contribution to diet, when provided, are reported for each study, as is whether each study provided support for our hypothesis (i.e. lower trophic positions in the wet vs. dry season) or no support (no difference in trophic position or higher trophic positions in the wet season). References 5 and 8 classified fish prey by species and the functional group of the main fish prey consumed is provided in parentheses. Species with multiple prey types (fish plus invertebrates and/or plants) are noted as food chain-omnivores 'O' and species with >97% fish in their stomachs are listed as piscivores 'P'.

Species	Max. length	Dry season diet	Wet season diet	Lower TP in wet?	O or P	Ref.
Fish community	NA	Significantly higher $\delta^{15}N$ by 1.45‰	Lower $\delta^{15}$ N	Support	NA	1
Fish community	NA	5% aquatic inverts, 20% fish	18% aquatic inverts, 10% fish	Support	NA	2
Fish community	NA	Fish prey dominate	Plant and invertebrate prey dominate	Support	NA	3
Fish community	NA	29% invert., 25% detritus, 20%fish	30% invert., 17% detritus, 23% fish	No support	NA	4
Serrasalminae sp.	NA	Fish	Terrestrial plant matter and fish	Support	0	5
Hemigrammus marginatus	4.5	73% fish, 24% plant, 0.2% invert.	0% fish, 20% plant, 60% invert.	Support	0	6
Moenkhausia collettii	5	Invertebrates and fish	Invertebrates	Support	0	5
Hypselecara coryphaenoides	16	Fish	Invertebrates	Support	0	5
Serrasalmus marginatus	27	99% fish, 1% detritus	93% fish, 7% invert.	Support	Р	6
Serrasalmus gouldingi	28	64% fish, 12% fruits/seeds,10% rthropods	45% fish, 40% fruits/seeds, 8% arthropods	Support	0	7
Hoplarchus psittacus	32	Fish	Aquatic invert. and fish	Support	0	5
Pimelodus maculatus	51	50% fish, 25% plants	32% fish, 57% plants	Support	0	6
Aphyocharax dentatus	7.2	33% invert., 16% fish	5% invert., 87% fish	No support	0	6
Pimelodella gracilis	18	21% plants, 15% fish, 14% invert.	2% plant, 67% fish, 26% invert.	No support	0	6
Pimelodus argenteus	25	39% plant, 18% invert., 10% fish	36% plant, 11% invert., 38% fish	No support	0	6
Acestrorhynchus lacustris	27	100% fish (herbivores)	100% fish (omnivores, herbivores)	No support	Р	8
Acestrorhynchus lacustris	27	100% fish (herbivores)	100% fish (omnivores)	No support	Р	8
Acestrorhynchus pantaneiro	35	100% fish	100% fish	No support	Р	6

Plagioscion Ternetzi	39	100% fish	97% fish	No support	Р	6
Hepsetus odoe	44	100% fish (omnivores)	100% fish (omnivores)	No support	Р	9
Pygocentrus nattereri	50	100% fish	99% fish, 1% plant	No support	Р	6
Hoplias malabaricus	65	100% fish (omnivores)	100% fish (piscivores)	No support	Р	8
Hoplias malabaricus	65	100% fish (piscivores)	100% fish (omnivores)	No support	Р	8
Cichla monoculus	70	93% fish, 7% plant	100% fish	No support	Р	10
Hydrocynus forskahlii	78	100% fish (omnivores)	100% fish (piscivores, omnivores)	No support	Р	9
Rhaphiodon vulpinus	80	100% fish	100% fish	No support	Р	6
Salminus Brasiliensis	100	95% fish, 5% invert.	100% fish	No support	Р	6
Wallago attu	240	10% fish, 30% prawn (during January)	30% fish, 0% prawn (during July)	No support	0	11

References: 1. Wantzen et al. 2002 (Pantanal wetland, Brazil); 2. Winemiller 1989 (Venezuelan Llanos); 3. Peterson 1997 (Venezuelan Llanos);
4. de Merona and Rankin-de-Merona 2004 (lago de Rei, Amazon); 5. Goulding 1988 (Rio Negro, Amazon); 6 Novakowski et al. 2008 (Pantanal wetland, Brazil); 7. Prudente et al. 2016 (Anapu River, Brazil); 8. Almeida et al. 1997 (Pantanal wetland, Brazil); 9. Winemiller and Kelso-Winemiller 1994 (Upper Zambezi, Zambia); 10. Oliveria et al. 2006 (Amazon River); 11. Islam et al. 2006 (Bangladesh)

# Discussion

The major finding of our study is that food-chain omnivory can be dynamic, with diets shifting to varying degrees in response to seasonal variation in environmental conditions and resource availability. In tropical floodplain ecosystems, fish trophic positions shift in response to seasonal patterns of hydrology. The vertical trophic position of most omnivorous fishes declined during the wet-season flood pulse. Many fish are capable of exploiting multiple food resources, but may track the most profitable food types when these are abundant during certain periods or within certain habitats (Winemiller 1989, Correa and Winemiller 2014). Larger piscivorous species, on the other hand, fed predominantly on fish throughout year and either increased or decreased their trophic position during the wet season. These large piscivores could also have tracked temporal and/or spatial variation in fish prey availability (e.g. Almeida et al. 1997). Interestingly, variation in trophic responses was large and not all species followed the same trend. Diverse feeding responses among coexisting species appears common in fish assemblages of tropical floodplains (Winemiller 1989, Wantzen et al. 2002, Correa and Winemiller 2014) and may be important for the 'dynamic stability' (Leigh et al. 2010) and resiliency of these complex systems (Pettit et al. 2017). Our findings, combined with existing knowledge, suggest that seasonal omnivory could play a currently underappreciated role in sustaining energy and nutrient flow across changing conditions.

Based on combined stable isotope and stomach contents data, mid-sized omnivorous fishes from the Tonle Sap (i.e. *A. testudinus* and *N. notopterus*) reduced their trophic position and increased their consumption of invertebrates during the wet season. Five additional Tonle Sap species also showed large reductions (effect size that did not bound zero) in wet-season trophic positions, and 11 out of 16 literature reports for omnivores or entire fish assemblages showed increased consumption of plants or invertebrates during the wet season. Reduced wet-season trophic positions therefore appear common among omnivorous fishes of tropical floodplains. Species identified as strict piscivores, on the other hand, consumed fish almost exclusively throughout year. These piscivores likely possess

morphological and behavioral traits that enable them to feed efficiently on fish while compromising foraging efficiency for other food resources (Almeida et al. 1997). Variable responses among piscivores to the flood pulse are consistent with previous studies that inferred piscivores track alternative fish prey depending on foraging tactics and habitat (Almeida et al. 1997, Winemiller and Kelso-Winemiller 1994, Peterson 1997). For example, sit-and-wait piscivores can exploit abundant juvenile fishes during the wet season by using vegetation as cover, whereas stalk-and-chase predators may be more efficient predators as water levels fall and prey encounter rates peak (Peterson 1997). In South American floodplain, the tooth-snouted glass tetra, Roeboides dayi (Characidae), fed heavily on aquatic invertebrates when they were abundant during the wet season, and specialized on scales during the dry season when fishes were concentrated in shrinking pools (Winemiller 1989, Peterson & Winemiller 1997). While we focused on piscivores that also feed on invertebrates and sometimes even plant matter (i.e., piscivores that are food chainomnivores), other functional groups are also alter their trophic positions seasonally. For example, small omnivorous fishes, such as Hemigrammus spp. (total length <11 cm) and other tetras, can shift from feeding mostly on plant matter in the dry season to invertebrates during the flood pulse (Peterson 1997, Goulding et al. 1988). This tracking of invertebrate abundance could explain higher trophic positions observed during the wet season for some Tonle Sap fishes (Fig. 1). Based on these combined findings, it appears that fish perceive seasonal fluctuations in the abundance of alternative food resources differently, and most fishes are capable of responding by altering their diet and trophic position.

A positive relationship between trophic position and body size is not anticipated across entire tropical floodplain fish assemblages (Ou et al. 2017) because some herbivores and omnivores are large (e.g. the giant Mekong catfish, *Pangasianodon gigas*, is an omnivore, max. size = 300 cm; Rainboth 1996) and some species with high trophic positions are small (e.g. African pike, *Hepsetus odoe*, as small as 10 cm were strongly piscivorous; Winemiller and Kelso-Winemiller 1994). Body size was also not a significant predictor of the direction of

150

seasonal trophic position shifts in the Tonle Sap (P=0.08), and not all fishes followed our prediction of reduced wet season trophic positions (Fig. 1A, Table 1). Variation in seasonal diet shifts among floodplain fishes has been previously demonstrated by other studies using stable isotope (Wantzen et al. 2002) or dietary analysis (e.g. Winemiller 1989, Novakowski et al. 2008, Mérona and Rankin-de-Mérona 2004). The habitat heterogeneity of these systems and high variation among observed  $\delta^{15}$ N values within and among species, further stresses the importance of considering dietary data along with  $\delta^{15}$ N-based estimates of trophic position. However, the general trophic patterns in relation to hydrologic seasonality uncovered here, in spite of the complexity and dynamic nature of tropical floodplain ecosystems (Pettit et al. 2017), prompt us to consider further how seasonal omnivory could influence food web structure and stability.

The magnitude of seasonal trophic position changes reported here (plus or minus approximately half a trophic level) reflects changes in fish foraging behavior with consequences for food web structure, as well as individual fitness. For example, a shift from eating 100% fish to eating 50% fish and 50% invertebrates (i.e. a reduction in trophic position of ~ 0.5) would likely change the number and strength of species interactions in the food web as well as the activity costs and growth of individual fish (Sherwood et al. 2002). Such temporally dynamic omnivory could also have consequences for stability. One theoretical study suggests that 'adaptive' omnivory, whereby consumers incorporate lower trophic level prey into their diet when preferred prey become rare, slightly increases stability relative to the case of fixed omnivory (Křivan and Diehl 2005). Prey refugia, prey defense, stage-structured cannibalism, and adaptive foraging are all mechanisms that are thought to maintain omnivory at weak to intermediate interaction strengths in nature, and thus prevent strong and destabilizing omnivory (Kratina et al. 2012). Although not well considered theoretically, flexible food web properties, like omnivory, could be extremely important for stability in non-equillibrim or periodically forced systems (McCann and Rooney 2009).

151

Temporally changing trophic positions also arise in other taxa and ecosystems, including stream macroinvertebrates (Hellmann et al. 2013), birds (Nakano and Murakami 2001) and desert mammals (Soykan and Sabo 2009). Consumer trophic positions can also remain static through time (Rybczynski et al. 2008). Temporal omnivory therefore appears variable in its direction and magnitude of change, a conclusion consistent with our findings from tropical floodplains. One could further consider how the location of a particular species in Fig. 1A would change depending on body size (e.g. throughout ontogeny) and how the capacity for seasonal omnivory differs among functional groups (e.g. omnivores vs. detritivores, Wantzen et al. 2002) and ecosystem types (e.g. between summer and winter in temperate or arctic systems), and how this variation influences food web structure and stability.

# Conclusions

Vertical trophic position and the related concept of food-chain omnivory are key attributes that influence food web stability and functions (McCann et al. 2005, Winemiller et al. 2014, Post and Takimoto 2007). Our findings for fishes inhabiting tropical floodplains revealed that food-chain omnivory is dynamic in response to seasonal hydrology. Seasonal shifts in trophic ecology are not unique to tropical fishes or floodplains. Knowledge about how species and ecosystems respond to seasonality is crucial for anticipating the consequences of climate change. Organisms capable of dynamic omnivory on seasonal time scales, for example, could be particularly important for sustaining ecosystem functioning in the face of changing conditions (Takimoto et al. 2002, McMeans et al. 2016). Further, maintenance of species spanning a range of trophic responses, as observed among fishes in tropical floodplains, could play an important role in buffering local communities from perturbations.

# Acknowledgments

The authors acknowledge the Belmont Forum for funding.

# Appendix 1. Detailed methods of sample collection and data analysis

# Stomach contents data collection

Data collection was carried out under the collaborative work with the Inland Freshwater Research and Development Institute (IFReDI) of Cambodia, which is part of the Fisheries Administration (FiA). Two species (*Labeo chrysophekadion* and *Cyclocheilichthys enoplos*) were excluded due to low sample sizes (<5 individuals in a single season) and *Boesemania microlepis* was excluded because fish sampled in the dry season were significantly larger than wet season samples, precluding our ability to separate the effect of length from season on diet composition. Stomachs were removed and food items were identified as plant (identifiable material equalled seeds and roots), invertebrate (sum proportions of the individual taxa: Decapoda, Nematoda, Bivalvia, Coleoptera, Trichoptera, Odonata, Orthoptera, Gastropoda, Ephemeroptera, Hemiptera, Diptera, and unidentified aquatic insects), or fish. Wet weight was measured by gently blotting fluid from the surface of the food item with tissues paper and then weighing the item on an electronic balance to the nearest 0.01 mg.

# Stable isotope analysis – baseline sampling and correction.

Snails and crabs (primary consumers of benthic primary production) and mussels and clams (primary consumers of water-column primary production) were sampled with dip nets. Zooplankton (primary consumers of water-column primary production) were sampled with plankton nets. Soft tissues of molluscs and crabs were removed for isotopic analysis, and zooplankton tissue was analyzed as bulk samples containing whole organisms.

Values of  $\delta^{15}$ N varied less between benthic and pelagic baseline organisms and between seasons compared to  $\delta^{13}$ C (not included here), which showed large differences between benthic and pelagic baselines in the wet season, but converged in the dry season (Table S3). Because the Tonle Sap Lake is a biogeochemically and spatially complex system, and we were interested in general patterns across the entire lake, we took the mean  $\delta^{15}$ N values across all baseline organisms (i.e. all benthic and pelagic for each season, Table S3) to capture the fact that: 1) fish are presumably mobile across sampled sites and regions given the known capacity of many to migrate horizontally or longitudinally, and 2) there is a high potential for fish to forage on both benthic and pelagic prey because this is a shallow lake (maximum lake depth is 1 and 15 m in the dry and wet season, respectively).

# Stable isotope analysis – trophic discrimination factor

Individual trophic position was calculated from tissue  $\Box^{15}N$  using a modified procedure based on Bastos et al. (2017). Specifically, given that TDF can increase with the contribution of plant material in the diet (Bastos et al. 2017), we modeled the trophic discrimination factor (TDF) as an exponential function of estimated relative piscivory. Here the assumptions are: 1) fish consuming plants will have a higher TDF than carnivorous fish, and 2) as individual  $\delta^{15}N$  increases, the proportion of carnivory increases, eventually saturating at 100%. *TEF<sub>carn</sub>* and *TEF<sub>plant</sub>* (mean ± 1SD) were characterized from the recent meta-analysis by Bastos et al (2017). Uncertainty in those parameters were incorporated into the final TL calculation by running 1000 Monte Carlo simulation trials. Lastly, there are no direct measurement for the decay constant (*k*). We estimated this value to be approximately 1 based on general coherence between our estimates and those from Fishbase for species where data were available. Following the procedure of scaling TDF values, we confirmed that using a standard TDF of 3.4‰ (Post 2002) produced the same qualitative results.

#### Stable isotope analysis - consideration of turnover time

Estimated isotopic turnover time (half life) for each individual fish, based on their body mass (g), calculated using the equation for vertebrate ectotherm muscle provided by Vander Zanden et al. (2015) ranged from 34 to 140 days. We subtracted these half life estimates from the sampling date for each individual fish and used these isotope-adjusted dates to assign fish into the wet or dry season. In almost all cases, the sampling date and isotope adjusted date fell within the same season. Only fish sampled in July (the early wet season)

were re-assigned to the dry season, and fish sampled in November and December (the early dry season) were re-assigned to the wet season, because their isotopic signal was assumed to be more reflective of the season that preceded their date of capture.

#### Stomach content analysis using zoib

We modeled each of the 3 response variables using zero-inflated beta regression, in which likelihood is defined as a joint probability of two components: probability of observation's being zero and that, under beta distribution, the observation is not zero (Lui and Kong 2015). In the model, each of the probability components are modeled with linear combination of explanatory variables with logit link function. We used season (wet, dry) and body length as explanatory variables for both of the 2 components. The model is estimated using R package zoib and given the low sample sizes for each species in each season, all species are analyzed at once in the same model and species identity is added as a random intercept to control species specific responses.

#### Literature review

The literature review was carried out following the protocol of the Collaboration for Environmental Evidence (2013). The literature search was conducted in December 2016 and updated in November 2017 using the ISI web of science search engine and the search term combination "(food\* OR diet\*) AND tropical AND floodplain AND season\*", which returned 85 studies. The inclusion criteria for each article in our systematic review was that each study: 1) be conducted in a large tropical floodplain river, 2) be conducted in a system with a single annual flood, characterized by sinusoidal hydrography, 3) provide diet information either for individual piscivore species or for the whole fish community that included piscivores, 4) included data for both the wet period and the dry period, and 5) be written in English. Of the 85 studies reviewed, only 3 met these criteria. An additional 4 articles that met our criteria were identified from the bibliographies of these studies, and 2 other articles, 1 book and 1 graduate thesis, were identified to produce a total of 11 data sources. Each report for a

single fish or fish community constituted a single 'evidence item' with a total of 29 evidence items extracted from the 11 data sources identified that met our inclusion criteria.

**Table S1.** Total body length (mm), seasonal shift ( $\Delta$ ) and effect size (±95% confidence intervals) of the  $\Delta$  in trophic position (calculated as mean dry – mean wet trophic position) for 28 species from the Tonle Sap Lake. Species with bold values had effect sizes ± 95% CI that did not bound zero. Sample size (n) and total length in each season, and the putative functional group for each species based on previous diet data, is also provided ('Pisc. Omn.' are piscivorous omnivores that consume large amounts of both invertebrates and fish).

Species	Functional group	Mean length	Seasonal ∆ trophic position	Effect size	± 95% CI	n dry	n wet	Mean δ <sup>15</sup> N dry	$\begin{array}{c} \text{Mean} \\ \delta^{\text{15}}\text{N} \\ \text{wet} \end{array}$	Mean dry length	Mean wet length
Trichopodus trichopterus	Omnivore	79	-0.05	-0.13	0.80	10	15	7.54	7.61	91	71
Rasbora aurotaenia	Omnivore	93	-0.10	-0.39	0.92	8	11	8.80	9.12	101	88
Pristolepis fasciata	Invertivore	99	-0.06	-0.19	0.62	16	27	9.30	9.52	96	100
Trichopodus microlepis	Omnivore	101	-0.51	-2.45	1.19	9	10	7.03	8.62	108	94
Paralaubuca typus	Invertivore	103	-0.08	-0.31	0.94	5	37	9.27	9.57	105	103
Anabas testudineus	Pisc. Omn.	108	0.28	0.99	0.93	11	9	9.12	8.19	114	101
Henicorhynchus siamensis	Detritivore	111	-0.25	-0.67	0.72	9	48	7.07	7.78	137	106
Thynnichthys thynnoides	Omnivore	112	0.37	1.53	0.79	9	39	8.19	6.90	120	110
Labiobarbus leptocheila	Omnivore	124	0.33	0.98	0.85	8	22	8.49	7.34	135	120
Parambassis wolffii	Piscivore	124	0.13	0.53	0.73	16	14	11.91	11.69	119	130
Barbonymus gonionotus	Omnivore	151	-0.19	-0.52	0.64	12	50	7.97	8.53	194	141
Mystus albolineatus	Pisc. Omn.	155	-0.03	-0.13	0.74	13	15	9.95	10.11	164	146
Osteochilus melanopleura	Omnivore	157	0.61	2.38	1.16	8	12	9.55	7.57	189	135
Puntioplites proctozysron	Omnivore	164	-0.01	-0.03	0.82	16	9	9.25	9.31	160	170
Ompok bimaculatus	Omnivore	166	-0.06	-0.19	0.98	12	6	9.73	9.97	164	171
Hemibagrus spilopterus	Invertivore	185	0.14	0.41	0.66	12	35	10.76	10.42	219	174
Macrognathus siamensis	Invertivore	200	0.17	0.45	0.91	12	8	8.56	7.99	204	194
Notopterus notopterus	Pisc. Omn.	212	0.12	0.34	0.82	14	10	9.98	9.64	206	220
Kryptopterus apogon	Piscivore	216	0.64	2.21	1.07	13	9	11.49	9.53	229	197
Clarias macrocephalus	Omnivore	220	0.22	0.81	1.04	15	5	8.92	8.18	233	182
Cyclocheilichthys enoplos	Omnivore	230	-0.32	-0.87	0.71	15	19	8.33	9.34	262	206
Labeo chrysophekadion	Detritivore	231	0.05	0.15	0.80	11	13	8.00	7.79	297	175

Channa striata	Piscivore	290	0.41	0.69	0.84	16	9	10.55	9.29	322	234
Pangasius larnaudii	Omnivore	305	0.01	0.04	0.86	7	20	10.84	10.94	343	292
Boesemania microlepis	Piscivore	311	-0.31	-1.02	0.88	13	10	11.56	12.78	321	298
Channa micropeltes	Piscivore	353	-0.18	-0.46	0.95	16	6	9.00	9.62	370	307

**Table S2**. Sample size (n) and total body length (mm) for fish sampled during each season for stomach content analysis from the Tonle Saplake, Cambodia. Proportions of fish, invertebrates and plants in the stomach contents by weight. All values are mean ± SD.

Species	Season	Stomach content data						
		n	Length (mm)	Fish	Invert.	Plant		
Anabas testudineus	Dry	13	122 ± 14	$0.52 \pm 0.22$	0.10 ± 0.22	0.12 ± 0.17		
Climbing Perch	Wet	22	118 ± 24	$0.48 \pm 0.33$	0.25 ± 0.29	0.11 ± 0.16		
Notopterus notopterus	Dry	12	197 ± 25	$0.42 \pm 0.26$	0.27 ± 0.23	0.17 ± 0.07		
Bronze Featherback	Wet	6	148 ± 107	0.20 ± 0.31	0.56 ± 0.35	0.10 ± 0.07		
Channa striata	Dry	5	282 ± 55	$0.57 \pm 0.08$	0.01 ± 0.00	$0.08 \pm 0.04$		
Striped Snakehead	Wet	10	256 ± 90	0.47 ± 0.13	$0.09 \pm 0.24$	0.13 ± 0.04		
Channa micropeltes	Dry	25	367 ± 45	$0.68 \pm 0.14$	0.01 ± 0.04	0.11 ± 0.08		
Giant Snakehead	Wet	7	395 ± 89	0.70 ± 0.10	$0.03 \pm 0.06$	0.10 ± 0.05		

Season	Baseline type	$\delta^{13}$ C	$\delta^{15}$ N	Mean baseline $\delta$ $^{15}\text{N}$ used in TP calculations
Dry	Benthic	-29.23 ± 4.09	5.89 ± 1.87	6.15
	Pelagic	-29.10 ± 4.38	6.30 ± 1.96	
Wet	Benthic	-28.74 ± 3.32	5.67 ± 1.30	5.92
	Pelagic	-35.34 ± 4.78	6.16 ± 1.66	

**Table S3.** Baseline values of  $\delta^{13}$ C and  $\delta^{15}$ N sampled from the Tonle Sap Lake and used to calculate trophic positions for the present study. All values are mean ± SD.

**Table S4.** Results of zero inflated beta regression on the proportion of invertebrates, fish and plants in the stomachs of Tonle Sap Lake species. Season (wet, dry) and body length were included as explanatory variables and species and location as random variables.

Response variable	Parameter	Posterior mean	Posterior median	2.5% quantile	97.5% quantile
Proportion of invertebrate	bintercept	-3.95	-4.05	-5.73	-1.71
	bwet	-0.32	-0.33	-0.90	0.25
	bbodylength	-0.01	-0.01	-0.01	0.00
	b0intercept	0.63	0.55	-1.47	3.19
	b0wet	-1.14	-1.16	-2.03	-0.20
	b0bodylengtl	n 0.00	0.00	0.00	0.01
Proportion of fish	bintercept	-5.16	-5.15	-5.64	-4.68
	bwet	0.04	0.04	-0.08	0.15
	bbodylength	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
	b0intercept	-0.42	-0.46	-2.41	1.45
	b0wet	0.79	0.76	-0.47	2.28
	b0bodylengtl	0.01 n	-0.01	-0.02	0.00

Proportion of plant	bintercept	-6.50	-6.50	-6.96	-6.06
	bwet	-0.25	-0.25	-0.51	0.01
	bbodylength	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
	b0 <sub>intercept</sub>	-0.87	-0.87	-2.56	0.80
	b0 <sub>wet</sub>	-1.38	-1.35	-2.99	-0.01
	b0 <sub>bodylength</sub>	0.00	0.00	-0.01	0.00

### Literature cited

- Akin, S. and K.O. Winemiller. 2006. Seasonal variation in food web composition and structure in a temperate tidal estuary. Estuaries and Coasts 29:552-567.
- Almeida, V.D., N. Hahn, and A.M. Vazzoler. 1997. Feeding patterns in five predatory fishes of the high Paraná River floodplain. Ecology of Freshwater Fish 6:123-133.
- Bayley, P.B. 1988. Factors affecting growth rates of young tropical floodplain fishes: seasonality and density-dependence. Environmental Biology of Fishes 21:127-142.
- Bastos, R. F., F. Corrêa, K. O. Winemiller, and A. M. Garcia. 2017. Are you what you eat? Effects of trophic discrimination factors on estimates of food assimilation and trophic position with a new estimation method. Ecological Indicators 75:234-241.
- Collaboration for Environmental Evidence. 2013. Guidelines for Systematic Review and Evidence Synthesis in Environmental Management. Version 4.2. Environmental evidence: www.environmentalevidence.org/Documents/Guidelines/Guidelines4.2.pdf.
- CaraDonna, P.J., W.K. Petry, R.M. Brennan, J.L. Cunningham, J.L. Bronstein, N.M. Waser, and N.J. Sanders. 2017. Interaction rewiring and the rapid turnover of plant–pollinator networks. Ecology Letters 20:385-394.
- Coe, R. 2002. It's the effect size, stupid: What effect size is and why it is important. British Educational Research Association annual conference, Exeter, 1214.
- Correa, S.B. and K.O. Winemiller. 2014. Flooding, fruiting phenology and resource partitioning among fishes in the Amazon. Ecology 95:210-224.
- Cotner, J.B., J.V. Montoya, D.L. Roelke, and K.O. Winemiller. 2006. Seasonal variability in benthic and water column productivity in a Venezuelan llanos river. Journal of the North American Benthological Society 25:171-184.
- Goulding, M., M.L. Carvalho, and E.G. Ferreira. 1988. Rio Negro, rich life in poor water. Amazonian diversity and foodchain ecology as seen through fish communities.
- Hampton, S.E., A.W. Galloway, S.M. Powers, T. Ozersky, K.H. Woo, R.D. Batt, S.G. Labou, C.M. O'Reilly, S. Sharma et al. 2017. Ecology under lake ice. Ecology Letters 20:98-111.
- Hellmann, C., B. Wissel, and C. Winkelmann. 2013. Omnivores as seasonally important predators in a stream food web. Freshwater Science 32:548-562.
- Islam, M.S., M.M. Rahman, G.C. Halder, and M. Tanaka. 2006. Fish assemblage of a traditional fishery and the seasonal variations in diet of its most abundant species *Wallago attu* (Siluriformes: Siluridae) from a tropical floodplain. Aquatic Ecology 40:263-272.
- Junk, W.J., P.B. Bayley, and R.E. Sparks. 1989. The Flood Pulse Concept in Rive floodplain Systems. Pages 110-127 In Dodge, P., editor. Proceedings of the International Large River Symposium, Canadian Special Publication of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences

- Kondoh, M. 2003. Foraging adaptation and the relationship between food-web complexity and stability. Science 299:1388-1391.
- Kong, H., M. Chevalier, P. Laffaille, and S. Lek. 2017. Spatio-temporal variation of fish taxonomic composition in a South-East Asian flood-pulse system. PloS one 12:e0174582.
- Kratina, P., R. M. LeCraw, T. Ingram, and B.R. Anholt. 2012. Stability and persistence of food webs with omnivory: is there a general pattern? Ecosphere 3:1-18.
- Křivan, V., and S. Diehl. 2005. Adaptive omnivory and species coexistence in tri-trophic food webs. Theoretical population biology 67:85-99.
- Leigh, C., M.A. Burford, F. Sheldon, and S.E. Bunn. 2010. Dynamic stability in dry season food webs within tropical floodplain rivers. Marine and Freshwater Research 61:357-368.
- Liu, F., and Y. Kong. 2015. zoib: an R package for bayesian inference for beta regression and zero/one inflated beta regression. RJ 7:34-51.
- McCann, K.S., J. Rasmussen, and J. Umbanhowar. 2005. The dynamics of spatially coupled food webs. Ecology Letters 8:513-523.
- McCann, K.S., and N. Rooney. 2009. The more food webs change, the more they stay the same. Philosophical transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B 364:1789-1801.
- McMeans, B.C., K.S. McCann, M. Humphries, N. Rooney, and A.T. Fisk. 2015. Food web structure in temporally-forced ecosystems. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 30:662-672.
- McMeans, B.C., K.S. McCann, T.D. Tunney, A. Fisk, A. M. Muir, N. Lester, B. Shuter, and N. Rooney. 2016. The adaptive capacity of lake food webs. Ecological Monographs 86:4-19.
- Mérona, B. d., and J. Rankin-de-Mérona. 2004. Food resource partitioning in a fish community of the central Amazon floodplain. Neotropical Ichthyology 2:75-84.
- Nakano, S., and M. Murakami. 2001. Reciprocal subsidies: dynamic interdependence between terrestrial and aquatic food webs. Proc Nat Aca Sci USA 98:166-170.
- Novakowski, G.C., N.S. Hahn, and R. Fugi. 2008. Diet seasonality and food overlap of the fish assemblage in a pantanal pond. Neotropical Ichthyology 6:567-576.
- Oliveira, A.C.B., M.G.M. Soares, L.A. Martinelli, and M.Z. Moreira. 2006. Carbon sources of fish in an Amazonian floodplain lake. Aquatic Sciences 68:229-238.
- Ou, C., C.G. Montaña, and K.O. Winemiller. 2017. Body size and trophic position relationships among fishes of the Lower Mekong Basin. Royal Society Open Science 4:160645.
- Peterson, C.C. 1997. Food webs of two Venezuelan clear-water streams with seasonal fluctuations in hydrology. MS Thesis, Texas A&M University, College Station, Texas.
- Peterson, C.C. and K.O. Winemiller. 1997. Ontogenetic diet shifts and scale-eating in *Roeboides dayi*, a neotropical characid. Environmental Biology of Fishes 49:111-118.
- Pettit, N.E., R.J. Naiman, D.M. Warfe, T.D. Jardine, M.M. Douglas, S.E. Bunn, and P.M. Davies. 2017. Productivity and connectivity in tropical riverscapes of northern Australia: Ecological insights for management. Ecosystems 20:492-514.

- Pool, T., G. Holtgrieve, V. Elliott, K. McCann, B. McMeans, N. Rooney, A. Smits, T. Phanara, M. Cooperman, and S. Clark. 2017. Seasonal increases in fish trophic niche plasticity within a flood pulse river ecosystem (Tonle Sap Lake, Cambodia). Ecosphere 8.
- Post, D. M. 2002. Using stable isotopes to estimate trophic position: models, methods, and assumptions. Ecology 83:703-718.
- Post, D., and G. Takimoto. 2007. Proximate structural mechanisms for variation in food chain length. Oikos 116:775-782.
- Prudente, B.d.S., P. Carneiro-Marinho, R.d.M. Valente, and L.F.d.A. Montag. 2016. Feeding ecology of *Serrasalmus gouldingi* (Characiformes: Serrasalmidae) in the lower Anapu River region, Eastern Amazon, Brazil. Acta Amazonica 46:259-270.
- Rainboth, W.J. 1996. Fishes of the Cambodian Mekong: FAO Species Identification Field Guide for Fishery Purposes. Food and Agriculture Organization, Rome, Italy
- Ruiz-Cooley, R.I., T. Gerrodette, P.C. Fiedler, S.J. Chivers, K. Danil, and L.T. Ballance. 2017. Temporal variation in pelagic food chain length in response to environmental change. Science advances 3:e1701140.
- Rybczynski, S., D. Walters, K. Fritz, and B. Johnson. 2008. Comparing trophic position of stream fishes using stable isotope and gut contents analyses. Ecol Fresh Fish 17:199-206.
- Sherwood, G.D., I. Pazzia, A. Moeser, A. Hontela, and J.B. Rasmussen. 2002. Shifting gears: enzymatic evidence for the energetic advantage of switching diet in wild-living fish. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 59:229-241.
- Soykan, C.U., and J.L. Sabo. 2009. Spatiotemporal food web dynamics along a desert riparian– upland transition. Ecography 32:354-368.
- Takimoto, G., T. Iwata, and M. Murakami. 2002. Seasonal subsidy stabilizes food web dynamics: balance in a heterogeneous landscape. Ecological Research 17:433-439.
- Tunney, T., K. McCann, N. Lester, and B.J. Shuter. 2012. Food web expansion and contraction in response to changing environmental conditions. Nature Communications 3:1105.
- Vander Zanden, M. J., Clayton, M. K., Moody, E. K., Solomon, C. T., Weidel, B. C. 2015. Stable Isotope Turnover and Half-Life in Animal Tissues: A Literature Synthesis. PLOS ONE DOI:10.1371/journal.pone.0116182
- Wantzen, K.M., F. de Arruda Machado, M. Voss, H. Boriss, and W.J. Junk. 2002. Seasonal isotopic shifts in fish of the Pantanal wetland, Brazil. Aquatic Sciences 64:239-251.
- Welcomme, R.L. 1979. Fisheries ecology of floodplain rivers [tropics]. Longman, London.
- Winemiller, K.O. 1989. Ontogenetic diet shifts and resource partitioning among piscivorous fishes in the Venezuelan Ilanos. Environmental Biology of Fishes 26:177-199.
- Winemiller, K.O., and L.C. Kelso Winemiller. 1994. Comparative ecology of the African pike and tigerfish in the Zambezi River floodplain. Journal of Fish Biology 45:211-225.

- Winemiller, K.O., C.G. Montana, D.L. Roelke, J.B. Cotner, J.V. Montoya, L. Sanchez, M.M. Castillo, and C.A. Layman. 2014. Pulsing hydrology determines top - down control of basal resources in a tropical river–floodplain ecosystem. Ecological Monographs 84:621-635.
- Wolkovich, E., B. Cook, K. McLauchlan, and T. Davies. 2014. Temporal ecology in the Anthropocene. Ecology Letters 17:1365-1379.



# 

**Citation:** Kong H, Chevalier M, Laffaille P, Lek S (2017) Spatio-temporal variation of fish taxonomic composition in a South-East Asian flood-pulse system. PLoS ONE 12(3): e0174582. https://doi. org/10.1371/journal.pone.0174582

Editor: Judi Hewitt, University of Waikato, NEW ZEALAND

Received: September 23, 2016

Accepted: March 11, 2017

Published: March 28, 2017

**Copyright:** © 2017 Kong et al. This is an open access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.

Data Availability Statement: The data cannot be made available for public access because of legal restrictions. Access to MRC data should follow the MRC PDIES (Procedures for Data and Information Exchange and sharing) procedure. Data are available upon request to the MRC (Mekong River Comission), Dr. So Nam (so\_nam@hotmail.com) and Mr. Ngor Peng Bun (pengbun@mrcmekong.org).

**Funding:** This work was supported by the Erasmus Mundus TECHNO II Program and the Belmont Forum. The EDB lab was supported by RESEARCH ARTICLE

# Spatio-temporal variation of fish taxonomic composition in a South-East Asian flood-pulse system

## Heng Kong<sup>1,2©‡</sup>, Mathieu Chevalier<sup>1©‡</sup>\*, Pascal Laffaille<sup>2</sup>, Sovan Lek<sup>1</sup>

1 EDB, Université de Toulouse, CNRS, ENFA, UPS, Toulouse, France, 2 EcoLab, Université de Toulouse, CNRS, INPT, UPS, Toulouse, France

• These authors contributed equally to this work.

‡ These authors are co-first authors on this work.

\* mathieu.chevalier38@gmail.com

# Abstract

The Tonle Sap Lake (TSL) is a flood-pulse system. It is the largest natural lake in South-East Asia and constitutes one of the largest fisheries over the world, supporting the livelihood of million peoples. Nonetheless, the Mekong River Basin is changing rapidly due to accelerating water infrastructure development (hydropower, irrigation, flood control, and water supply) and climate change, bringing considerable modifications to the annual floodpulse of the TSL. Such modifications are expected to have strong impacts on fish biodiversity and abundance. This paper aims to characterize the spatio-temporal variations of fish taxonomic composition and to highlights the underlying determinants of these variations. For this purpose, we used data collected from a community catch monitoring program conducted at six sites during 141 weeks, covering two full hydrological cycles. For each week, we estimated beta diversity as the total variance of the site-by-species community matrix and partitioned it into Local Contribution to Beta Diversity (LCBD) and Species Contribution to Beta Diversity (SCBD). We then performed multiple linear regressions to determine whether species richness, species abundances and water level explained the temporal variation in the contribution of site and species to beta diversity. Our results indicate strong temporal variation of beta diversity due to differential contributions of sites and species to the spatial variation of fish taxonomic composition. We further found that the direction, the shape and the relative effect of species richness, abundances and water level on temporal variation in LCBD and SCBD values greatly varied among sites, thus suggesting spatial variation in the processes leading to temporal variation in community composition. Overall, our results suggest that fish taxonomic composition is not homogeneously distributed over space and time and is likely to be impacted in the future if the flood-pulse dynamic of the system is altered by human activities.



'Investissement d'Avenir' grants (CEBA, ref. ANR-10-LABX-0025; TULIP, ref. ANR-10-LABX-41). The funders had no role in study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript.

**Competing interests:** The authors have declared that no competing interests exist.

# Introduction

Tropical freshwater systems, especially floodplain lakes and rivers, support productive fisheries, providing food and incomes for millions of people worldwide, particularly in the poorest countries [1,2]. In 1990, it was estimated that over 120 million people were involved in fisheries related activities, including capture, processing and sale of fish with 95% of them located in developing countries [3]. In Malawi, fishing activities from Lake Chilwa support about US\$18 million annually while Lake Naivasha support an export-oriented agriculture valued at US\$ 613–640 million [4]. Likewise, annual fish production from the Tonle Sap Great Lake (TSL) was estimated at 180,000 to 250,000 tons, representing approximately 60% of the total fish production of Cambodia [5]. This fish resource provides food for 14 million people and represents approximately 16% of the Cambodia's gross domestic product [6,7].

The TSL is the largest natural lake in South-east Asia, the largest wetland in the Mekong region, the most productive inland fisheries in the world and is a hotspot for biodiversity (i.e. it was designated as a UNESCO Biosphere Reserve in 1997), providing essential habitats for many endangered fishes and birds [8,9]. The TSL is a typical seasonal flood-pulse system and is a key element for the annual Mekong's flood. From June until September, the lake fills and the water level increases from 1–2 meters up to 10–15 meters [10]. In September, the TSL reverses its flow direction toward the Tonle Sap River (TSR) until the end of February causing the water level to drop to its minimum level in April and May.

Seasonal flood-pulse dynamic influences many ecological and environmental processes by causing lateral connectivity to adjacent floodplain habitats and by influencing water quality and nutrient dynamics, thus influencing the life-cycle of many organisms [11]. Indeed, lateral connectivity is a key element for many fish and other aquatic species because it provides resources and spawning habitats favoring productivity and biodiversity, which may in turn affect ecosystem stability and resilience to perturbations [12]. Consequently, large spatio-temporal variations in community compositions are expected within flood-pulse systems. Understanding what are the factors involved in these variations may help adapt conservation strategies to promote biodiversity and maintain their value as a livelihood.

Studies focusing on the determinants of spatio-temporal variations of fish communities have mostly been conducted on temperate systems (e.g. [2,12–14]). The paucity of studies conducted on tropical systems represent a large gap regarding our understanding of their functionning because tropical systems differ in various ways from temperate ones. For instance, tropical lakes are usually subject to indiscriminate fisheries (e.g. all species and size classes are targeted) whereas fisheries in temperate lakes are strongly reglemented. Consequently, the patterns highlighted in temperate lakes may not hold in tropical ones. Studying community composition, how they vary spatially and temporally and what are the determinants of these variations is therefore an important step toward a better understanding of the functionning of tropical ecosystems [15]. This is of utmost importance if we are to better manage these ecosystems which sustain important biodiversity and fisheries.

Indeed, studying the variation in species composition among sites (i.e. spatial beta diversity) and seasons (i.e. temporal beta diversity) may help improve our understanding of the processes that generate and maintain biodiversity [16]. For instance, according to the niche theory, sites with similar environmental conditions should harbor similar species whereas the opposite is expected for sites with different environmental conditions [17]. Thus, if environmental conditions are similar within a given area low beta diversity is expected whereas the opposite is expected if environmental conditions are spatially hetrerogeneous. In this study, our aim was (1) to characterize the temporal variation in the spatial composition of fish communities among six sites within the TSL during 141 weeks, spanning two complete hydrological cycles

and (2) to identify the determinants of the temporal variations in the contribution of site and species to spatial variation in community composition. For this purpose, we used data collected at six locations from a community catch monitoring program conducted from 2012 to 2014. For each week, we quantified the spatial variation of fish community composition (beta diversity) and partitioned it into local contribution (LCBD) and species contribution (SCBD). We then used linear models to explore how temporal variations of LCBD and SCBD values varied depending on the water level, the species richness and the species abundance.

# Material and methods

### Study area

PLOS ONE

The TSL is located in the central part of Cambodia (Fig 1) and is the largest natural freshwater lake of South-east Asia. It covers an area of approximately 0.25 million hectares during the dry season and an area estimated between 1.0 to 1.3 million hectares during the peak flood in the wet season. The TSL is connected to the Mekong in its southern part by a 120 km long river,



**Fig 1. Localization of the six sampling sites.** SR = Siem Reap; BB = Battambang BB; KC = Kampong Chhnang; KT = Kampong Thom; PS = Pursat; KD = Kandal. KD is located within the Tonle Sap River (TSR) whereas the five other sites are located within the Tonle Sap Lake (TSL).

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0174582.g001

the Tonle Sap River (TSR), which serves as an inlet and outlet for water fluxes. The cycle of the water level of the TSL can be divided into four phases. The first phase, the rising season, lasts from July to early September and is characterized by a strong water feed coming from the upper Mekong through the TSR. During this phase, the water level of the lake increases by about 70%. The second phase, the flooding season, occurs from the end of September to early October, and corresponds to a phase where about 1.25 million hectares of forest and agricultural land are submerged. At this time, the water level may attain up to 15 meters. The third phase, the receding season, occurs from the end of October to February and corresponds to the reversal of the river flow from the TSL through the TSR, thus leading to a decrease of the water level of the lake. Finally, the fourth phase, the dry season, lasts from April to May, and corresponds to a period where the water level is the lowest (one to two meters).

### Data collection

The fish data used in this study were derived from the Mekong River Commission (MRC), under the Assessment of Mekong Fisheries Component of the MRC Fisheries Program. The catch monitoring methods were derived from the MRC's regional monitoring program on fish abundance and diversity in the Lower Mekong Basin. Fish catches were monitored at five sites located around the TSL (Fig 1). Two sites (Siem Reap [SR] and Battambang [BB]) were located in the northern part of the lake while three sites (Kampong Chhnang [KC], Kampong Thom [KT] and Pursat [PS]) were located in its southern part. Fish catches were monitored at another one site located in the TSR (Kandal [KD]). Each site was monitored following a community catch monitoring program conducted on a daily basis from January 2012 to May 2014, thus covering two complete hydrological cycles. The catch monitoring methods were derived from the MRC's regional monitoring program on fish abundance and diversity in the Lower Mekong Basin [18]. The catches were performed by 18 local fishermen (3 fishermen per sites) using gillnets with 2 to 6.5 cm mesh sizes to capture as many species as possible. Fishes were identified to species level and counted. For unidentified individuals, the identification was performed later by a professional taxonomist in the laboratory. All fish records were collected monthly from fishermen and cross-checked by research officers to confirm the identifications following [19]. For further information on fish collection see [20]. Water level was measured in two locations; within the lake (PS) and within the river (KD).

The data were collected out in strict accordance with the Cambodian Fisheries Law on small-scale fishing. None of the studied species are classified as either endangered or protected according to the IUCN red list.

#### Data analysis

Daily data were aggregated into weekly data to reduce the influence of rare or occasional species on the analyses, thus resulting in 141 weekly catch data for each site.

Spatio-temporal variation of fish communities: contribution of sites and species. For each week, we computed the total variance of the site-by-species community matrix as an estimate of beta diversity ( $BD_{Total}$ ) and then partitioned this measure into Local Contribution to Beta Diversity (LCBD) and Species Contribution to Beta Diversity (SCBD), following [16]. LCBD are comparative indicators of the ecological uniqueness of the sampling units and indicate how much each site contributes to beta diversity. Thus, a site with average and common species composition is expected to have a value of zero whereas large values indicate sites with different communities. Such large values may either indicate a site with a high conservation value or, on the contrary, degraded or species poor sites with a need for restoration. On the other hand, SCBD indices indicates how much each species is contributing to

beta diversity. Thus, a species present in all assemblages has a value of zero whereas species with large values are those that are present in only a few locations. LCBD and SCBD values were computed for each week from community composition matrices transformed using the Hellinger transformation (i.e. a measure of the dissimilarity in the species composition among locations).

To test for differences in LCBD values computed for each week between the six sites, we used Kruskall-Wallis non-parametric analysis of variance followed by multiple comparisons Tukey post-tests to test for differences between each pair of sites. We further used a hierarchical cluster analysis to determine whether LCBD values calculated for each week and the different sites (i.e. the sampling units) could be grouped based on their similarity. We used the Euclidian distance as a measure of similarity among the sampling units and sampling units were then aggregated using the Ward's method. Finally, compositional changes in fish communities were examined using non-metric multidimensional scaling which is a rank based method attempting to represent the pairwise dissimilarity between sampling units in a two dimensional space.

**Determinants of temporal variation in LCBD and SCBD values.** We used multiple linear regressions to explain temporal variation in LCBD values at each site. Three variables were included as predictors in each model (one for each site): the site specific richness, the local abundance (i.e. the sum of abundances of all species) and the water level (measured at PS for sites located within the lake and measured at KD otherwise). These three variables were log(x+1) transformed prior to analysis to reduce the skewness of their distribution. A quadratic term was also included for each predictor to allow for non-linear responses. From the complete model, we used a stepwise procedure based on the Akaike information criterion (AIC) to select the predictors that best explained temporal variation in LCBD values. The model retained was the one with the lowest AIC. From the selected models, we performed hierarchical partitioning to assess the relative contribution of each predictor.

Because SCBD is based on species and not sites, we have as many time series of SCBD indices as the total number of species sampled (i.e. 242). To avoid building and interpreting 242 linear models and because of the presence of a large number of zeroes for most species (i.e. rare species), we calculated for each week the number of species that contributed to total beta diversity above the mean of the entire pool of species. This was done by centering SCBD values for each week and keeping only the species with positive signs [16]. We then used the same procedure as above and considered as predictors the water level, the overall species richness and the total abundances (i.e. measured over the six sites for each week) as well as their quadratic terms. We then used hierarchical partitioning to assess the relative contribution of each predictor.

All annalyses were performed within the R environment software [21], using the packages vegan [22], hier.part [23] and the function beta.div described in [16].

#### Results

Among the six studied sites and the 141-week samples, 12,455,409 individuals, belonging to 242 species, 123 genera and 49 families were captured (S1 Table). The number of species captured ranged from 2 to 53 while the number of individuals ranged from 9 to 352,594. Species richness and total abundances were both higher in KT relative to the other sites whereas there was a trend toward lower values in KD (Fig 2). In Table 1 we show the means and standard errors of the number of individuals captured within the six sampling sites for the 20 most abundant species.







https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0174582.g002

# Spatio-temporal variation of beta diversity

All sites and weeks confounded, LCBD values ranged between 0.08 and 0.31. Kruskall-Wallis revealed significant differences in LCBD values among sites (chi-squared = 5487.62, df = 5, P<0.001). Tukey post-tests revealed that LCBD values were higher in KD (median = 0.244; sd = 0.027) compared to the other sites (Fig 3). The lowest values were observed in KT (median = 0.124; sd = 0.021), SR (median = 0.13; sd = 0.021) and PS (median = 0.13; sd = 0.027). BB (median = 0.181; sd = 0.031) and KC (median = 0.177; sd = 0.04) displayed intermediate values (Fig 3). Based on the similarity of LCBD values, samples were grouped into four clusters (Fig 4a). The two first clusters were mainly represented by BB and PS whereas the third one mainly represented KD, KT and SR while the fourth cluster was representative of KC (Fig 4b).

Among the 141 weeks considered, KT, PS and SR never displayed significant LCBD values, thus indicating that fish taxonomic composition within these sites do not explain spatial variation of fish community composition across the two hydrological cycles (Fig 5). In contrast, BB, KC and KD had respectively 4.2%, 14.9% and 65.2% of their weeks that displayed significant LCBD values indicating strong temporal variation regarding the uniqueness of fish community composition within these three sites.

More than 50% (i.e. 127) of the species contributed to beta diversity above the mean relative to the 242 species for at least one week (Fig 6). Among them, 26 species contributed to beta diversity above the mean for more than 50% of the weeks (S2 Table), thus indicating a rather

	ONE
--	-----

Species	BB	КС	KD	КТ	PS	SR
Anabas testudineus	28±1.8	9.6±1.3	0.1±0	58±3.2	34.1±2	34.7±3.2
Cyclocheilichthys armatus	6±1.1	32.4±9.1	0.1±0	56.4±4.4	1.4±0.3	51.8±2.2
Henicorhynchus lobatus	95.6±10.7	171.6±15.5	497.5±77.7	285±15.2	56.3±3	58.2±3.2
Henicorhynchus siamensis	132.2±16.1	131.8±13.7	87.8±13.9	415.3±21.5	56.6±2.7	43.5±1.9
Labeo chrysophekadion	2±0.2	13.8±2.7	1.2±0.1	52.5±5	41.6±1.9	2±0.3
Labiobarbus lineatus	13.1±1.6	142.3±15.9	-	144.4±13.9	50.2±2.3	37.3±2.3
Labiobarbus siamensis	34.6±6.2	9.4±2	112.3±20.7	36.3±3	44.3±2.2	41.7±2.1
Mystus albolineatus	55±6.3	5.7±1	-	65.7±4.1	-	1.4±0.6
Mystus mysticetus	73.4±6.6	35.1±3.7	0.8±0.2	38.7±3.4	44.8±2.6	74.2±3.3
Mystus singaringan	31.3±2.5	52.7±6.2	0.3±0	53±3.9	14.2±1.4	34.7±2.2
Osteochilus vittatus	95.8±7.8	67.4±5.9	0.1±0	194.2±7.2	57.2±2.4	84.1±3
Pangasius macronema	2±1.7	2.6±0.5	59.1±3.6	12.2±1.8	2.4±0.3	0.4±0.2
Paralaubuca riveroi	-	-	171.9±33.6	-	-	-
Paralaubuca typus	26.4±4.4	102.8±8	139.8±30	19.9±2.3	16.3±1.3	28.6±2.3
Poropuntius deauratus	-	130.9±9.4	-	2.6±0.8	0.9±0.5	-
Puntioplites proctozysron	24.3±1.6	37.9±2.4	-	88.8±5.8	44.8±1.8	126.6±4.1
Rasbora tornieri	11.1±2.6	219±12.5	1±0.2	1.5±0.5	1.4±0.3	7.7±1.6
Trichopodus microlepis	334.4±17.1	9.8±1.1	-	15.6±3	43.7±2.6	57.6±3.8
Trichopodus trichopterus	364.4±18.1	25.5±2.1	-	114.2±7.5	74.2±4	56.8±2.5
Xenentodon cancila	-	175.5±8.7	3.3±0.9	0.5±0.2	0.6±0.2	-

#### Table 1. Means and standard errors of the number of individuals captured for the 20 most abundant species found in our samples.

means and standard errors are displayed for the six sampling sites.—indicate that the species has never been detected at this site. For site code see Fig 1. For a complete list of the species see S1 Table.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0174582.t001

stable contribution of these species to spatial variation of community composition over time. Those species were mostly non-migratory (61%) with specific habitat requirements such as permanent lakes or reservoirs (S2 Table).

# Determinants of variation in LCBD and SCBD values

Regarding temporal variation of LCBD values, we found that the influence of predictors greatly varied depending on the sites considered (Table 2). Species richness was positively related to LCBD values at BB and KC but the opposite was found at PS. Furthermore, a nonlinear influence of species richness (i.e. significant quadratic term) was detected at KT, BB and KD. The influence of total abundances on LCBD values also varied depending on the site considered; a negative relationship was found at KT and PS whereas a positive one was found at KD. Also, four sites (KT, SR, PS and KD) presented a non-linear relationship between LCBD values and total abundances. The water level was linearly related to LCBD values at all sites but KC with negative relationships at KD and SR and positive relationships at KT, SR and KD. A non-linear relationship was detected at KT, SR, BB and KD. When linear and quadratic terms were considered in conjunction, the hierarchical partitioning (Table 3) revealed that the species richness had the highest independent contribution in KT (61.6%), KD (36.4%) and KC (100%), whereas total abundances presented the highest independent contribution in PS (67.4%) and SR (82.6%). Finally, the water level had the highest independent contribution in BB (74.4%). Whatever the predictor considered, their contribution varied greatly depending on sites. For instance, the contribution of total abundances to the total variance varied from 12.8% in KT to 82.6% in SR. When considered in combination, the two biotic variables





Sites

**Fig 3.** Among site variation in LCBD values. The horizontal black line represents the median whereas red points indicate the mean. The absence of common letter over of the boxplots indicate significant differences between sites in LCBD values (Tukey-post tests; p < 0.05). For site code, see Fig 1.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0174582.g003

(species richness and total abundances) explained more than 65% of the total variance except in BB (25.5%).

Regarding the temporal variation of the number of species that contributed to total beta diversity above the mean of the entire pool of species (SCBD values above the mean after centering), we found no influence of the water level (Table 2). The selected model included a positive relationship with the species richness and a negative one with total abundances, thus reflecting the opposite effect of these two predictors on the number of species contributing to beta diversity. We further found a non-linear influence of both species richness and total abundances. The hierarchical partitioning revealed a very high contribution of the species richness with more than 80% of the variance explained (Table 3).

# Discussion

In this study, we aimed (1) to characterize the temporal variation in the spatial composition of fish communities (i.e. beta diversity) among six sites during 141 weeks, spanning two complete hydrological cycles and (2) to identify the determinants of the temporal variations in the contribution of site and species to spatial variation in community composition. We found that (1)





https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0174582.g004

some sites were more unique regarding fish community composition, (2) some species highly contributed to spatial differentiation of fish communities and (3) there is strong temporal variations regarding the contribution of site to beta diversity. The determinants involved in these temporal variations, their contribution and the shape (i.e. linear or quadratic) of the relationship greatly varied among sites, thus reflecting spatial variation in the processes structuring fish communities.

#### Spatio-temporal variations of beta diversity

Fish community compositions are expected to vary within floodplain systems [12,24,25]. In accordance, we found large spatial variation in fish community composition reflected by differential contribution of sites to the dissimilarity between assemblages (i.e. to beta diversity). Similarly, [26] found strong spatial variations in the community composition of rock-restricted cichlid fishes in Lake Malawi which was related to the geographic distances between locations and local habitat variables. In contrast, no spatial variation in fish community composition was found within the Dianshan Lake (China) which might be explained either by homogeneous environmental conditions [27] or by strong dispersal abilities of individuals homogenizing communities over large spatial scales (i.e. "mass effect"; [28]). The large spatial variation in habitat availability and environmental conditions (environmental filtering) as well as by the migratory behavior of particular fish species. In accordance, a study conducted on 59 temperate lakes highlighted an influence of environmental variables in structuring fish communities both between and within lakes [29].

We found temporal variation in the contribution of sites to the spatial variation in community composition, thus suggesting strong temporal variations in local species assemblages' at large spatial scale. This result strengthen previous findings demonstrating temporal variation











https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0174582.g005

Weeks

in community composition across seasons within the Dianshan Lake [27]. More specifically, we found that three sites (BB, KC and KD) contributed strongly to the spatial variation in community composition. For BB and KC, the uniqueness of fish communities was occasional whereas the one at KD was rather stable over time with more than 60% of the weeks being unique in terms of community composition. Such stability can be explained by the fact that KD is the only site that is not located within the lake but within the river (TSR) which is a transitional zone for species migrating back and forth between the lake and the Mekong River. The uniqueness of species assemblages at BB mostly occurred during the dry season which can be explained by the presence of particular species moving back and forth from floodplain habitats to open water habitats within the lake and also by the influence of the Sangker River, located at

Weeks



Fig 6. Number of weeks where species contributed to beta diversity above the mean relative to the entire pool of species. The horizontal dashed line represents 50% of weeks. For species code, see <u>S1 Table</u>.

PLOS ONE

the north of the lake. In contrast the uniqueness of species assemblages at KC and KD was evident during the wet season and can be explained by the fact that these sites are strongly influenced by the TSR.

Over the 242 species, 50% showed a significant contribution to spatial variation of fish communities. However, this contribution greatly varied over time. This was reflected by the fact that only 10% of the 242 species showed a significant contribution to spatial variation in community composition for more than 50% of the weeks. Those species (e.g. *Mystus bocourti, Mystus albolineatus, Trichopodus microlepis, Anabas testudineus, Notopterus notopterus, Pristolepis fasciata, Channa striata*) were mostly non-migratory with specific habitat requirements. Such

#### Table 2. Results obtained from the stepwise selection procedure.

Sites	Intercept	WL	WL <sup>2</sup>	SR	SR <sup>2</sup>	AB	AB <sup>2</sup>	R <sup>2</sup>
КТ	0.26	4.2×10E-02	-1.6×10E-02	-	-3.9×10E-03	-3.1×10E-02	2.0×10E-3	0.27
SR	0.19	-3.0×10E-02	1.1×10E-2	-	-	-	6.5×10E-04	0.16
BB	-0.06	5.4×10E-02	-2.4×10E-02	1.7×10E-01	-3.3×10E-02	-	-	0.15
PS	0.03	5.0×10E-03	-	-4.1×10E-03	-	4.8×10E-02	-3.7×10E-03	0.45
KD	0.29	-5.5×10E-02	2.6×10E-02	-	7.6×10E-03	-4.0×10E-02	2.3×10E-03	0.29
КС	0.22	-	-		3.9×10E-03	-	-	0.06
Nsp	-295.1	-	-	202.0	-22.7	-19.7	0.8	0.29

the coefficients displayed within the table are those that were extracted from the best model (through AIC). WL = water level; SR = local species richness; AB = local abundances. (-) indicate that the predictor was not pertinent enough to explain temporal variation in the dependent variables. The models above the double line are related to temporal variation in LCBD values at each site whereas the model below the double line is related to the temporal evolution of the number of species presenting SCBD values above the mean relative to the other species (Nsp). For site code, see Fig 1. <sup>2</sup> denote quadratic terms.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0174582.t002

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0174582.g006



	%LI									
Sites	WL	WL <sup>2</sup>	SR	SR <sup>2</sup>	AB	AB <sup>2</sup>				
КТ	11.3	14.3	-	61.6	6.4	6.4				
SR	7.8	9.6	-	-	-	82.6				
BB	31.5	42.9	11.9	13.7	-	-				
PS	2.9	-	29.7	-	32.7	34.7				
KD	14.7	20.0	-	36.4	16.4	12.5				
КС	-	-	-	100.0	-	-				
Nsp	-	-	41.8	39.7	9.6	8.7				

# Table 3. Hierarchical partitioning indicating the relative contribution (in percentage; %LI) of each predictor to the variance explained by the models presented in Table 2.

For site code see Fig 1. For predictor abbreviations, see Table 2.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0174582.t003

temporal stability suggests that these species probably depend upon the availability of critical habitats in both the wet and the dry seasons for growing or spawning. The low contribution of the remaining species to beta diversity can be explained by their widespread occurrence over the TSL, although seasonally.

# Determinants of temporal variation in LCBD and SCBD

We found that the local contributions to beta diversity (i.e. LCBD values) of the six sites displayed very different responses to species richness, total abundances and water level. Few studies have adressed the question of the determinants of temporal variations of LCBD values. Among them, a negative correlation between LCBD values and both species richness and total abundance has been reported in subtropical tree [30], dung beetle [31], cattle tick communities [32] and fish [16] communities. Such a negative relationship indicates that as sites become less species-rich, they also tend to become more unique which could be explained by the occurrence of a disturbance such as pollution. In contrast, a positive relationship may arise because of the introduction of novel species (e.g. migratory species) within communities. Here we found contrasted patterns, revealing that different processes are shaping local fish communities.

We further found that both the shape and the relative effect of the three predictors greatly varied between sites. Indeed, we found a higher contribution of biotic variables (i.e. species richness and abundances) in explaining variation in site uniqueness over time relative to the water level (abiotic variable). This contrast with previous findings showing that abiotic variables such as distance from the source, altitude and water discharge are key factors influencing species assemblages [16]. Such discrepancy may stem from the fact that we focused on the temporal variation in site uniqueness whereas previous studies [16] were interested in its spatial variation. However, the higher contribution of biotic variables does not indicate that the water level has no influence on fish communities. Instead, one can imagine an indirect effect of the water level on fish communities where a change in this variable influences connectivity to floodplain habitats, in turn leading to local changes in species abundances and richness, and ultimately leading to spatial differentiation. The non-linear relationships highlighted here are also particularly interesting because they indicate that the local uniqueness of species assemblages occur for intermediate values of water level, species richness and abundances. At both extreme of the gradient, communities are therefore more homogeneous which can be explained by the dominance of large scale processes [28]. For instance, water level reduction has been shown to influence community assemblage by influencing local individual

abundances and by making it possible for species to colonize new local habitat patches [33], a process that can lead to community homogenization. Likewise, when the water level is very high, the presence of migratory species, dispersing over large distances, may homogenize fish communities. Such non-linear relationships have already been highlighted in birds where the community specialization index (a measure of the functional homogenization of communities) is maximal at intermediate values of fragmentation [34].

Regarding temporal variation in the number of species that contribute to beta diversity above the mean of the entire pool of species (i.e. SCBD values) we found a high contribution of species richness whereas species abundances and water level only had a marginal effect. More specifically, we found a positive relationship with species richness indicating that as species richness is increasing, communities within the lake tend to become more dissimilar. This can be explained by the presence of particular species with strong ecological requirements and/or poor dispersal abilities, confined to particular area of the lake. However, the relationship highlighted was non-linear and actually peaked for intermediate values of species richness. Thus, at very high richness communities tend to be more similar, which can be explained the widespread occurrence of species with low ecological requirements and/or strong dispersal abilities homogenizing communities at large spatial scale.

# Conclusion

The TSL is the largest inland fisheries in South-east Asia and supports the livelihood of 2.5 million people around the lake [8]. Its flood-pulse dynamic combined to the flow reversal of the TSR make it a unique system worldwide supporting high biodiversity by providing a large diversity of food and habitats for many birds and fishes. However, the growing demand for water for agricultural purposes and the construction of hydro-power dams along the Mekong river [8] combined to the effect of climate change is strongly threatening this system by altering and reducing flood intensity from 7% to 16% during the rainy season [35]. Such changes in the water regime are likely to have strong impacts on fish community composition by modifying several phenological events [36] such as the timing of migration or spawning and also by reducing the amount of submerged habitats upon which fish depends for growing and spawning. This may ultimately lead to a decrease in fish productivity and biodiversity. For instance, in 2016, hundred tons of brood-stock fish died within the conservation zone of Boeung Chhmar (which is temporarily connected to the lake) due to a prolonged drought. The strong spatio-temporal variations highlighted regarding the uniqueness of fish communities are likely to be the result of both spatial variation in environmental conditions and the seasonal migration of particular species which occurrence depends on the connectivity to floodplain habitats critical for their reproduction and survival. Promoting the connectivity to floodplain habitats is therefore an important step toward the maintenance of fish biodiversity and productivity upon which millions of people depend for their livelihood.

# **Supporting information**

S1 Table. List of the 242 fish species captured among the six sampling sites during 141 weeks (from January 2012 to May 2014) spanning two and half hydrological cycles. (DOCX)

S2 Table. List and characteristics of the 26 fish species that contributed to total beta diversity above the mean of the entire pool of species (according to [19,37]). The first column indicates species habitat requirements: (a) low wetland, (b) shallow sluggish or flowing and standing-water with aquatic vegetation, (c) floodplain throughout the middle and lower
Mekong, (d) large and medium rivers and stream in the Mekong and Chao Phrya basins, (e) canals, ditches and reservoirs, (f) marine, freshwater, brackish and pelagic-neritic. The second column indicates species diet: (1) zooplankton, (2) crustaceans and mollusks, (3) insect, (4) algae and periphyton, (5) fish, (6) rotifers, (7) aquatic plants and fruits, (8) worm, (9) frogs (10) snakes. The third column indicates the species migratory strategy: Non migratory species (NM) and migratory species (M). (DOCX)

## Acknowledgments

We are grateful to the Erasmus Mundus TECHNO II Program and the Belmont Forum for providing financial support for this study. We also thank the Mekong River Commission (MRC), Dr. So Nam and Mr. Ngor Peng Bun for providing the data. EDB lab was supported by 'Investissement d'Avenir' grants (CEBA, ref. ANR-10-LABX-0025; TULIP, ref. ANR-10-LABX-41).

## **Author Contributions**

Conceptualization: HK MC PL SL.

Formal analysis: MC SL.

Funding acquisition: SL HK.

Methodology: MC SL.

Supervision: PL SL MC.

Visualization: MC HK.

Writing - original draft: HK.

Writing - review & editing: MC PL SL.

#### References

- 1. Allan JD, Abell R, Hogan Z, Revenga C, Taylor BW, Welcomme RL, et al. Overfishing of Inland Waters. Bioscience. 2005; 55: 1041–1051. https://doi.org/10.1641/0006-3568(2005)055[1041:ooiw]2.0.co;2
- Shoup DE, H.Wahl D. Fish Diversity and Abundance in Relation to Interannual and Lake-Specific Variation in Abiotic Characteristics of Floodplain Lakes of the Lower Kaskaskia River, Illinois. Trans Am Fish Soc. 2009; 138: 1076–1092. https://doi.org/10.1577/T07-272.1
- Allison EH, Ellis F. The livelihoods approach and management of small scale fisheries. Mar Policy. 2001; 25: 377–388. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0308-597X(01)00023-9
- Kafumbata D, Jamu D, Chiotha S. Riparian ecosystem resilience and livelihood strategies under test: lessons from Lake Chilwa in Malawi and other lakes in Africa. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci. 2014; 369: 20130052. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2013.0052 PMID: 24535395
- Yen NTH, Sunada K, Oishi S, Ikejima K, Iwata T. Stock assessment and fishery management of Henicorhynchus spp., Cyclocheilichthys enoplos and Channa micropeltes in Tonle Sap Great Lake, Cambodia. J Great Lakes Res. Elsevier B.V.; 2009; 35: 169–174. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jglr.2008.11.014
- Ahmed M, Hap N, Ly V, Tiongco M. Socioeconomic Assessment of Freshwater Capture Fistheries in Cambodia: Report on a Household Survey. Phnom Penh, Cambodia: Mekong River Commission; 1998. p. 186.
- Baird IG, Flaherty MS, Phylavanh B. Rhythms of the river: lunar phases and migrations of small carps (Cyprinidae) in the Mekong River [Internet]. Natural History Bulletin of the Siam Society. 2003. pp. 5– 36. file:///Users/ShaaraAinsley/Documents/Mendeley Desktop/Baird, Flaherty, Phylavanh/2003/Baird et al. 2003 Rhythms of the river.pdf

- 8. Arias ME, Cochrane T a., Elliott V. Modelling future changes of habitat and fauna in the Tonle Sap wetland of the Mekong. Environ Conserv. 2013; 41: 165–175. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0376892913000283
- Mak S. The Governance of Wetlands in the Tonle Sap Lake, Cambodia. J Environ Sci Eng. 2015; 4: 331–346. https://doi.org/10.17265/2162-5263/2015.06.004
- van Zalinge N., Deap L., Ngor P., Sarkula J., and Koponen J. Mekong flood levels and Tonle Sap fish catches. Fisheries (Bethesda). 2003. p. 13 pp.
- 11. Tockner Klement, Malard Florian, Ward. An Extension of the Flood Pulse Concept. Hydrol Process. 2000; 14: 2861–2883.
- Lasne E, Lek S, Laffaille P. Patterns in fish assemblages in the Loire floodplain: The role of hydrological connectivity and implications for conservation. Biol Conserv. 2007; 139: 258–268. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.biocon.2007.07.002
- Menezes RF, Borchsenius F, Svenning JC, Davidson TA, Søndergaard M, Lauridsen TL, et al. Homogenization of fish assemblages in different lake depth strata at local and regional scales. Freshw Biol. 2015; 60: 745–757. https://doi.org/10.1111/fwb.12526
- 14. Bennett MG, Kozak JP. Spatial and temporal patterns in fish community structure and abundance in the largest U.S. river swamp, the Atchafalaya River floodplain, Louisiana. Ecol Freshw Fish. 2015; n/a–n/a. https://doi.org/10.1111/eff.12235
- Röpke CP, Amadio SA, Winemiller KO, Zuanon J. Seasonal dynamics of the fish assemblage in a floodplain lake at the confluence of the Negro and Amazon Rivers. Journal of Fish Biology. 2015. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jfb.12791</u>
- Legendre P, De Cáceres M. Beta diversity as the variance of community data: dissimilarity coefficients and partitioning. Ecol Lett. 2013; 16: 951–963. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.12141 PMID: 23809147
- 17. Hubbell SP. The unified neutral theory of biodiversity and biogeography 2001. 2001.
- Halls AS, P B.R., Hall N, Hortle KG, So N, Chea T, et al. Integrated Analysis of Data from MRC Fisheries Monitoring Programmes in the Lower Mekong Basin. MRC Tech Pap. 2013; 154 pp.
- Rainboth WJ. Fishes of the Cambodian Mekong [Internet]. Food & Agr. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations; 1996. https://books.google.fr/books?id=sZQbV75rtAQC
- Chea R, Lek S, Ngor P, Grenouillet G. Large-scale patterns of fish diversity and assemblage structure in the longest tropical river in Asia. Ecol Freshw Fish. 2016; 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1111/eff.12301
- R Core Team. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing [Internet]. Vienna, Austria; 2013. http://www.r-project.org/
- 22. Oksanen J, Blanchet FG, Kindt R, Legendre P, Minchin PR, O'Hara RB, et al. vegan: Community Ecology Package [Internet]. 2015. <u>http://cran.r-project.org/package=vegan</u>
- Walsh C, Mac Nally R. hier.part: Hierarchical Partitioning [Internet]. 2013. <a href="http://cran.r-project.org/package=hier.part">http://cran.r-project.org/package=hier.part</a>
- Tondato KK, Fantin-cruz I, Pedrollo OC, Súarez YR. Spatial distribution of fish assemblages along environmental gradients in the temporary ponds of Northern Pantanal, Brazil. J Limnol. 2013; 72: 95–102. https://doi.org/10.4081/jlimnol.2013.e8
- Maire A, Buisson L, Biau S, Canal J, Laffaille P. A multi-faceted framework of diversity for prioritizing the conservation of fish assemblages. Ecol Indic. Elsevier Ltd; 2013; 34: 450–459. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ecolind.2013.06.009
- Genner MJ, Taylor MI, Cleary DFR, Hawkins SJ, Knight ME, Turner GF. Beta diversity of rock-restricted cichlid fishes in Lake Malawi: Importance of environmental and spatial factors. Ecography (Cop). 2004; 27: 601–610. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0906-7590.2004.03824.x
- Hu Z, Wang S, Wu H, Chen Q, Ruan R, Chen L, et al. Temporal and spatial variation of fish assemblages in Dianshan Lake, Shanghai, China. Chinese J Oceanol Limnol. 2014; 32: 799–809. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s00343-014-3193-4">https://doi.org/10.1007/s00343-014-3193-4</a>
- Leibold MA, Holyoak M, Mouquet N, Amarasekare P, Chase JM, Hoopes MF, et al. The metacommunity concept: A framework for multi-scale community ecology. Ecol Lett. 2004; 7: 601–613. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2004.00608.x</u>
- 29. Ives AR, Helmus MR. Phylogenetic metrics of community similarity. Am Nat. 2010; 176: E128–E142. https://doi.org/10.1086/656486 PMID: 20887187
- Qiao X, Li Q, Jiang Q, Lu J, Franklin S, Tang Z, et al. Beta diversity determinants in Badagongshan, a subtropical forest in central China. Sci Rep. 2015; 5: 17043. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/srep17043</u> PMID: 26594051
- **31.** Da Silva PG, Hernández MIM. Local and regional effects on community structure of dung beetles in a mainland-island scenario. PLoS One. 2014; 9. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0111883

- 32. Biguezoton A, Adehan S, Adakal H, Zoungrana S, Farougou S, Chevillon C. Community structure, seasonal variations and interactions between native and invasive cattle tick species in Benin and Burkina Faso. Parasit Vectors. Parasites & Vectors; 2016; 9: 43. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13071-016-1305-z
- Layman CA, Montaña CG, Allgeier JE. Linking fish colonization rates and water level change in littoral habitats of a Venezuelan floodplain river. Aquat Ecol. 2010; 44: 269–273. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10452-009-9256-5</u>
- Devictor V, Julliard R, Clavel J, Jiguet F, Lee A, Couvet D. Functional biotic homogenization of bird communities in disturbed landscapes. Glob Ecol Biogeogr. 2008; 17: 252–261.
- 35. Arias ME, Cochrane TA, Piman T, Kummu M, Caruso BS, Killeen TJ. Quantifying changes in flooding and habitats in the Tonle Sap Lake (Cambodia) caused by water infrastructure development and climate change in the Mekong Basin. J Environ Manage. 2012; 112: 53–66. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2012.07.003</u> PMID: 22877742
- Agostinho AA, Gomes LC, Veríssimo S, Okada EK. Flood regime, dam regulation and fish in the Upper Paraná River: Effects on assemblage attributes, reproduction and recruitment. Rev Fish Biol Fish. 2004; 14: 11–19. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11160-004-3551-y
- Froese R and DP. Froese, R. and D. Pauly. Editors. 2016. FishBase. World Wide Web electronic publication. www.fishbase.org, version (06/2016). 2016;



# 

**Citation:** Heng K, Chevalier M, Lek S, Laffaille P (2018) Seasonal variations in diet composition, diet breadth and dietary overlap between three commercially important fish species within a floodpulse system: The Tonle Sap Lake (Cambodia). PLoS ONE 13(6): e0198848. https://doi.org/ 10.1371/journal.pone.0198848

**Editor:** Emmanuel Serrano Ferron, Universitat Autonoma de Barcelona, SPAIN

Received: November 29, 2017

Accepted: May 25, 2018

Published: June 18, 2018

**Copyright:** © 2018 Heng et al. This is an open access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.

Data Availability Statement: The data underlying this study have been uploaded to GitHub and are accessible using the following link: https://github. com/Mathieu-Chevalier/Plos-One-data-stomachcontent/blob/master/diet\_data\_3\_species\_TSL.txt.

**Funding:** We are grateful to the Belmont Forum (TLSCC project) and Erasmus Mundus TECHNO II Program for providing financial support for our studies. EDB lab was supported by 'Investissement RESEARCH ARTICLE

Seasonal variations in diet composition, diet breadth and dietary overlap between three commercially important fish species within a flood-pulse system: The Tonle Sap Lake (Cambodia)

Kong Heng<sup>1,2©‡</sup>, Mathieu Chevalier<sup>1,3©‡</sup>\*, Sovan Lek<sup>1</sup>, Pascal Laffaille<sup>2</sup>

1 EDB, Université de Toulouse, CNRS, ENFA, UPS, Toulouse, France, 2 EcoLab, Université de Toulouse, CNRS, INPT, UPS, Toulouse, France, 3 Department of Ecology, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Uppsala, Sweden

• These authors contributed equally to this work.

‡ These authors are co-first authors on this work.

\* Mathieu.chevalier38@gmail.com

## Abstract

Tropical lakes and their associated floodplain habitats are dynamic habitat mosaics strongly influenced by seasonal variations in hydrologic conditions. In flood-pulse systems, water level oscillations directly influence the connectivity to floodplain habitats for fish. Here, we aimed to investigate whether seasonal changes in the water level of a flood-pulse system (the Tonle Sap Lake, Cambodia) differentially affect diet breadth and dietary overlap of three common and commercially important fish species (Anabas testudineus, Boesemania microplepis and Notopterus notopterus) presenting important differences in their life-cycle (e.g. seasonal migration). For this purpose, the three fish species were sampled at four locations spread over the lake and their stomach contents extracted for analyses. Dietary differences were investigated across seasons regarding the diet composition and diet breadth of each species as well as the amount of dietary overlap between species. We found that the proportion of empty stomachs changed similarly across seasons for the three species, thus suggesting that ecological differences between species are not sufficient to outweigh the effect of seasonal variations in resource abundance. In contrast, changes in diet composition were species-specific and can be explained by ecological and behavioral differences between species. Diet breadth differed between species in all seasons, except during the wet season, and tended to be higher during the dry season when dietary overlap was the lowest. These variations likely result from changes in the diversity and amount of resources and may lead to habitat use shifts with potential implications for competitive interactions. In particular, increasing connectivity to floodplain habitats may reduce the competitive pressure during the wet season, while resource scarcity during the dry season may constrain individuals to diversify their diet to avoid competition. Overall, our results suggest a considerable plasticity in the feeding behavior of the three species as demonstrated by seasonal variation in both diet breadth and dietary overlap. Such variations can be explained by a



d'Avenir' grants (CEBA, ref. ANR-10-LABX-0025; TULIP, ref. ANR-10-LABX-41).

**Competing interests:** The authors have declared that no competing interests exist. The work has been performed within the TLSCC project in collaboration with the Inland Fisheries Research and Development Institute (IFREDI) and Fisheries Administration of Cambodia (FIA). This does not alter our adherence to PLOS ONE policies on sharing data and materials.

number of factors and processes, including changes in resource availability or competitive interactions between individuals for resources, whose relative influence might vary depending on the magnitude and the timing of the flood-pulse driving the connectivity to floodplain habitats. Gaining knowledge on the seasonal evolution of fish's diet is relevant for fisheries management and conservation and our result could be used to guide aquaculture development in Cambodia.

## Introduction

Seasonal change in hydrology is a prominent feature of freshwater ecosystems influencing populations, communities and ultimately ecosystem processes by modifying the connectivity to floodplain habitats [1]. Lateral connectivity influences many aspects of an organism's life cycle as well as local community composition by regulating access to resources and habitats for spawning, growing and rearing [2,3]. However, the connectivity to floodplain habitats is currently undergoing strong human pressures through dam constructions and river channelization [4], with consequences on organisms and ecosystem processes [5]. For instance, by altering natural river flow and by dampening seasonal fluctuations and thus connectivity to floodplain habitats [5], dams have a strong influence on population and community composition [6]. Such pressures are even more problematic in flood-pulse systems where seasonal changes in hydrology are of critical importance to maintain the productivity and the biodiversity of these systems [7]. Indeed, several studies [8,9] have shown that the flood-pulse is the main factor structuring fish communities and that flood-pulse modification could impact fish populations [10] as well as among-species interactions [11].

Studying stomach contents provides useful information regarding trophic relationships between species [12] but also ecosystem functioning by evaluating resource use efficiency [13] and could be used to assist the development of management and conservation strategies in a multi-species framework [14]. Several species have been shown to shift their diet across seasons as a result of variations in the connectivity to floodplain habitats [15,16]. For instance, in the Amazon basin, a great number of fishes enter the flooded forest during the high water season to feed on fruits, seeds and other terrestrial resources [17,18]. Thus, changes in diet composition can reflect changes in the availability and the quantity of food resources. However, given that the same resource can be shared by numerous species and that each species can successively exploit different resources during the same year [19,20], changes in diet composition could also be attributed to intra- and interspecific competition [21-23]. For instance, during the season of low resource abundance, diet breadth could increase to reduce intraspecific competition [24], while dietary overlap among species may decrease to reduce interspecific competition [25,26]. Furthermore, if all resources do not change uniformly, individuals are expected to forage according to the optimal foraging theory, by seasonally exploiting the most profitable resources, leading to seasonal diet shift [27]. Another layer of complexity arises from the fact that the above mentioned patterns can vary depending on species characteristics. For instance, a large diet breadth is a frequently cited characteristic of invasive species, allowing them to thrive in a wide range of environments and to potentially exploit different resources depending on the season [28]. Therefore, studying how the diet of species varies by season within a multispecies framework may help unravel the processes involved within a given ecosystem and provide knowledge about the nature of interactions that exist between individuals and species.

The Tonle Sap Lake (TSL) is the largest natural lake in Southeast Asia and was designated as a UNESCO Biosphere Reserve in 1997. The TSL has a flood-pulse functioning and provides

essential habitats for more than 242 fishes [29] and many endangered vertebrates [30–32]. The lateral connectivity between the main lake and its floodplain mainly depends on water coming from the Mekong River, representing more than 50% of the water balance. This connectivity is a key feature for many fishes and aquatic species, by providing access to habitats for rearing, spawning and growing [30,31], ultimately influencing community structure [29], system productivity [9] and population dynamics [33]. However, growing human pressures in the upper reaches of the Mekong River, through the establishment of large hydropower dams and reservoirs, large irrigation schemes, and rapid urban development, is putting water resources under stress and is strongly threatening the connectivity to floodplain habitats [4].

The aim of this study was to describe the seasonal variations of the diet of three common, abundant and commercially important fishes: Anabas testudineus, Boesemania microplepis and Notopterus notopterus [29]. We chose these species because they are widespread within the lake during the whole year and are known to occur in similar habitats [34], thus providing potential for interspecific competition. They nevertheless present important differences within their life-cycle, including contrasting seasonal migration patterns and tolerance to hypoxia [34-36]. To investigate seasonal variations in the diet composition and diet breadth of each species as well as the amount of dietary overlap between species, we analyzed the stomach contents of 623 specimens collected at four locations across four hydrological phases (dry, rising, wet and receding seasons) covering the dynamic of the TSL. Given seasonal changes in the water level and the lateral connectivity to floodplain habitats, our expectations were as follow. First, we hypothesized seasonal changes in the diet of the three species, regarding both the proportion of empty stomachs and the proportion of food items. In particular, we expected a higher proportion of empty stomachs during the dry season because of low resource abundance. We further hypothesized that the diet breadth of the three species would be larger during the dry season to reduce intraspecific competition for resources while it would be lower during the wet season because individuals would be able to forage on the most profitable resource due to an increase in both the availability and the diversity of food resources. Finally, we expected seasonal variations in dietary overlap and in particular a low dietary overlap during the dry season due to competitive exclusion for resources between species.

## Materials and methods

#### Study species

*Anabas testudineus* is a demersal species, commonly found in sluggish, standing and stagnant waters with dense vegetation and mainly feed on shrimps and fish fry [37]. It belongs to the "*blackfish*" guild where fish move only locally from waterbodies to the surrounding floodplain during the wet season and return to the pools during the dry season. Those fishes are adapted to hypoxia and often present auxiliary respiratory organs that enable them to breathe atmospheric air or behaviors that give them access to the well-oxygenated surface films. They have a wide range of breeding behaviors that allows them to maintain eggs and newly hatched fry in relatively well-oxygenated localities.

*Boesemania microplepis* is a bentho-pelagic species, commonly found in flowing waters of large rivers and in the deep pools of the Mekong River even during the dry season [38]. It mainly feeds on crustaceans and small fishes [34]. This species is categorized as a "*whitefish*", comprising large, strongly migratory fishes that move large distances within the river channels between feeding and breeding habitats. Fish within this guild may pass their whole life history in the main channel or may move into the floodplains to feed. They are generally intolerant to hypoxia, preferring migration as a means to escape the adverse conditions during the dry season. Whitefish are generally one-shot spawners, scattering numerous eggs.

*Notopterus notopterus* is a species found in a wide range of habitats including fresh waters, standing and sluggish waters, floodplains, canals, and ponds. It mainly feeds on insects, fishes, crustaceans and roots [34]. This species belongs to the "*grayfish*" guild which is intermediate between the floodplain-resident and the long-distance migrant's guilds. Grayfish generally execute short migrations between the floodplain, where they reside during the wet season for breeding and feeding, to the main river channel, where they shelter in marginal vegetation or in the deeper pools of the channel over the dry season. These species are intolerant to hypoxia but present elaborate reproductive behaviors, which enable them to go into the floodplain for breeding during the dry season.

Given differences in the ecology and the behavior of the three species, specific patterns were expected. In particular, we hypothesized that *N. notopterus* would display low seasonal variations in its diet breadth because of its ability to migrate back and forth between different habitats, making it possible for individuals to forage on different resources and to maintain a broad diet during the whole year. *B. microplepis* tends to migrate to escape adverse conditions during the dry season and we therefore expected this species to present a low dietary overlap with respect to the two other species during this season. In contrast, we expected the diet of *A. testudineus* to change toward the most profitable resource (i.e. fish) during the dry season because of its ability to face adverse conditions and exclude other competitors.

#### Study area

Located in the central part of Cambodia, the TSL is the largest natural lake in Southeast Asia (Fig 1). During the dry season it covers an area of approximately 0.25 million hectares whereas during the peak flood in the wet season the area covered by the lake has been estimated between 1.0 to 1.3 million hectares. The TSL is connected to the Mekong River in its southern part by a 120 km long river, the Tonle Sap River (TSR) which serves as an inlet and outlet for water fluxes. The TSL's hydrological cycle can be divided into four phases [29]. The first phase (rising season) takes place from July to early September and is characterized by a strong water feed coming from the upper Mekong through the TSR and during which the water level strongly increases. The second phase (the wet season) lasts from the end of September to the end of October, and corresponds to a phase where about 1.25 million hectares of forest, shrublands, grasslands and agricultural lands are submerged. At this period the water level may attain up to 15 meters. The third phase (the receding season) occurs from the end of October to February, and is characterized by the reversal of the TSR flowing from the TSL to the China Sea in the south, resulting in a decrease of the water level of the lake. Finally, the fourth phase (the dry season) lasts from April to May, and corresponds to the period where the water level is the lowest (i.e. 1 to 2 m).

#### Data collection and dietary analysis

Data collection was carried out in collaboration with the Inland Fisheries Research and Development Institute (IFReDI) who issued the permission for collection and were collected in strict accordance with the Cambodian Fisheries Law on small-scale fishing. None of the studied species are classified as either endangered or protected according to the IUCN red list.

To match with the four natural phases of the TSL's hydrological cycle, fish were sampled every three months from the beginning of June 2014 to the end of May 2015 by local fishermen using gillnets with varying mesh sizes (2 to 6.5 cm), heights (1.5 to 2 m) and lengths (250 to 300 m), to capture individuals with varying sizes. Gillnets were deployed during the night and were let in the water for eight to 10 hours. The habitat where the nets were set varied depending on the water level. During the wet and the receding seasons, nets were set within floodplain



**Fig 1. Map of the Tonle Sap Lake (TSL).** Sampling locations are indicated by red dots. SR = Siem Reap, KT = Kampong Thom, PS = Pursat and KC = Kampong Chhnang.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0198848.g001

habitats (i.e. in the middle of shrubs, grasslands and trees) whereas during the dry and the rising seasons, nets were set in open water habitats as floodplain habitats are not accessible at this period of the year. To account for spatial variation in resource distribution within the TSL and low local abundance in some cases, the specimens were collected at four locations (Fig\_1): Kompong Thom (KT), Siem Reap (SR), Pursat (PS) and Kompong Chhnang (KC). The three species were always found within the same nets, confirming that they share similar habitats and that they potentially compete for resources. The number of individuals associated to each species varied depending on the location and the season (Table 1). To avoid the breakdown of food items, specimens were immediately preserved in a cool container, and stomach contents were extracted at the laboratory and preserved in 97% ethanol. Thus, the death of fish specimens was induced by thermal shock, as recommended [39,40]. The proportion of empty stomachs was scored for each species and seasons. From the remaining stomachs, food items were identified to the lowest feasible taxonomic level following [41] and [42] using optical and

Table 1. To	tal number of individuals of the three s	pecies collected (i) at each location across th	e four seasons and (ii) during eac	h season across the four locations

Species	Locations			Seasons				
	КТ	SR	КС	PS	Receding	Wet	Rising	Dry
Anabas testudineus	55	83	50	48	80	56	35	65
Boesemania microlepis	30	51	59	39	65	31	6	77
Notopterus notopterus	35	69	48	56	78	34	23	79

Abbreviations for locations: KT = Kompong Thom, SR = Siem Reap, PS = Pursat and KC = Kompong Chhnang.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0198848.t001

stereoscopic microscopes (Olympus: SZX7-Model SZX2-ILLK). For each food item, we calculated its frequency of occurrence (FOC) as the number of times a particular item occurred within a sample relative to the total number of items (empty stomach excluded). Among the four sampling campaigns, a total of 623 specimens were collected and analyzed for stomach contents (236 for *A. testudineus*, 179 for *B. microplepis* and 208 for *N. notopterus*). In total, 30 different prey types were found within the non-empty stomachs of the three species.

#### Statistical analysis

Because the proportion of empty stomachs can provide information on resource availability and the ability of species to forage during periods of shortage [12], we tested for seasonal variations in the proportion of empty stomachs using a chi-square test.

For non-empty stomachs, we used an analysis of similarity (ANOSIM) to test for significant differences in the diet of species between the wet (from July to October) and the dry seasons (from December to May) followed by an analysis of similarity percentages (SIMPER) to assess the contribution of food items to the observed variations [43]. We focused on differences between the wet and the dry season because considering the four seasons would have implied to perform multiple tests (i.e. six for each species), necessitating p-values adjustments and thus a decrease in statistical power. Both analyses were based on a dissimilarity matrix built with Bray-Curtis distances to account for the large proportion of zeros in the community matrix. The ANOSIM statistic vary between zero and one and compares the mean of ranked dissimilarities between groups to the mean of ranked dissimilarities within groups. A value close to one suggests dissimilarity between groups, while a value close to zero suggests an even distribution of high and low ranks within and between groups. The SIMPER analysis is based on the decomposition of the Bray-Curtis dissimilarity matrix and aim to assess the contribution of food items (or species) to the observed dissimilarities. For this analysis, we grouped food items into six broader categories (fish, insects, crustaceans, plants, mollusks and micro-fauna) following [22,44]. The importance of each category within the diet was established as its average FOC divided by the sum of the average FOC of all categories and was calculated by species and seasons.

To explore interspecific differences in diet composition across the four seasons, we used non-metric multidimensional scaling (NMDS [45]). This indirect gradient analysis approach uses rank order values to visualize and interpret differences between species, ultimately representing pairwise differences between samples in a low-dimensional space. The similarity between sampling units was calculated using Bray-Curtis distances. Beyond this graphical approach, we computed different statistics to evaluate and test how interspecific differences in diet varied across seasons. First, we used a multivariate homogeneity of group dispersions [46] with 1000 permutations to (i) measure the diet breadth of each species in each season and (ii) test for interspecific differences in each season. In this analysis, diet breadth is estimated as the average distance of prey items to the group centroid within the multivariate space described by the NMDS with larger values indicative of a broader diet. The values by themselves have no ecological meaning but can be compared to determine to which extent diet breadth is changing between species and season. Second, we computed Pianka's symmetric index [47] to measure niche overlap in diet composition between each pair of species in each season. Here, a value close to zero indicates no overlap whereas a value close to one indicates a strong overlap. To test the statistical significance of dietary overlap between each pair of species in each season, we conducted a bootstrap procedure by randomly sampling the rows of the community matrix. This procedure was repeated 1000 times and generated a distribution of Pianka's index for each pair of species under the null hypothesis that there is no variation in dietary overlap

across seasons. For a given pair of species, we assessed the statistical significance of dietary overlap in each season by comparing the observed value to the 95% confidence intervals of the corresponded distribution. All analyses were performed in R [48] using the package vegan [49].

## Results

The average size of captured individuals was  $12.7 \pm 2.1$  cm for *A. testudineus*,  $23.9 \pm 13.9$  cm for *B. microplepis* and  $20.4 \pm 2.4$  cm for *N. notopterus*. The proportion of empty stomachs was 14.8% for *A. testudineus*, 12.3% for *B. microplepis* and 16.8% for *N. notopterus*. For all species, this proportion greatly varied across seasons and was maximal during the receding season and minimal during the dry season (Fig 2). Seasonal variation in the proportion of empty stomachs was independent of species identity ( $\chi^2 = 0.14$ , df = 6: P = 0.99). The diet of *A. testudineus* was mainly composed of fish (43%), insects (23%) and plants (17%) whereas *N. notopterus* mostly fed upon insects (49%), plants (28%) and fish (10%) (Fig 2). The diet of *B. microplepis* was mainly composed of fish (51%), crustaceans (21%), and plants (15%). The similarity analysis (ANOSIM) revealed a significant change in the diet composition of *A. testudineus* (p < 0.01, r = 0.13) between the wet and the dry season, whereas no significant difference was found for *B. microplepis* (p = 0.42, r = 0.004). The SIMPER analysis revealed that only a few food items significantly explained the seasonal differences found for *A. testudineus* and *N. notopterus*, with a particularly strong contribution of fish prey for the former and of insects for the latter (Table 2).

The NMDS highlighted strong seasonal variations in both diet breadth and dietary overlap between the three species (Fig 3). Diet breadth significantly differed between the three species in all seasons (p<0.01), except the wet season (p = 0.11; Table 3). It tended to be highest during the dry (from 0.48 to 0.54) and the receding seasons (from 0.45 to 0.53), and to be lowest during the two remaining phases (from 0.34 to 0.51) of the hydrologic cycle (Table 3). From a species perspective, diet breadth was quite stable across seasons for *N. notopterus* (from 0.46 to 0.51) but much more variable for the two other species, with variations from 0.38 to 0.54 for *A. testudineus* and from 0.34 to 0.53 for *B. microlepis* (Table 3).

The bootstrap procedure performed on Pianka's index suggest that dietary overlap was different between the three species. This was revealed by differences in the null distributions, whose averages vary from 0.27 [95% CI = 0.21–0.34] between *A. testudineus* and *B. microlepis* to 0.5 [95% CI = 0.41–0.58] between *A. testudineus* and *N. notopterus*, while it was 0.3 [95% CI = 0.23–0.37] between *B. microlepis* and *N. notopterus* (Fig 4). Confidence intervals further suggest that the dietary overlap measured between *A. testudineus* and *N. notopterus* is significantly higher than the one measured between the two other pair of species (non-overlapping confidence intervals). We found evidence for seasonal variations in dietary overlap with minimum values observed during the rising season and maximum values observed during the receding season. In particular, dietary overlap between *A. testudineus* and *N. notopterus* was significantly higher during both the receding and the wet seasons, whereas it was significantly lower during the rising season (all p<0.05; Fig 4). Likewise, dietary overlap between *B. microlepis* and *N. notopterus* was more stable across seasons, but was significantly higher than expected in the receding season (p<0.01; Fig 4).

## Discussion

In this study, we explored seasonal variations in the diet of three common, abundant and commercially important fish species presenting important differences within their life-cycle but



**Fig 2. Description of the diet of the three studied species and how they vary across seasons.** For the sake of graphical clarity and because some items had a very low occurrence, items were grouped into six broader categories (mollusks, crustaceans, fish, plants, insects and micro-fauna). The pie charts represent the relative proportion of food items, all seasons confounded, and thus provide an overview of the main diet of the species. The barplots represent the seasonal variations in the proportion of food items within non-empty stomachs (colored barplots; on the left) and the seasonal variations in the proportion of empty stomachs (greyed barplots; on the right).

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0198848.g002

sharing similar habitats to gain knowledge about resource use and the potential for resource competition. Although we found large seasonal variations in the proportion of empty stomachs, we found no differences between species in this regard. In contrast, we found strong

1 able 7 Average percent contribution of food items to the dissimilarity of diet composition between the wet and the dry seasons to	or the three studied species
1 able 2. The age percent contribution of room tends to the absimilarity of all composition between the wet and the ary seasons is	fi the three studied species.

	-		_
Food items	A. TESTUDINEUS	B. MICROLEPIS	N. NOTOPTERUS
Fish	0.28 (0.25)	0.28 (0.22)	0.07 (0.11)
Plants	0.11 (0.13)	0.09 (0.09)	0.12 (0.11)
Insects	0.17 (0.19)	0.05 (0.1)	0.20 (0.15)
Micro-fauna	0.13 (0.14)	0.05 (0.06)	0.02 (0.05)
Crustaceans	0.04 (0.13)	0.17 (0.19)	0.07 (0.13)
Mollusks	0.01 (0.03)	0.01 (0.01)	0.02 (0.04)

Only for *A. testudineus* and *N. notopterus* is there a significant contribution of food items to the seasonal dissimilarity of diet composition. Numbers within brackets are standard deviations.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0198848.t002

PLOS ONE



**Fig 3. NMDS biplots displaying the diet of the three species across the four seasons.** The size of the ellipse represent species diet breadth whereas overlap between ellipses relates to dietary overlap between species.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0198848.g003

seasonal variations in the diet breadth and dietary overlap of the three species. Diet breadth was the largest during the dry and the receding seasons whereas dietary overlap between species was the lowest during the dry season. We also found evidence for seasonal variations in the diet of *A. testudineus* and *N. notopterus* with a differential contribution of food items, while no significant change was found for *B. microlepis*.

A similar seasonal variation in the proportion of empty stomachs suggests that ecological differences between species (e.g. reproductive behavior, foraging abilities) are probably not strong enough to outweigh the effect of seasonal variations in resource abundance. For the

Table 3. Diet breadth estimate for the three studies species across the four seasons. *p*-values were obtained using 1000 permutations on the community matrix. Values inferior to 0.05 point to a significant difference in the diet breadth of the three species.

Hydrological phase	A. TESTUDINEUS	B. MICROLEPIS	N. NOTOPTERUS	P-VALUE
Receding season	0.45	0.53	0.47	0.002
Wet season	0.48	0.42	0.46	0.115
Rising season	0.38	0.34	0.51	0.004
Dry season	0.54	0.48	0.49	0.005

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0198848.t003



A. Testudineus / B. microplepis

A. Testudineus / N. notopterus

B. microplepis / N. notopterus



## Pianka's index

**Fig 4. Results from the bootstrap procedure conducted on Pianka's symmetric index, measuring the degree of niche overlap between the diets of two species.** Histograms present the generated distribution of Pianka's index between two species under the null hypothesis that there is no seasonal variation in dietary overlap. At the top of each histogram, the black horizontal bar represents the 95% confidence interval of the distribution while the black dot represents the average of the distribution. Colored vertical dashed lines point to the observed measure of niche overlap between two species in each season: receding season = green; wet season = orange; rising season = purple; dry season = pink. Any vertical line not overlapping the horizontal black line indicate a significant difference in the niche overlap for the corresponding season.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0198848.g004

three species, the proportion of empty stomachs was the lowest during the dry season (i.e. when floodplain habitats are unachievable) but the highest during the receding season, which contrast to our expectation. One possible explanation would be that the high abundance and diversity of fish during the receding season, combined with the reversal of the river flow, that sweeps out resources from the system, would increase competition for resources, thereby decreasing the *per capita* consumption rate [50]. In contrast, the low abundance and diversity of fish during the dry season might contribute to increase the species *per capita* consumption rate, although the amount of resources is lower relative to the receding season. Another, non-exclusive explanation would be that during the receding season, individuals rely on reserve energy stored during the wet season, while during the dry season, individuals have to maximize their energy intake to face an increase in metabolic demand caused by adverse conditions such as oxygen depletion [12].

In contrast to the proportion of empty stomachs, we found differences in the seasonal variation of the stomach contents of the three species. Such variations likely result from temporary connections to floodplain habitats caused by expansion-contraction cycles of the TSL's flooded area, providing access to new resources [51,52]. For instance, the increase in the proportion of crustaceans and insects in the diet of *B. microlepis* between the dry and the rising seasons can be explained by the progressive connection to floodplain habitats making it possible for individuals to forage in previously unflooded areas where those items are rather abundant. Similar changes were observed within other tropical systems where seasonality was shown to influence fish diet through an increase in the frequency of particular food items such as terrestrial insects and amphipods during the rainy season [53]. In line with our expectation, we found that fish prey contributed strongly to seasonal variations in the diet of *A. testudineus* with a substantial increase (i.e. around 10%) during the dry season. This suggest that the ability for this species to face adverse conditions (i.e. low levels of oxygen) makes it possible for individuals to exclude other competitors and to forage on the most profitable resource independently of the connection to floodplain habitats [54].

In line with our expectation and with previous findings [55], we found that the diet breadth of the three species tended to be larger during the dry (and the receding) season. This result could be explained by an increase in both intra and interspecific competition, constraining individuals to adopt an opportunistic strategy and diversify their diet to reduce competition [24]. The diet breadth of the three species differed in all seasons, except the wet season. This lack of difference was due to an increase in the diet breadth of A. testudineus and B. microlepis combined with a decrease in the diet breadth of N. notopterus between the rising and the wet seasons, leading to a similar diet breadth between the three species (from 0.42 to 0.48). The increase observed for the first two species can be explained by an increase in the diversity and amount of resources combined with a release of the competitive pressure, making it possible for those species to diversify their diet. In contrast, the decrease observed for the last species can be explained by its ability to forage on a large array of resources during periods of shortage (habitat generalist) while during periods of resource abundance individuals can focus on the most profitable resource. As expected, we found large seasonal variations in the diet breadth of A. testudineus and B. microlepis but low variations in the diet breadth of N. notopterus. The large variations observed for A. testudineus and B. microlepis are in accordance with their ecological status (invasive for the former and long-distant migrant for the latter), making it possible for these species to adapt their diet as the amount and the diversity of resources changes over time or space. In contrast, the large and stable diet breadth observed in N. notopterus could be attributed to its high mobility between diverse habitats that potentially contain different resources.

Regarding temporal changes in the availability, quantity and quality of food resources, species are expected to adjust their foraging behavior in order to maximize their energy intake and minimize dietary overlap [52]. In this study, we found an overall high dietary overlap between species during the receding season (e.g. between A. testudineus and N. notopterus) and a lower dietary overlap during the rising season, particularly when B. microlepis was involved in the comparison, in accordance with our expectation. The pattern observed during the receding season can be explained by the progressive loss of resources, as the lake retracts, whereas the one observed during the rising season can be explained by the progressive connection to floodplain habitats providing opportunities for species to forage on different resources. Contrasted results have however been reported in the literature. For instance, some studies have found that dietary overlap tends to be the lowest during the dry season because fish tend to concentrate in small, well-oxygenated, areas [26,56], whereas others [17,21,25] found the opposite (i.e. high dietary overlap during the dry season). In flood-pulse systems, fish assemblages and diet composition have been shown to differ with respect to habitat heterogeneity, hydrological conditions and connectivity between adjacent systems [57] while the intensity and the duration of the flood pulse have also been shown to strongly influence dietary overlap between species [11]. The absence of general pattern suggests that seasonal changes in trophic dynamics are not fully explained by feeding strategies, that aim to reduce competition between species and individuals, but that feeding opportunism may be an important underlying factor [21]. The discrepancies existing between previous studies and this one reflect the fact that different patterns can occur depending on the characteristics of the system, including its productivity, the nature of resources (e.g. autochtonous vs. allochtonous) and the characteristics of the species (e.g. generalist vs. specialist).

## **Concluding remarks**

This study is based on stomach contents analyses, for which a number of issues have been identified [58]. Indeed, stomach contents only reflect a "snapshot" of an individual's recent diet and can be highly variable among individuals [59]. Furthermore, stomach contents are usually biased toward recent dietary items and prey that does not readily digest, such as zooplankton, and can underestimate the amount of other preys, such as fish [60]. Differential digestion rates between species may also have an influence on the estimation of dietary overlap [58]. Likewise, since larger individuals tend to have larger stomachs, variations in diet composition mainly reflects variations in adult diets while among-species differences in diet breadth can be influenced by differences in species' sizes. Nonetheless, these issues should have a minimal influence on our results because (i) we have sampled individuals of various sizes in different locations, thus ensuring that we have a global overview of the diet of the different species and (ii) our analyses are based on the frequency of occurrence and thus are not influenced by the abundance of food items relative to other individuals or species. An alternative to stomach content analyses is to use stable isotopes of Carbon and Nitrogen to quantify the dietary composition of individuals [61]. However, limitations have also been raised regarding this approach [62] and it seems that the best way to proceed is actually to use both approaches as complementary insights can be gained relative to when they are used separately [60,61].

The strong seasonal variations highlighted here with respect to diet composition, diet breadth and dietary overlap can be explained by a variety of mechanisms including changes in resource abundance and diversity, changes in the strength of competitive interactions between individuals and species as well as changes in ontogeny [63]. Teasing apart the relative influence of these factors is impossible with our data. The collection of additional data across seasons, for various organisms belonging to different trophic compartments (e.g. phytoplankton, zooplankton, invertebrates) and age classes (reflecting variable development stage) and in multiple locations spread over the lake (especially floodplain habitats) would help gain knowledge about (i) the nature of interactions between species and individuals and (ii) the extent to which they can shift their diet as the connectivity to floodplain habitats is changing. Such a study would not only improve our understanding of the mechanisms promoting biodiversity within flood-pulse systems but might also help guide management strategies within the Tonle Sap.

Overall, our results suggest that the flood-pulse may play a role in mediating the competitive interactions between the three species by making it possible for species to shift their diet as the availability of resources changes over time. This may ultimately promote biodiversity by providing opportunities for species to avoid competition and live in harmony with other species displaying similar dietary requirements during some periods of the year. This harmony is however threatened by accelerating water infrastructure development (hydropower, irrigation, flood control, and water supply) and climate change, bringing considerable modifications to the flood pulse of the Tonle Sap Lake in the foreseeable future.

## Acknowledgments

We are most grateful to our colleagues from the Inland Freshwater Research and Development Institute (IFReDI) and the Fisheries Administration of Cambodia (FiA) for laboratory support and help in data processing. We also would like to thank all the members involved in the TLSCC project, especially Thomas K. Pool who greatly contributed to the well-functioning of the project.

#### **Author Contributions**

Conceptualization: Kong Heng.

Data curation: Kong Heng, Mathieu Chevalier.

Formal analysis: Mathieu Chevalier.

Funding acquisition: Sovan Lek.

Methodology: Mathieu Chevalier.

Supervision: Mathieu Chevalier, Sovan Lek, Pascal Laffaille.

Validation: Sovan Lek.

Writing - original draft: Kong Heng.

Writing - review & editing: Kong Heng, Mathieu Chevalier, Sovan Lek, Pascal Laffaille.

#### References

- Junk WJ, Bayley PB, Sparks RE. The flood pulse concept in river-floodplain systems. Canadian special publication of fisheries and aquatic sciences. 1989. pp. 110–127. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone. 0028909
- Lasne E, Lek S, Laffaille P. Patterns in fish assemblages in the Loire floodplain: The role of hydrological connectivity and implications for conservation. Biol Conserv. 2007; 139: 258–268. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2007.07.002</u>
- 3. Burgess OT, Pine WE, Walsh SJ. Importance of floodplain connectivity to fish populations in the Apalachicola River, Florida. River Res Appl. 2013; 29: 718–733. https://doi.org/10.1002/rra.3128
- Kummu M, Sarkkula J. Impact of the Mekong River flow alteration on the Tonle Sap flood pulse. Ambio. 2008; 37: 185–192. https://doi.org/10.1579/0044-7447(2008)37[185:IOTMRF]2.0.CO;2 PMID: 18595273
- Bunn SE, Arthington AH. Basic principles and ecological consequences of altered flow regimes for aquatic biodiversity. Environ Manage. 2002; 30: 492–507. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00267-002-2737-0 PMID: 12481916
- Murchie KJ, Hair KPE, Pullen CE, Redpath TD, Stephens HR, Cooke SJ. Fish response to modified flow regimes in regulated rivers: Research methods, effects and opportunities. River Res Appl. 2008; 24: 197–217. https://doi.org/10.1002/rra.1058
- Ward J V., Stanford JA. Ecological connectivity in alluvial river ecosystems and its disruption by flow regulation. River Res Appl. 1995; 11: 105–119. https://doi.org/10.1002/rrr.3450110109
- Sousa RGC, Freitas CEDC. The influence of flood pulse on fish communities of floodplain canals in the Middle Solimões River, Brazil. Neotrop Ichthyol. 2008; 6: 249–255. https://doi.org/10.1590/S1679-62252008000200013
- Castello L, Isaac VJ, Thapa R. Flood pulse effects on multispecies fishery yields in the Lower Amazon. R Soc Open Sci. 2015; 2: 150299. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsos.150299 PMID: 26715994
- Dudgeon D. Large-Scale Hydrological Changes in Tropical Asia: Prospects for Riverine Biodiversity. Bioscience. 2000; 50: 793–806. https://doi.org/10.1641/0006-3568(2000)050[0793:LSHCIT]2.0. CO;2
- Luz-Agostinho KDG, Agostinho AA, Gomes LC, Júlio HF. Influence of flood pulses on diet composition and trophic relationships among piscivorous fish in the upper Paraná River floodplain. Hydrobiologia. 2008; 607: 187–198. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10750-008-9390-4
- 12. Arrington DA, Winemiller KO, Loftus WF, Akin S. How often do fishes "run on empty"? Ecology. 2002; 83: 2145–2151. https://doi.org/10.2307/3072046
- Chea R, Lek S, Ngor P, Grenouillet G. Large-scale patterns of fish diversity and assemblage structure in the longest tropical river in Asia. Ecol Freshw Fish. 2016; 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1111/eff.12301
- 14. Abdel AN, Gharib SM. Food and feeding habits of round Sardinella (Sardinella aurita) in El-Mex Bay, Alexandria. Egypt J Aquat Res. 2007; 33: 202–221.
- Hahn NS, Fugi R, Andrian I de F. Trophic ecology of the fish assemblages. The Upper Paraná River and its floodplain: physical aspects, ecology and conservation. 2004. pp. 247–269.

- da Silva JC, Delariva RL, Bonato KO. Food-resource partitioning among fish species from a first-order stream in northwestern Paraná, Brazil. Neotrop Ichthyol. 2012; 10: 389–399. <u>https://doi.org/10.1590/ S1679-62252012005000008</u>
- 17. Goulding M. The fishes and the forest: exploration in Amazonian natural history. University of California Press. 1980.
- Hamilton SK, Lewis WM. Causes of seasonality in the chemistry of a lake on the Orinoco River floodplain, Venezuela. Limnol Oceanogr. 1987; 32: 1277–1290.
- Mérona B De, Rankin-de-mérona J. Food resource partitioning in a fish community of the central Amazon floodplain Bernard. Neotrop Ichthyol. 2004; 2: 75–84. https://doi.org/10.1590/S1679-62252004000200004
- Pouilly M, Lino F, Bretenoux JG, Rosales C. Dietary-morphological relationships in a fish assemblage of the Bolivian Amazonian floodplain. J Fish Biol. 2003; 62: 1137–1158. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1095-8649.2003.00108.x
- Prejs A, Prejs K. Feeding of tropical freshwater fishes: seasonality in resource availability and resource use. Oecologia. 1987; 71: 397–404. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00378713 PMID: 28312987
- 22. Winemiller KO. Spatial and temporal variation in tropical fish trophic networks. Ecol Monogr. 1990; 60: 331–367. https://doi.org/10.2307/1943061
- Perga M-E, Arfi R, Gerdeaux D. Seasonal variations in fish delta13C and delta15N in two West African reservoirs, Sélingué and Manantali (Mali): modifications of trophic links in relation to water level. Isotopes Environ Health Stud. 2005; 41: 109–123. https://doi.org/10.1080/10256010500131734 PMID: 16191763
- Svanbäck R, Persson L. Individual diet specialization, niche width and population dynamics: Implications for trophic polymorphisms. J Anim Ecol. 2004; 73: 973–982. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0021-8790. 2004.00868.x
- 25. Zaret T, Stanley Rand A. Competition in Tropical Stream Fishes: Support for the Competitive Exclusion Principle. Ecology. 1971; 52: 336–342. https://doi.org/10.2307/1934593
- Pusey BJ, Bradshaw SD. Diet and dietary overlap in fishes of temporary waters of southwestern Australia. Ecol Freshw Fish. 1996; 5: 183–194. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0633.1996.tb00132.x
- 27. MacArthur RH, Pianka ER. On optimal use of a patchy environment. Am Nat. 1966; 100: 603–609.
- Courant J, Vogt S, Marques R, Measey J, Secondi J, Rebelo R, et al. Are invasive populations characterized by a broader diet than native populations? PeerJ. 2017; 5: e3250. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj. 3250 PMID: 28533950
- Heng K, Chevalier M, Laffaille P, Lek S. Spatio-temporal variation of fish taxonomic composition in a South-East Asian flood-pulse system. PLoS One. 2017; 12: 1–16. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.</u> 0174582 PMID: 28350829
- Arias ME, Cochrane TA, Elliott V. Modelling future changes of habitat and fauna in the Tonle Sap wetland of the Mekong. Environ Conserv. 2013; 41: 165–175. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/</u> S0376892913000283
- **31.** Mak S. The Governance of Wetlands in the Tonle Sap Lake, Cambodia. J Environ Sci Eng. 2015; 4: 331–346. https://doi.org/10.17265/2162-5263/2015.06.004
- Campbell IC, Poole C, Giesen W, Valbo-Jorgensen J. Species diversity and ecology of Tonle Sap Great Lake, Cambodia. Aquat Sci. 2006; 68: 355–373. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00027-006-0855-0
- Linhoss AC, Muñoz-Carpena R, Allen MS, Kiker G, Mosepele K. A flood pulse driven fish population model for the Okavango Delta, Botswana. Ecol Modell. 2012; 228: 27–38. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ecolmodel.2011.12.022
- **34.** Rainboth WJ. Fishes of the Cambodian Mekong. FAO Species Identification Field Guide for Fishery Purposes. Food and Agriculture Organization, Rome. 1996.
- Welcomme R. Inland fisheries [Internet]. Blackwell. Ecology and Management. Oxford; 2001. <u>https://</u> doi.org/10.1002/9780470995693
- 36. Froese R, Pauly D. FishBase. In: World Wide Web electronic publication: www.fishbase.org. 2002.
- 37. Taki Y. An analytical study of the fish fauna of the Mekong basin as a biological production system in nature. 1978. p. 77.
- Baird IG, Phylavanh B, Vongsenesouk B, Xaiyamanivong K. The ecology and conservation of the smallscale croaker Boesemania microlepis (Bleeker 1858–59) in the mainstream Mekong River, Southern Laos. Nat Hist Bull Siam Soc. 2001; 49: 161–176.
- Zampacavallo G, Parisi G, Mecatti M, Lupi P, Giorgi G, Poli BM. Evaluation of different methods of stunning/killing sea bass (Dicentrarchus labrax) by tissue stress/quality indicators. J Food Sci Technol. 2015; 52: 2585–2597. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13197-014-1324-8 PMID: 25892757

- 40. Blessing JJ, Marshall JC, Balcombe SR. Humane killing of fishes for scientific research: A comparison of two methods. J Fish Biol. 2010; 76: 2571–2577. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8649.2010.02633.x</u> PMID: 20557609
- 41. Morse JC, Yang L, Tian L. Aquatic insects of China useful for monitoring water quality. Hohai University Press; 1994.
- 42. Dudgeon D. Tropical Asian streams: zoobenthos, ecology and conservation. Hong Kong University Press; 1999.
- Clarke K. Non-parametric multivariate analyses of changes in community structure. Aust J Ecol. 1993; 18: 117–143. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1442-9993.1993.tb00438.x
- 44. Winemiller KO, Kelso-Winemiller LC, Brenkerf AL. Ecomorphological diversification and convergencein fluvial cichlid fishes. Environ Biol Fishes. 1995; 44: 235–261.
- Faith DP, Minchin PR, Belbin L. Compsitional dissimilarity as a robust measure of ecogical distance. Vegetatio. 1987; 69: 57–68.
- 46. Anderson MJ. Distance-based tests for homogeneity of multivariate dispersions. Biometrics. 2006; 62: 245–253. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1541-0420.2005.00440.x PMID: 16542252
- Pianka ER. The Structure of Lizard Communities. Annu Rev Ecol Syst. 1973; 4: 53–74. https://doi.org/ 10.1146/annurev.es.04.110173.000413
- R Core Team. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. Vienna, Austria: URL <u>http://www.R-project.org/</u>; 2014.
- Oksanen J, Blanchet FG, Kindt R, Legendre P, Minchin PR, O'Hara RB, et al. vegan: Community Ecology Package [Internet]. 2015. Available: http://cran.r-project.org/package=vegan
- Menge BA, Sutherland JP. Community Regulation: Variation in Disturbance, Competition, and Predation in Relation to Environmental Stress and Recruitment. Am Nat. 1987; 130: 730–757. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1086/284741">https://doi.org/10.1086/284741</a>
- Adetuyi OO, Aladekoyi G, Akinbobola A., Adedokun P. Comparative Study of Proximate Composition of Oil Extracted from African Catfish Viscera (Clarias gariepinus) and Red Palm Oil. J Fish Aquat Sci. 2014; 9: 372–37. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.110308.120220
- Correa SB, Winemiller KO. Niche partitioning among frugivorous fishes in response to fluctuating resources in the Amazonian floodplain forest. Ecology. 2014; 95: 210–224. <u>https://doi.org/10.1890/13-0393.1 PMID: 24649660</u>
- Tejerina-Garro FL, Fortin R, Rodríguez MA. Fish community structure in relation to environmental variation in floodplain lakes of the Araguaia River, Amazon Basin. Environ Biol Fishes. 1998; 51: 399–410. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1007401714671
- 54. Gurevitch J, Padilla DK. Are invasive species a major cause of extinctions? Trends Ecol Evol. 2004; 19: 470–4. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2004.07.005 PMID: 16701309
- Hinojosa-Garro D, Arceo-Gómez J, Zambrano L, Escalera-Vázquez LH. Fish diet composition in permanent and semi-permanent pools in tropical wetlands of the yucatan peninsula. Neotrop Ichthyol. 2013; 11: 881–890. https://doi.org/10.1590/S1679-62252013000400016
- 56. McConnell RHL. The fishes of the Rupununi savanna district of British Guiana, South America: Part 1. Ecological groupings of fish species and effects of the seasonal cycle on the fish. J Linn Soc London, Zool. 1964; 45: 103–144. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1096-3642.1964.tb00490.x
- 57. Taylor CM. Fish species richness and incidence patterns in isolated and connected stream pools: Effects of pool volume and spatial position. Oecologia. 1997; 110: 560–566. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s004420050196 PMID: 28307251</u>
- Hyslop EJ. Stomach contents analysis—a review of methods and their application. J Fish Biol. Blackwell Publishing Ltd; 1980; 17: 411–429. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8649.1980.tb02775.x
- 59. Gillespie JH. Application Of Stable Isotope Analysis To Study Temporal Changes In Foraging Ecology In A Highly Endangered Amphibian. PLoS One. 2013; 8. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0053041 PMID: 23341920
- Polito MJ, Trivelpiece WZ, Karnovsky NJ, Elizabeth N, Patterson WP, Emslie SD. Integrating stomach content and stable isotope analyses to quantify the diets of pygoscelid penguins. PLoS One. 2011; 6. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0026642 PMID: 22053199
- Davis AM, Blanchette ML, Pusey BJ, Jardine TD, Pearson RG. Gut content and stable isotope analyses provide complementary understanding of ontogenetic dietary shifts and trophic relationships among fishes in a tropical river. Freshw Biol. 2012; 57: 2156–2172. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2427.2012. 02858.x

- Phillips DL, Newsome SD, Gregg JW. Combining sources in stable isotope mixing models: Alternative methods. Oecologia. 2005; 144: 520–527. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-004-1816-8 PMID: 15711995
- **63.** Seegert SEZ, Rosi-Marshall E., Baxter C V, Kennedy TA, Hall RO Jr., Cross WF. High Diet Overlap between Native Small-Bodied Fishes and Nonnative Fathead Minnow in the Colorado River, Grand Canyon, Arizona. Trans Am Fish Soc. 2014; 143: 1072–1083. https://doi.org/10.1080/00028487.2014. 901250

## Annexes

Annex 1: Table S1. List of 242 fish species found in TSL and TSR during the period of two and half water cycles from January 2012 to May 2014.

Scientific name	Species abbreviation	Genera name	Family name		
Aaptosyax grypus	Aagr	Aaptosyax	Cyprinidae		
Acanthopsis spp.	Acsp	Acanthopsoides	Cobitidae		
Acanthopsoides delphax	Acde	Acanthopsoides	Cobitidae		
Acanthopsoides gracilentus	Acgr	Acanthopsoides	Cobitidae		
Achiroides leucorhynchos	Acle	Achiroides	Soleidae		
Achiroides melanorhynchus	Acme	Achiroides	Soleidae		
Albulichthys albuloides	Alal	Albulichthys	Cyprinidae		
Ambastaia sidthimunki	Amsi	Ambastaia Amblyrhynchichthy	Cobitidae		
Amblyrhynchichthys truncatus	Amtr	S	Cyprinidae		
Anabas testudineus	Ante	Anabas	Anabantidae		
Anguilla marmorata	Anma	Anguilla	Anguillidae		
Apocryptodon madurensis	Apma	Apocryptodon	Gobiidae		
Arius maculatus	Arma	Arius	Ariidae		
Arius venosus	Arve	Arius	Ariidae		
Bagarius bagarius	Baba	Bagarius	Sisoridae		
Bagarius suchus	Basu	Bagarius	Sisoridae		
Bagarius yarrelli	Вауа	Bagarius	Sisorinae		
Bagrichthys majusculus	Bama	Bagrichthys	Bagridae		
Bagrichthys obscurus	Baob	Bagrichthys	Bagridae		
Balitoropsis zollingeri	Bazo	Balitoropsis	Balitoridae		
Bangana sp.	Basp	Bangana	Cyprinidae		
Bangana yunnanensis	Bayu	Bangana	Cyprinidae		
Barbichthys laevis	Bala	Barbichthys	laevis		
Barbodes binotatus	Babi	Barbodes	Cyprinidae		
Barbodes rhombeus	Barh	Barbodes	Cyprinidae		
Barbonymus altus	Baal	Barbonymus	Cyprinidae		
Barbonymus gonionotus	Bago	Barbonymus	Cyprinidae		
Barbonymus schwanenfeldii	Basc	Belodontichthys	Siluridae		
Belodontichthys truncatus	Betr	Belodontichthys	Siluridae		
Boesemania microlepis	Bomi	Boesemania	Sciaenidae		
Brachirus harmandi	Brha	Brachirus	Soleidae		
Brachirus orientalis	Bror	Brachirus	Soleidae		
Butis amboinensis	Buam	Butis	Eleotridae		
Carcharhinus dussumieri	Cadu	Carcharhinus:	Carcharhinidae		
Catlocarpio siamensis	Casi	Catlocarpio	Cyprinidae		
Channa gachua	Chga	Channa	Channidae		
Channa lucius	Chlu	Channa	Channidae		
Channa marulioides	Chma	Channa	Channidae		
Channa marulius	Chma.us	Channa	Channidae		
Channa micropeltes	Chmi	Channa	Channidae		
Channa striata	Chst	Channa	Channidae		
Chitala blanci	Chbl	Channa	Channidae		

Chitala lopis Chitala ornata Cirrhinus cirrhosus Cirrhinus jullieni Cirrhinus microlepis Cirrhinus molitorella Clarias batrachus Clarias cataractus Clarias gariepinus Clarias macrocephalus Clarias meladerma Clarias sp. Clupisoma longianalis Coilia lindmani Coilia macrognathos Corica soborna Cosmochilus harmandi Crossocheilus atrilimes Cyclocheilichthys apogon Cyclocheilichthys armatus Cyclocheilichthys enoplos Cyclocheilichthys heteronema Cyclocheilichthys lagleri Cyclocheilichthys repasson Cyclocheilos furcatus Cynoglossus feldmanni Cynoglossus microlepis Cyprinus carpio Datnioides polata Datnioides undecimradiatus Devario leptos Discherodontus ashmeadi Discherodontus parvus Esomus metallicus Folifer brevifilis Gambusia affinis Garra fasciacauda Glossogobius aureus Glossogobius giuris Glyptothorax fuscus Glyptothorax horai Glyptothorax laosensis Gymnothorax tile Gyrinocheilus pennocki Hampala dispar Hampala macrolepidota Helicophagus waandersii Helostoma temminckii Hemiarius stormii

Chlo Chor Cici Ciju Cimi Cimo Clba Clca Clga Clma Clme Clsp Cllo Coli Coma Coso Coha Crat Cyap Cyar Cyen Cyhe Cyla Cyre Cyfu Cyfe Cymi Cyca Dapo Daun Dele Dias Dipa Esme Fobr Gaaf Gafa Glau Glgi Glfu Glho Glla Gyti Gype Hadi Hama Hewa Hete Hest

Chitala Chitala Cirrhinus Cirrhinus Cirrhinus Cirrhinus Clarias Clarias Clarias Clarias Clarias Clarias Clupisoma Coilia Coilia Corica Cosmochilus Crossocheilus Cyclocheilichthys **Cyclocheilichthys** Cyclocheilichthys **Cyclocheilichthys Cyclocheilichthys** Cyclocheilichthys **Cyclocheilichthys** Cynoglossus Cynoglossus Cyprinus Datnioides Datnioides Devario Discherodontus Discherodontus Esomus Folifer Gambusia Garra Glossogobius Glossogobius Glyptothorax Glyptothorax Glyptothorax **Gymnothorax** Gyrinocheilus Hampala Hampala Helicophagus Helostoma Hemiarius

Notopteridae Notopteridae Cyprinidae Cyprinidae Cyprinidae Cyprinidae Clariidae Clariidae Clariidae Clariidae Clariidae Clariidae Ailiidae Engraulidae Engraulidae Clupeidae Cyprinidae Cyprinidae Cyprinidae Cyprinidae Cyprinidae Cyprinidae Cyprinidae Cyprinidae Cyprinidae Cynoglossidae Cynoglossidae Cyprinidae Labotidae Labotidae Cyprinidae Cyprinidae Cyprinidae Cyprinidae Cyprinidae Poeciliidae Cyprinidae Cobitidae Cobitidae Sisoridae Sisoridae Sisoridae Muraenidae Gyrinocheilidae Cyprinidae Cyprinidae Pangasiidae Helostomatidae Ariidae

Hemibagrus filamentus	Hefi	Hemibagrus	Bagridae
Hemibagrus nemurus	Hene	Hemibagrus	Bagridae
Hemibagrus spilopterus	Hesp	Hemibagrus	Bagridae
Hemibagrus wyckii	Hewy	Hemibagrus	Bagridae
Hemibagrus wyckioides	Hewy.des	Hemibagrus	Bagridae
Hemimyzon pengi	Нере	Hemimyzon	Balitoridae
Hemisilurus mekongensis	Heme	Hemisilurus	Siluridae
Henicorhynchus lobatus	Helo	Henicorhynchus	Cyprinidae
Henicorhynchus siamensis	Hesi	Henicorhynchus	Cyprinidae
Heteropneustes kemratensis	Heke	Heteropheustes	Heteropneustidae
, Himantura undulata	Hiun	Himantura Hypophthalmichthy	Dasyatidae
Hypophthalmichthys molitrix	Hymo	s Hypophthalmichthy	Cyprinidae
Hypophthalmichthys nobilis	Hyno	S	Cyprinidae
Hyporhamphus limbatus	Hyli	Hyporhamphus	Hemiramphidae
Hypsibarbus lagleri	Hyla	Hypsibarbus	Cyprinidae
Hypsibarbus malcolmi	Hyma	Hypsibarbus	Cyprinidae
Hypsibarbus pierrei	Нурі	Hypsibarbus	Cyprinidae
Hypsibarbus suvattii	Hysu	Hypsibarbus	Cyprinidae
Hypsibarbus vernayi	Hyve	Hypsibarbus	Cyprinidae
Hypsibarbus wetmorei	Hywe	Hypsibarbus	Cyprinidae
Incisilabeo behri	Inbe	Incisilabeo	Cyprinidae
Kryptopterus cryptopterus	Krcr	Kryptopterus	Siluridae
Kryptopterus schilbeides	Krsc	Kryptopterus	Siluridae
Labeo chrysophekadion	Lach	Labeo	Cyprinidae
Labeo dyocheilus	Lady	Labeo	Cyprinidae
Labeo rohita	Laro	Labeo	Cyprinidae
Labiobarbus lineatus	Lali	Labiobarbus	Cyprinidae
Labiobarbus siamensis	Lasi	Labiobarbus	Cyprinidae
Labiobarbus sp. cf. lineatus	Lasp	Labiobarbus	Cyprinidae
Laides longibarbis	Lalo	Laides	Schilbeidae
Laubuka laubuca	Lala	<u>Laubuka</u>	Cyprinidae
Leptobarbus hoevenii	Leho	Leptobarbus	Cyprinidae
Lobocheilos melanotaenia	Lome	Lobocheilos	Cyprinidae
Lobocheilos rhabdoura	Lorh	Lobocheilos	Cyprinidae
Longiculter siahi	Losi	Longiculter	Cyprinidae
Luciosoma bleekeri	Lubl	Luciosoma	Cyprinidae
Lycothrissa crocodilus	Lycr	Lycothrissa	Engraulidae
Macrochirichthys macrochirus	Mama	Macrochirichthys	Cyprinidae
Macrognathus circumcinctus	Maci	Macrognathus	Mastacembelidae
Macrognathus siamensis	Masi	Macrognathus	Mastacembelidae
Mastacembelus armatus	Maar	Mastacembelus	Mastacembelidae
Megalops cyprinoides	Месу	Megalops	Magalopida
Mekongina erythrospila	Meer	Mekongina	
Micronema cheveyi	Mich	Micronema	Siluridae
Micronema hexapterus	Mihe	Micronema	Siluridae
Misgurnus anguillicaudatus	Mian	Micronema	Siluridae
Monopterus albus	Moal	Monopterus	Synbranchidae

Mystacoleucus obtusirostris Mystus albolineatus Mystus atrifasciatus Mystus bocourti Mystus mysticetus Mystus singaringan Mystus wolffii Nemapteryx nenga Neolissochilus blanci Netuma thalassina Notopterus notopterus Ompok bimaculatus Ompok hypophthalmus Ophisternon bengalense Osphronemus exodon Osphronemus goramy Osteochilus lini Osteochilus melanopleurus Osteochilus microcephalus Osteochilus schlegeli Osteochilus vittatus Osteochilus waandersii Osteogeneiosus militaris Oxyeleotris marmorata Pangasianodon gigas Pangasianodon hypophthalmus Pangasius bocourti Pangasius conchophilus Pangasius djambal Pangasius krempfi Pangasius kunyit Pangasius larnaudii Pangasius macronema Pangasius nasutus Pangasius polyuranodon Pangasius spp. Pao cambodgiensis Pao leiurus Parachela maculicauda Parachela siamensis Paralaubuca barroni Paralaubuca riveroi Paralaubuca typus Parambassis apogonoides Parambassis siamensis Parambassis wolffii Periophthalmodon septemradiatus Phalacronotus apogon

Myob Myal Myat Mybo Mymy Mysi Mywo Nene Nebl Neth Nono Ombi Omhy Opbe Osex Osgo Osli Osme Osmi Ossc Osvi Oswa Osmi.ris Oxma Pagi Pahy Pabo Paco Padj Pakr Paku Pala Pama Pana Papo Pasp Paca Pale Pama.cul Pasi Paba Pari Paty Paap Pasi.sis Pawo Pese Phap

**Mystacoleucus** Mystus Mystus Mystus **Mystus Mystus Mystus** Nemapteryx **Neolissochilus** netuma **Notopterus** Ompok Ompok Ophisternon Osphronemus Osphronemus Osteochilus Osteochilus Osteochilus Osteochilus Osteochilus Osteochilus Osteogeneiosus Oxyeleotris Pangasianodon Pangasianodon Pangasius Pao Pao Parachela Parachela Paralaubuca Paralaubuca Paralaubuca Parambassis Parambassis Parambassis Periophthalmodon Phalacronotus

Cyprinidae Bagridae Bagridae Bagridae Bagridae Bagridae Bagridae Ariidae Cyprinidae Ariidae Notopteridae Siluridae Siluridae Synbranchidae Osphronemidae Osphronemidae Cyprinidae Cyprinidae Cyprinidae Cyprinidae Cyprinidae Cyprinidae Ariidae Eleotridae Pangasiidae Tetraodontidae Tetraodontidae Cyprinidae Cyprinidae Cyprinidae Cyprinidae Cyprinidae Ambassidae Ambassidae Ambassidae Gobiidae Siluridae

Phalacronotus bleekeri	Phbl
Phalacronotus micronemus	Phmi
Piaractus brachypomus	Pibr
Polynemus dubius	Podu
Polynemus melanochir	Pome
Polynemus multifilis	Pomu
Poropuntius deauratus	Pode
Pristis microdon	Prmi
Pristolepis fasciata	Prfa
Probarbus jullieni	Prju
Probarbus labeamajor	Prla
Pseudolais micronemus	Psmi
Pseudolais pleurotaenia	Pspl
Pseudomystus siamensis	Pssi
Puntioplites bulu	Pubu
Puntioplites falcifer	Pufa
Puntioplites proctozysron	Pupr
Puntioplites waandersi	Puwa
Puntius brevis	Pubr
Raiamas guttatus	Ragu
Rasbora borapetensis	Rabo
Rasbora myersi	Ramy
Rasbora paviana	Rapa
Rasbora tornieri	Rato
Rasbora trilineata	Ratr
Rasbosoma spilocerca	Rasp
Rhinogobius taenigena	Rhta
Scaphognathops bandanensis	Scba
Scaphognathops stejnegeri	Scst
Schistura aramis	Scar
Schistura athos	Scat
Schistura crabro	Sccr
Schistura daubentoni	Scda
Schistura latifasciata	Scla
Scleropages formosus	Scfo
Sikukia gudgeri	Sigu
Syncrossus beauforti	Sybe
Syncrossus helodes	Syhe
Systomus rubripinnis	Syru
Tenualosa thibaudeaui	Teth
Tenualosa toli	Teto
Thynnichthys thynnoides	Thth
Tor laterivittatus	Tola
Tor sinensis	Tosi
Tor tambroides	Tota
Toxotes chatareus	Toch
Toxotes microlepis	Tomi
Trichopodus microlepis	Trmi
Trichopodus pectoralis	Trpe

Phalacronotus **Phalacronotus** Piaractus Polynemus Polynemus Polynemus Poropuntius Pristis Pristolepis Pristolepis Probarbus Pseudolais Pseudolais Pseudomystus **Puntioplites Puntioplites Puntioplites Puntioplites Puntioplites** Raiamas Rasbora Rasbora Rasbora Rasbora Rasbora Rasbosoma Rhinogobius Scaphognathops Scaphognathops Schistura Schistura Schistura Schistura Schistura Scleropages Sikukia Syncrossus Syncrossus Tenualosa Tenualosa Tenualosa Thynnichthys Tor Tor Tor Toxotes Toxotes Trichogaster Trichogaster

Siluridae Siluridae Serrasalmidae Polynemidae Polynemidae Polynemidae Cyprinidae Pristidae Pristolepididae Nandidae Cyprinidae Pangasiidae Pangasiidae Bagridae Cyprinidae Gobiidae Cyprinidae Cyprinidae Namacheilidae Namacheilidae Namacheilidae Namacheilidae Namacheilidae Osteoglossidae Cyprinidae Cobitidae Cobitidae Clupeidae Clupeidae Clupeidae Cyprinidae Cyprinidae Cyprinidae Cyprinidae Toxotidae Toxotidae Osphronemidae Osphronemidae

Trichopodus trichopterus	Trtr	Trichogaster	Osphronemidae
Wallago attu	aat	Wallago	Siluridae
Wallago leerii	Wale	Wallago	Siluridae
Xenentodon cancila	Xeca	Xenentodon	Belonidae
Yasuhikotakia eos	Yaeo	Yasuhikotakia	Botiidae
Yasuhikotakia lecontei	Yale	Yasuhikotakia	Botiidae
Yasuhikotakia modesta	Yamo	Yasuhikotakia	Botiidae

**Annex 2: Table S2**. List and characteristics of the 39 fish species included in this study. The characteristic abbreviations are as follow. For habitat: 1=demersal, 2=pelagic, 3=benthopelagic, 4=pelagic-neritic. For trophic guild: 1=algivore-detritivore, 2=invertivore-piscivore, 3=invertivore, 4=omnivore, 5=piscivore. Migratory status: NM=non-migratory species, M=migratory species.

Species	Species Abbreviation	Habitat	Trophic guild	Migration pattern	
Amblyrhynchichthys truncates	Amtr	3	1	М	
Anabas testudineus	Ante	1	2	NM	
Barbonymus gonionotus	Bago	3	1	NM	
Boesemania.microlepis	Bomi	3	2	М	
Channa micropeltes	Chmi	3	5	NM	
Channa striata	Chst	3	5	NM	
Cyclocheilichthys armatus	Cyar	3	4	NM	
Cyclocheilichthys enoplos	Cyen	3	4	М	
Hampala macrolepidota	Hama	3	3	М	
Henicorhynchus siamensis	Hesi	3	1	М	
Hemibagrus spilopterus	Hesp	1	3	NM	
Henicorhynchus lobatus	Helo	3	1	М	
Labeo chrysophekadion	Lach	3	1	М	
Labiobarbus lineatus	Lali	3	4	М	
Labiobarbus leptocheilus	Lale	1	4	NM	
Labiobarbus siamensis	Lasi	3	4	М	
Mystus bocourti	Mybo	1	3	NM	
Mystus albolineatus	Myal	1	2	NM	
Mystus mysticetus	Mymy	1	3	NM	
Mystus singaringan	Mysi	1	3	NM	
Notopterus notopterus	Nono	1	2	NM	
Osteochilus vittatus	Osvi	3	4	NM	
Paralaubuca typus	Paty	3	3	М	
Parachela maculicauda	Pama	1	1	NM	
Parambassi wolffi	Pawo	1	2	NM	
Parambassis apogonoides	Раар	1	2	NM	
Pristolepis fasciata	Prfa	1	3	NM	
Puntioplites proctozysron	Pupr	3	4	NM	

Ompok bimaculatus	Ombi	1	2	NM
Osteochilus.melanople	Osme	4	4	М
Oxyeleotris marmorata	Oxma	1	2	NM
Pangasianodon hypophthalmus	Pahy	3	4	М
Pangasius.larnaudii	Pala	3	4	М
Poropuntius deauratus	Pode	3	4	М
Rasbora tornieri	Rato	3	4	NM
Trichohodus trichopterus	Trtr	1	4	NM
Thynnichthys thynnoides	Thth	3	4	М
Trichopodus microlepis	Trmi	1	4	NM
Xenentodon cancila	Xeca	4	5	Μ

Annex 3: Table S3. Total body length (mm), seasonal shift (Δ) and effect size (±95% confidence intervals) of the Δ in trophic position (calculated as mean dry – mean wet trophic position) for 28 species from the Tonle Sap Lake. Species with bold values had effect sizes ± 95% CI that did not bound zero. Sample size (n) and total length in each season, and the putative functional group for each species based on previous diet data, is also provided ('Pisc. Omn.' are piscivorous omnivores that consume large amounts of both invertebrates and fish).

Species	Functional group	Mean length	Seasonal ∆ trophic position	Effect size	± 95% CI	n dry	n wet	Mean □¹⁵N dry	Mean □¹⁵N wet	Mean dry length	Mean wet length
Trichopodus trichopterus	Omnivore	79	-0.05	-0.13	0.80	10	15	7.54	7.61	91	71
Rasbora aurotaenia	Omnivore	93	-0.10	-0.39	0.92	8	11	8.80	9.12	101	88
Pristolepis fasciata	Invertivore	99	-0.06	-0.19	0.62	16	27	9.30	9.52	96	100
Trichopodus microlepis	Omnivore	101	-0.51	-2.45	1.19	9	10	7.03	8.62	108	94
Paralaubuca typus	Invertivore	103	-0.08	-0.31	0.94	5	37	9.27	9.57	105	103
Anabas testudineus	Pisc. Omn.	108	0.28	0.99	0.93	11	9	9.12	8.19	114	101
Henicorhynchus siamensis	Detritivore	111	-0.25	-0.67	0.72	9	48	7.07	7.78	137	106
Thynnichthys thynnoides	Omnivore	112	0.37	1.53	0.79	9	39	8.19	6.90	120	110
Labiobarbus leptocheila	Omnivore	124	0.33	0.98	0.85	8	22	8.49	7.34	135	120
Parambassis wolffii	Piscivore	124	0.13	0.53	0.73	16	14	11.91	11.69	119	130
Barbonymus gonionotus	Omnivore	151	-0.19	-0.52	0.64	12	50	7.97	8.53	194	141
Mystus albolineatus	Pisc. Omn.	155	-0.03	-0.13	0.74	13	15	9.95	10.11	164	146
Osteochilus melanopleura	Omnivore	157	0.61	2.38	1.16	8	12	9.55	7.57	189	135
Puntioplites proctozysron	Omnivore	164	-0.01	-0.03	0.82	16	9	9.25	9.31	160	170
Ompok bimaculatus	Omnivore	166	-0.06	-0.19	0.98	12	6	9.73	9.97	164	171
Hemibagrus spilopterus	Invertivore	185	0.14	0.41	0.66	12	35	10.76	10.42	219	174
Macrognathus siamensis	Invertivore	200	0.17	0.45	0.91	12	8	8.56	7.99	204	194
Notopterus notopterus	Pisc. Omn.	212	0.12	0.34	0.82	14	10	9.98	9.64	206	220
Kryptopterus apogon	Piscivore	216	0.64	2.21	1.07	13	9	11.49	9.53	229	197
Clarias macrocephalus	Omnivore	220	0.22	0.81	1.04	15	5	8.92	8.18	233	182
Cyclocheilichthys enoplos	Omnivore	230	-0.32	-0.87	0.71	15	19	8.33	9.34	262	206
Labeo chrysophekadion	Detritivore	231	0.05	0.15	0.80	11	13	8.00	7.79	297	175

Channa striata	Piscivore	290	0.41	0.69	0.84	16	9	10.55	9.29	322	234
Pangasius larnaudii	Omnivore	305	0.01	0.04	0.86	7	20	10.84	10.94	343	292
Boesemania microlepis	Piscivore	311	-0.31	-1.02	0.88	13	10	11.56	12.78	321	298
Channa micropeltes	Piscivore	353	-0.18	-0.46	0.95	16	6	9.00	9.62	370	307

**Annex 4: Table S4**. Sample size (n) and total body length (mm) for fish sampled during each season for stomach content analysis from the Tonle Sap lake, Cambodia. Proportions of fish, invertebrates and plants in the stomach contents by weight. All values are mean ± SD.

Species	Season	Stomach content data					
		n	Length (mm)	Fish	Invert.	Plant	
Anabas testudineus	Dry	13	122 ± 14	$0.52 \pm 0.22$	0.10 ± 0.22	0.12 ± 0.17	
Climbing Perch	Wet	22	118 ± 24	$0.48 \pm 0.33$	0.25 ± 0.29	0.11 ± 0.16	
Notopterus notopterus	Dry	12	197 ± 25	$0.42 \pm 0.26$	0.27 ± 0.23	0.17 ± 0.07	
Bronze Featherback	Wet	6	148 ± 107	0.20 ± 0.31	0.56 ± 0.35	0.10 ± 0.07	
Channa striata	Dry	5	282 ± 55	0.57 ± 0.08	0.01 ± 0.00	$0.08 \pm 0.04$	
Striped Snakehead	Wet	10	256 ± 90	0.47 ± 0.13	0.09 ± 0.24	0.13 ± 0.04	
Channa micropeltes	Dry	25	367 ± 45	0.68 ± 0.14	0.01 ± 0.04	0.11 ± 0.08	
Giant Snakehead	Wet	7	$395 \pm 89$	0.70 ± 0.10	$0.03 \pm 0.06$	$0.10 \pm 0.05$	

Annex 5: Table S5. Baseline values of  $\Box$ <sup>13</sup>C and  $\Box$ <sup>15</sup>N sampled from the Tonle Sap Lake and used to calculate trophic positions for the present study. All values are mean ± SD.

Season	Baseline type	□ <sup>13</sup> C	$\square^{15}N$	Mean baseline □ <sup>15</sup> N used in TP calculations
Dry	Benthic	-29.23 ± 4.09	5.89 ± 1.87	6.15
	Pelagic	-29.10 ± 4.38	6.30 ± 1.96	
Wet	Benthic	-28.74 ± 3.32	5.67 ± 1.30	5.92
	Pelagic	-35.34 ± 4.78	6.16 ± 1.66	

Response variable	Parameter	Posterior mean	Posterior median	2.5% quantile	97.5% quantile
Proportion of invertebrate	bintercept	-3.95	-4.05	-5.73	-1.71
	bwet	-0.32	-0.33	-0.90	0.25
	bbodylength	-0.01	-0.01	-0.01	0.00
	b0intercept	0.63	0.55	-1.47	3.19
	b0wet	-1.14	-1.16	-2.03	-0.20
	b0bodylength	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.01
Proportion of fish	bintercept	-5.16	-5.15	-5.64	-4.68
	bwet	0.04	0.04	-0.08	0.15
	bbodylength	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
	b0intercept	-0.42	-0.46	-2.41	1.45
	b0wet	0.79	0.76	-0.47	2.28
	b0bodylength	-0.01	-0.01	-0.02	0.00
Proportion of plant	bintercept	-6.50	-6.50	-6.96	-6.06
	bwet	-0.25	-0.25	-0.51	0.01
	bbodylength	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
	b0intercept	-0.87	-0.87	-2.56	0.80
	b0 <sub>wet</sub>	-1.38	-1.35	-2.99	-0.01
	b0 <sub>bodvlenath</sub>	0.00	0.00	-0.01	0.00

**Annex 6: Table S6.** Results of zero inflated beta regression on the proportion of invertebrates, fish and plants in the stomachs of Tonle Sap Lake species. Season (wet, dry) and body length were included as explanatory variables and species and location as random variables.